INDIGENOUS PARENT AND OFFSPRING MENTAL HEALTH

THE MENTAL HEALTH OF INDIGENOUS PERINATAL INDIVIDUALS, ASSOCIATIONS OF PARENT AND OFFSPRING PSYCHOPATHOLOGY, AND OFFSPRING RISK AND WELL-BEING

By SAWAYRA OWAIS, B.Sc., M.Sc.

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Philosophy

McMaster University © Copyright by Sawayra Owais, August 2023

McMaster University DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPY (2023) Hamilton, Ontario (Neuroscience)

TITLE: The Mental Health of Indigenous Perinatal Individuals, Associations of Parent and Offspring Psychopathology, And Offspring Risk and Well-Being

AUTHOR: Sawayra Owais, B.Sc., M.Sc. (McMaster University)

SUPERVISOR: Dr. Ryan J. Van Lieshout

NUMBER OF PAGES: xv, 231

Lay Abstract

Indigenous peoples, the original inhabitants of their lands, face a number of challenges that can increase their risk for poor mental health. The goal of this thesis was to examine the mental health of Indigenous pregnant persons, parents, and their children. We found that Indigenous peoples were more likely to have mental health challenges during pregnancy and up to one year after their baby's birth compared to non-Indigenous peoples. We also found that children of Indigenous parents with mental health challenges were more likely to experience these difficulties compared to kids with healthy Indigenous parents. Finally, we found that First Nations children that had knowledge of an Indigenous culture or lived in a well-connected community had better well-being than First Nations children not exposed to these factors. Findings from this thesis can be used to develop interventions to help optimize mental health among Indigenous pregnant persons, parents, and children.

Abstract

Objectives: To examine perinatal mental health, mechanisms of psychopathology transmission from parent to offspring, and offspring risk and well-being among Indigenous peoples by: 1) synthesizing the prevalence of perinatal mental health challenges among Indigenous perinatal individuals, 2) examining the association of psychopathology among Indigenous parent-offspring dyads, and 3) identifying factors associated with First Nations children's well-being

Methods: Four studies were designed to address these objectives. Study 1 meta-analyzed studies on mental health challenges among Indigenous pregnant and postpartum individuals. Study 2 used data from administrative health databases to identify the prevalence and determinants of depression, anxiety, and post-traumatic stress disorder among Métis pregnant persons in Alberta, Canada. Study 3 systematically synthesized studies on the association of Indigenous parent and offspring psychopathology. Study 4 used data from the 2006 Aboriginal Children's Survey to identify determinants of First Nations children's socioemotional and behavioural well-being

Results: In Study 1, Indigenous perinatal individuals were at a 62% increased risk of a mental health challenge compared to non-Indigenous individuals. In Study 2, Métis pregnant persons were more likely to have depression, anxiety, and post-traumatic stress disorder than non-Métis pregnant persons. Factors associated with both depression and anxiety included having pre-pregnancy medical conditions, smoking/alcohol use/recreational substance use during pregnancy, and living in an urban location. In Study 3, offspring of Indigenous parents with mental health challenges were 2-4 times more likely to experience psychopathology compared to offspring of healthy Indigenous parents. In Study 4, knowledge of an Indigenous culture and strong community cohesion were associated with better well-being among First Nations children

Conclusion: This work highlights the importance of reducing mental health challenges among Indigenous birthing parents and children and lends insight into cultural factors that can be used to promote the well-being of young First Nations children.

Keywords: Indigenous Peoples; Pregnancy; Postpartum; Child; Psychopathology

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Ryan J. Van Lieshout for his mentorship and guidance throughout my graduate school journey. You created and identified opportunities for me, motivated me to do my best, and helped me navigate academia as a budding clinicianscientist. I have learned many lessons from you and I am grateful. I would like to thank my supervisory committee members, Dr. Minuzzi and Dr. Schmidt for supporting me for the past five years. I appreciated how both of you were so approachable and receptive when discussing my research. I hope to embody your kindness and leadership skills in my own career.

Thank you to my mother and father for instilling the love of learning in me. My mother, my mother, my mother for her dedication to higher education. My father for his nurturance, kindness, and sincere interest in my work. My sister and brother for their support, conversations, and advice. My husband for reminding me not to "take tension" and always putting things in perspective. After all, یہ زندگی ہے,

Thank you to my lab members for providing a fun and supportive environment to learn in. Thank you to 93.3 CFMU, The AlmaMAC, and its guests who were fellow graduate students. Your passion for your research fuelled my own academic interests.

I would like to thank Mr. Troy Hill for his mentorship and support for the past six years. Who would have thought attending that workshop six years ago would have led to such fruitful collaboration! I would like to also thank Dr. Burack and Dr. Ospina for their mentorship, collaboration, and enthusiasm for supporting a young researcher like myself. Thank you to the midwives and staff at the Six Nations Maternal and Child Centre, and the Métis Nation of Alberta for their collaboration and research partnership during my thesis.

vi

Thank you Zotero for being the most efficient referencing software and actually getting better with updates. How I wish I could express my love for you in an ode like Pablo Neruda.

I would like to thank Vanier Canada Graduate Scholarships for funding my doctoral research. I would like to thank the Research Data Centre at McMaster University where part of my doctoral research was conducted, as well as the CRDCN Emerging Scholars Award which provided financial support for Study 4.

Table of Contents

Lay Abstract	iii
Abstract	iv
Acknowledgements	vi
List of Figures	X
List of Tables	xi
List of Abbreviations and Symbols	xii
Declaration of Academic Achievement	xiv
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Brief history and sociodemographic characteristics of Indigenous peoples	1
Mental health of Indigenous peoples	2
The importance of the perinatal period	3
Advancing Indigenous perinatal mental health	6
Association of parent and offspring psychopathology among Indigenous families	8
Mental health of Indigenous children	9
Strengths-based approach to Indigenous children's mental health	11
Sandwich thesis overview	13
References	15
Chapter 2: The Perinatal Mental Health of Indigenous Women: A Systematic	35
Review and Meta-Analysis (Study 1)	25
Study I Overview	35
Abstract	3/
Introduction	39
Methods	41
Results	44 57
Discussion	51
Chapter 2: Prevalence and Determinents of Depression Anniety and Post	03 75
Traumatic Stress Disorder Among Métic Drognant Devices in Alberta, A	15
Population-Based Cohort Study (Study 2)	
Study 2 Overview	75
Abstract	75
Introduction	79
Methods	81
Results	84
Discussion	90
References	95
Chapter 4: Psychopathology in the Offspring of Indigenous Parents with	103
Mental Health Challenges: A Systematic Review (Study 3)	
Study 3 Overview	103
Abstract	105
Introduction	107
Methods	108
Results	110

Discussion	135
References	142
Chapter 5: Determinants Of Socioemotional And Behavioral Well-Being	151
Among First Nations Children Living Off-Reserve In Canada: A Cross-	
Sectional Study (Study 4)	
Study 4 Overview	151
Abstract	153
Introduction	154
Methods	163
Results	168
Discussion	174
References	181
Chapter 6: Discussion	193
Summary	193
Contributions to the field of Indigenous mental health	193
Implications of current thesis	196
Consider screening Indigenous perinatal individuals for mental health	196
challenges	
Intergenerational, culture-based programs may be impactful in improving	198
child socioemotional and behavioural well-being	
Future Directions	200
Conducting longitudinal studies	200
Cultural adaptation of mental health measurements	202
Development and implementation of evidence-based programs for Indigenous	203
pregnant persons, birthing parents, and children (0-5 years old)	
Limitations	206
Conclusion	206
References	208
Appendix	223

List of Figures

Chapter 1: Introduction	Page
None	
Chapter 2: The Perinatal Mental Health of Indigenous Women: A Systematic	
Review and Meta-Analysis (Study 1)	
Figure 1. Flowchart displaying the number of articles identified, screened, deemed	54
eligible, and included in the systematic review and meta- analysis.	
Figure 2. Funnel plot with a symmetrical pattern and an effect estimate about 1.7, suggesting an absence of publication bias.	54
Figure 3. Perinatal mental problem among Indigenous and non-Indigenous women	55
by type of problem.	
Figure 4. Perinatal mental problem among Indigenous and non-Indigenous women	56
by severity.	
Chapter 3: Prevalence and Determinants of Depression, Anxiety, and Post-	
Traumatic Stress Disorder Among Métis Pregnant Persons in Alberta,	
Canada: A Population-Based Cohort Study (Study 2)	
Figure 1. Flow diagram of eligible participants forming Métis and non-Métis	85
cohorts	
Chapter 4: Psychopathology in the Offspring of Indigenous Parents with	
Mental Health Challenges: A Systematic Review (Study 3)	
Figure 1. Flowchart displaying the number of articles identified, screened, deemed	113
eligible, and included in the systematic review	
Chapter 5: Determinants Of Socioemotional And Behavioral Well-Being	
Among First Nations Children Living Off-Reserve In Canada: A Cross-	
Sectional Study (Study 4)	
None	
Chapter 6: Discussion	

None

List of Tables

Chapter 1: Introduction	Page
None	
Chapter 2: The Perinatal Mental Health of Indigenous Women: A Systematic	
Review and Meta-Analysis (Study 1)	
Table 1a. Characteristics of Antenatal (Pregnancy) Studies	47
Table 1b. Characteristics of Postnatal Studies	49
Table 1c. Characteristics of Combined Antenatal and Postnatal Studies	51
Chapter 3: Prevalence and Determinants of Depression, Anxiety, and Post-	
Traumatic Stress Disorder Among Métis Pregnant Persons in Alberta,	
Canada: A Population-Based Cohort Study (Study 2)	
Table 1. Individual and social-environmental characteristics among Métis and non-	86
Métis pregnant persons	
Table 2. Crude and age-specific standardized period prevalence of mental health	90
outcomes during pregnancy for Métis and non-Métis pregnancies in Alberta (2006	
- 2016)	
Chapter 4: Psychopathology in the Offspring of Indigenous Parents with	
Mental Health Challenges: A Systematic Review (Study 3)	
Table 1. Characteristics of Studies that Examined Poor Parental Mental Health	114
(Broadly Defined) and Offspring Psychopathology	
Table 2. Characteristics of Studies that Examined Parental Substance Misuse and	117
Offspring Psychopathology	
Table 3. Characteristics of Studies that Examined Maternal Internalizing Issues	123
and Offspring Psychopathology	
Table 4. Study Methodological Bias Assessment Using the National Institutes of	132
Health Quality Assessment Tool for Observational Cohort and Cross-sectional	
Studies	
Table 5. Study Methodological Bias Assessment Using the Newcastle-Ottawa	134
Quality Assessment Scale	
Chapter 5: Determinants Of Socioemotional And Behavioral Well-Being	
Among First Nations Children Living Off-Reserve In Canada: A Cross-	
Sectional Study (Study 4)	
Table 1. Sociodemographic Information On 2,990 First Nations Children And	170
Their Parents Or Other Caregivers In The Aboriginal Children's Survey	
Table 2. Total Difficulties Determinants Among Two To Five Year-Old First	172
Nations Children	
Table 3. Prosocial Behavior Determinants Among Two To Five Year-Old First	173
Nations Children	
Chapter 6: Discussion	
None	

List of abbreviations and symbols

β: Standardized Beta ACS: Aboriginal Children's Survey ADHD: Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder aOR: Adjusted Odds Ratio APHP: Alberta Perinatal Health Program aRR: Adjusted Risk Ratio **BDI: Beck Depression Inventory** CANZUS: Canada, Australia, New Zealand, United States of America **CBCL:** Child Behavior Checklist CD: Conduct Disorder CES-D: Center For Epidemiological Studies–Depression **CI: Confidence Interval** CIDI: Composite International Diagnostic Interview CIHR: Canadian Institutes of Health Research COVID-19: Coronavirus Disease Of 2019 DISC-R: Diagnostic Interview Schedule For Children-Revised DSM: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual Of Mental Disorders DSM-III-R: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-III-Revised **EPDS:** Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale GAD: Generalized Anxiety Disorder GHQ: General Health Questionnaire ICD-9: International Classification Of Diseases Version 9 ICD-10: International Classification Of Diseases Version 10 ICD-10-AM: International Classification Of Diseases Version 10 Australian Modification ICD-10-CA: International Classification Of Diseases Version 10 Canadian Enhancements **IRS:** Indian Residential Schools ITSEA: Infant-Toddler Social And Emotional Assessment M: Mean MDD: Major Depressive Disorder MDE: Major Depressive Episode MFQ: Mood and Feelings Questionnaire MNA: Métis Nation of Alberta MOOSE: Meta-Analysis Of Observational Studies In Epidemiology N/A: Not Applicable NOS: Newcastle-Ottawa Scale OCAP: Ownership, Control, Access, Possession ODD: Oppositional Defiant Disorder **OR:** Odds Ratio PDSS: Postpartum Depression Screening Scale PHQ-2: Patient Health Questionnaire-2 PHQ-15: Patient Health Questionnaire-15 **PPD:** Postpartum Depression

PRAMS-3D: Pregnancy Risk Assessment Monitoring System-3 Depression Questions
PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items For Systematic Reviews
PTSD: Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder
SD: Standard Deviation
SDQ: Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire
SE: Standard Error
SMD: Standardized Mean Difference
SPSS: Statistical Package For The Social Sciences
STAI: State-Trait Anxiety Inventory
TWEAK: Tolerance, Worry, Eye-opener, Amnesia, & Cut-down drinking
UM-CIDI: University of Michigan Composite International Diagnostic Interview
USA: United States of America
USPSTF: United States Preventive Services Task Force

Declaration of Academic Achievement

This thesis contains four studies which were all written by the student (Sawayra Owais). For all the research studies, Sawayra Owais was involved in generating the research question, conducting the statistical analyses (with the exception of Study 2), and writing and completing the manuscript. The studies contained in this thesis were conducted between September 2018-June 2023. Studies 1 and 3 have been published in peer-reviewed journals, however formal permission by the publisher (SAGE Publications) was not required to reuse these journal articles in the dissertation. Please see the Appendix for more details. The co-author contributions for each study included in the thesis are outlined below.

Study 1

In Study 1, Sawayra Owais was involved in developing the research questions, generating search strategies, extracting and analyzing data from articles, and writing the manuscript. Mateusz Faltyn was involved in the article selection and screening process, extracting and analyzing data from articles, and revising the first draft of the manuscript. Ashley Johnson, Chelsea Gabel, Bernice Downey, and Nick Kates were involved in developing the research questions, planning the searches, providing help in the interpretation of data, and editing the manuscript. Ryan Van Lieshout was involved in developing the research questions, guiding the article selection and screening process, providing help in the interpretation of data, and editing the article selection and screening process, providing help in the interpretation of data, and editing the article selection and screening process, providing help in the interpretation of data, and editing the manuscript. All authors approved of and are accountable for the final draft of the manuscript.

Study 2

In Study 2, Sawayra Owais was involved in generating the research questions, interpreting the data, and writing the manuscript. Maria Ospina was involved in generating the research questions, overseeing the statistical analyses, aiding in data interpretation, and editing the manuscript. Jesus Serrano-Lomelin was involved in conducting the statistical analyses and editing the manuscript. Reagan Bartel, Kelsey Bradburn, and Ashton James were involved in generating the research questions and data interpretation. Ryan Van Lieshout was involved in generating the research questions, helping in the interpretation of data, and editing the manuscript.

Study 3

For Study 3, Sawayra Owais was involved in developing the research questions, generating search strategies, extracting and analyzing data, and writing the manuscript. Mateusz Faltyn and Hanyan Zou were involved in article selection and screening, and revising the manuscript. Troy Hill, Nick Kates, and Jacob Burack were involved in developing the research questions, planning searches, helping to interpret the data, and editing the manuscript. Ryan Van Lieshout helped develop the research questions, guided the article selection and screening process, assisted in data interpretation, and edited the manuscript. All authors approved of and are accountable for the final draft of the manuscript.

Study 4

For Study 4, Sawayra Owais was involved in developing the research question, conducting the statistical analyses, interpreting the data, and writing the manuscript. Camron Ford, Troy Hill, Jessica Lai, and John Krzeczkowski provided feedback on the intellectual content of the manuscript and aided in data interpretation. Maria Ospina, Jacob Burack, and Ryan Van Lieshout were involved in developing the research question, helping in data interpretation, and critically evaluating the intellectual content of the manuscript. All authors approved of and are accountable for the final draft of the manuscript.

XV

Chapter 1: Introduction

Brief history and sociodemographic characteristics of Indigenous peoples

Indigenous peoples are the original inhabitants of their ancestral lands prior to the establishment of country borders (United Nations Permanent Forum On Indigenous Issues, 2023). Worldwide, there are 476 million Indigenous peoples (United Nations, 2023a). While there is significant diversity in terms of language, culture, and beliefs among Indigenous groups, many share a similar history of colonialism, especially Indigenous communities in Canada, Australia, New Zealand, and the United States (i.e., the 'CANZUS' nations) (Nelson & Wilson, 2017). Colonialism, where European settlers politically controlled Indigenous peoples, resulted in profound cultural, social, and environmental disruptions. The Indian Act, Indian Residential Schools (IRS), and the Sixties Scoop are just a few examples of colonial policies that existed in Canada that have had detrimental effects on Indigenous peoples. Indeed, these and other oppressive practices disrupted the passing on of cultural and traditional teachings (Kirmayer et al., 2003), contributed to family breakdown (Kirmayer et al., 2003), and compromised individual emotion regulation (Brave Heart, 1999).

Consequences of colonialism are seen today in the form of poorer socioeconomic, environmental, and health outcomes among Indigenous peoples compared to non-Indigenous peoples (Gracey & King, 2009). They are three times as likely to be living in extreme poverty (International Labour Organization, 2019), up to four times likely to have chronic diseases such as diabetes or cardiovascular disease (Vachon et al., 2018; Vos et al., 2009; T. Young et al., 2002), more likely to live in communities near polluting industries resulting in higher rates of

1

mercury poisoning, respiratory illness, and cancer (Waldron, 2018), and have a lifespan of up to 20 years less than their non-Indigenous peers (United Nations, 2023b).

Mental health of Indigenous peoples

The enduring effects of colonialism have also contributed to mental health disparities seen among Indigenous peoples. For instance, in a nationally representative survey of Indigenous adults living off-reserve in Canada (n=43,240), researchers found that only 53.3% self-reported their mental health as very good or better (Statistics Canada, 2020a) compared to 68% of the general Canadian population (Findlay & Arim, 2020). Other nationally representative surveys suggest that compared to non-Indigenous peoples, Indigenous youth and adults living off-reserve in Canada have a higher prevalence of long-term mood (17.7% vs. 12.6%) (Statistics Canada, 2013, 2020b) and anxiety (19.0% vs. 8.7%) disorders (Statistics Canada, 2013, 2020b), tobacco use (21.9% vs. 5.0%) (Sikorski et al., 2019), and past-year suicide attempts (5.4% vs. 2.7%) (Liu et al., 2021; Statistics Canada, 2020a).

These mental health disparities are also seen among Indigenous adults outside of Canada where studies report a higher prevalence of psychological distress (Jorm et al., 2012; Page et al., 2022), mood (Nasir et al., 2018; Page et al., 2022), anxiety (Ministry of Health, 2008; Nasir et al., 2018; Page et al., 2022), and substance use disorders (Nasir et al., 2018), and suicidality (Pollock et al., 2018).

However, not all studies on Indigenous adults suggest that they have higher estimates of mental health problems compared to non-Indigenous individuals. Indeed, some studies suggest that Indigenous adults have comparable prevalence estimates of some depressive (Beals et al., 2005; Black et al., 2017; Kisely et al., 2017) and anxiety disorders (Black et al., 2017; Kisely et al., 2017). Reasons for these inconsistent findings remain unclear but could be contributed to by methodological issues including a lack of utilization of mental health measurements not developed and/or validated with Indigenous peoples, non-representative participant recruitment, or lack of collaboration with Indigenous communities leading to participant selection bias. Methodological limitations aside, lower estimates could also be contributed to by the tremendous resilience Indigenous peoples have shown as they attempt to re-learn their cultures, languages, and traditions despite facing significant disadvantages (Kirmayer et al., 2011). Studies that use validated measures of mental health, recruit representative samples (i.e., population-based studies), partner with Indigenous communities and organizations, and examine positive mental health can address existing methodological issues and help move the Indigenous mental health literature forward.

Despite some disparate data regarding the prevalence of certain mental health issues, the effects of colonialism have resulted in constant threats to Indigenous peoples' psychological safety, freedom, and self-identity which can increase the risk for mental health challenges. Early identification and intervention could decrease the severity and/or prevalence of mental health difficulties among Indigenous peoples.

The importance of the perinatal period

Mental disorders occurring during the perinatal period – encompassing pregnancy up to one year postpartum – are the most common complications of pregnancy and childbirth. Indeed, up to one in five pregnant persons or birthing parents will experience subthreshold mental disorders, with the most common being depression or anxiety (Fawcett et al., 2019; Gavin et al., 2005). These mental health challenges are associated with negative long-term consequences for the mother, offspring, and society (Goodman, 2019; Logsdon et al., 2006; Stein et al., 2014). Indeed, the cost of a single case of untreated perinatal depression and anxiety is £75,728 and £34,840, respectively, with up to 75% of these costs being attributed to the child (Bauer et al., 2016).

The perinatal period presents as an opportune time to address, reduce, and even eliminate the presence of mental health problems in birthing parents and their offspring. Pregnancy has been described as a "teachable moment" as pregnant persons are highly motivated to change less desirable health behaviours to promote a healthy pregnancy and an optimal start to life for their offspring (Phelan, 2010). At no other point in a pregnant person's life will they have more contact with the healthcare system than during the perinatal period, and so healthcare providers can capitalize on this period to screen for and treat mental health challenges. Addressing mental health problems during pregnancy or in the early postpartum period also has the potential to prevent the intergenerational transmission of psychopathology from birthing parent to offspring (Letourneau et al., 2017; Tsivos et al., 2015). Indeed, research has shown that perinatal depression in birthing parents increases the risk of internalizing and externalizing problems in infants and young children (Goodman, 2019), and that these effects can also persist into adolescence in the form of depressive (Murray et al., 2011) and/or anxiety disorders (Halligan et al., 2007), and even psychotic symptoms (Srinivasan et al., 2020). Importantly, when birthing parents are treated for mental health problems, their can offspring benefit as well (Cohen et al., 2002; Handley et al., 2017; Krzeczkowski et al., 2021; Murray & Cooper, 2003). Therefore, capitalizing on the perinatal period can have tremendous positive benefits for the birthing parent, offspring, and society.

4

In order to address perinatal mental health challenges and develop targets for intervention, it is important that risk factors (and particularly those that are modifiable) be identified. Common risk factors for perinatal mental health challenges include a past history of mental illness (Giallo et al., 2014; Patton et al., 2015; Savory et al., 2021), low socioeconomic status (Ban et al., 2012), intimate partner violence (Halim et al., 2018), and major life stressors (Giallo et al., 2014). One group that is especially at risk of facing these risk factors are Indigenous women (Brennan, 2015; Daoud et al., 2019; Nasir et al., 2018; Statistics Canada, 2022). Those identifying as Indigenous women face the gendered impact of colonialism, particularly in the CANZUS nations. Indeed, colonial and patriarchal policies broke down matriarchal societies and threatened women's self-identities, roles, and autonomy in their communities (Baskin, 2020; Fredericks, 2010), forced separation from culture and kinship in their most formative years (i.e., IRS, Sixties Scoop, Millennium Scoop, Stolen Generation) (Kirmayer et al., 2016), sterilized them without their consent (Baskin, 2020), and decreased capacity for birthing in their communities (Bowen & Pratt, 2018). In Canada, Indigenous birthing parents are 16 times more likely to be transported long distances (>200 kilometres) to give birth (Smylie et al., 2021) which has been shown to be associated with feelings of isolation (Chamberlain & Barclay, 2000), lack of choice in the birthing process (Chamberlain & Barclay, 2000), and cultural loss (O'Driscoll et al., 2011).

Today, obstetric and gynecological societies from the CANZUS nations (Advisory Committee on Infant and Maternal Mortality, 2022; Australian College of Midwives & Congress of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Nurses and Midwives, 2017; SOGC, 2010) support "bringing birth back" to the community and prioritizing traditional birthing practices. Indeed, research has shown that individuals that received Indigenous midwifery care experienced less perineal trauma and were less likely to have their baby admitted to the neonatal intensive care unit than those who did not receive Indigenous midwifery care (Kildea et al., 2012). Moreover, research suggests that receiving Indigenous midwifery care may help optimize the mental health of Indigenous pregnant persons and birthing parents, even under stressful conditions (i.e., the COVID-19 pandemic) (Owais & Van Lieshout, 2023). While there has been progress in establishing midwifery centres in Indigenous communities, the majority of Indigenous perinatal persons, especially those living in remote and rural areas, are still subjected to European views of the birthing process.

Taken together, Indigenous pregnant persons and birthing parents continue to face numerous risk factors for mental health challenges. However, no synthesized data exist on the prevalence of such problems, nor an analysis on whether these problems differ by Indigenous group, country, or severity. Such data could help clinicians more optimally detect, screen, and monitor mental health challenges among their Indigenous perinatal patients. This is especially important as data suggest that Indigenous perinatal individuals are less than half as likely to be screened for perinatal depression compared to their non-Indigenous peers (San Martin Porter et al., 2019). Synthesized mental health prevalence data could also guide policymakers and inform resource allocation and guide the development of culturally-safe interventions.

Advancing Indigenous perinatal mental health

Well-designed research studies can aid in the development of screening, detection, and treatment pathways for Indigenous perinatal individuals and help advance the landscape of Indigenous perinatal mental health. For example, self-report measures can be efficient tools to assess mental health challenges in a time-constrained clinical setting. However, their benefits may be limited when measurements are not normed for the population under study. Many studies on Indigenous perinatal mental health use self-report measures that have not been culturally validated and/or adapted. For example, in a review of 14 studies on the utilization of the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS), the gold standard for screening for perinatal depression, just three studies had validated the EPDS for use in their Indigenous participants (Chan et al., 2021).

Two, consistent with the recommendations of the United Nations Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues, disaggregated data are needed (United Nations, 2019). Studies on Indigenous mental health, including those conducted in the perinatal period, often aggregate participants from different Indigenous groups together. While this may increase statistical power, it masks the rich diversity of and differences between Indigenous groups, obscuring potential differences in mental health outcomes. Of relevance to Indigenous perinatal mental health, some evidence suggests that there are differences in postpartum depression risk, determinants, and birth outcomes among First Nations, Métis, and Inuit perinatal individuals in Canada (Chantal et al., 2018; Daoud et al., 2019; Sheppard et al., 2017). Examining Indigenous groups separately can lead to more accurate prevalence estimates and the development of more relevant communityspecific interventions. Disaggregated data are especially important in Canada, where Métisspecific data are scarce despite their being the second most populous Indigenous group (Government of Canada, 2022), and their exposure to a range of Métis-specific determinants of health that can increase the risk of perinatal mental health challenges.

7

Association of parent and offspring psychopathology among Indigenous families

Poor parental mental health is one of the most potent risk factors for offspring psychopathology. Data taken from 10 countries with 51,507 participants found that the children of parents with mental disorders were 5 times more likely to have a mental disorder than the children of healthy parents (McLaughlin et al., 2012). Importantly, when parents are successfully treated, their children are more likely to recover as well (Siegenthaler et al., 2012), signifying the importance of disrupting the intergenerational transmission of psychopathology.

Parenting behaviours such as low parental monitoring, harsh parenting, or coercive interactions can contribute to the transmission of mental disorders from parent to offspring. Given that research supports the direct association between adverse childhood experiences and these parenting behaviours (Rowell & Neal-Barnett, 2022), Indigenous families may be at greater risk of psychopathology transmission. Indeed, Indigenous adults report more adverse childhood experiences compared to their non-Indigenous peers (Burnette et al., 2017; Hamdullahpur et al., 2018; Klest et al., 2013; Moon et al., 2016; Warne et al., 2017). Despite the higher exposure to adversities that can compromise the rearing environment and increase the risk of transmission of mental disorders, synthesized data on the association between parent and offspring psychopathology among Indigenous families are very limited. It is important to examine this association for a few reasons. First, children are the fastest growing demographic among Indigenous communities. In Canada, about 30% of the Indigenous population is 14 years or younger compared to 16.4% of the non-Indigenous population (Government of Canada, 2017c). Second, research has consistently shown the early life experiences can shape the life trajectory (Maggi et al., 2010; Walker et al., 2011). As early childhood is a period of rapid brain

development and the development of social, emotional, and cognitive processing skills, it is important to capitalize on this period to optimize the health and development of children (Tottenham, 2020). Third, structural disadvantages that Indigenous children and families are exposed to are rooted in historical injustices. Colonial policies (e.g., IRS, Sixties Scoop, Millennium Scoop, birthing evacuations, birth alerts etc.) targeted children and thus jeopardized their ability to reach their full development potential during this critical time of rapid brain development (Gilmore et al., 2018), eliminated opportunities to learn Indigenous culture (Burack & Schmidt, 2014), and prevented them from observing and learning parenting practices (Kirmayer et al., 2003). Therefore, examining associations between Indigenous parent and offspring psychopathology not only makes sound scientific rationale, but is a matter of social justice.

Mental health of Indigenous children

Indigenous children and youth from around the world have poorer mental well-being than their non-Indigenous peers. For instance, researchers found that 5-6-year-old Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children in Australia were almost three times more likely to have conduct problems, hyperactivity/inattention, emotional difficulties, and total difficulties on the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire than their non-Indigenous peers (O'Brien et al., 2020). Other studies have shown that Indigenous children and youth from around the world have high prevalence estimates of depression (Cushon et al., 2016; Lemstra et al., 2008, 2011; Mota et al., 2012), attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (Baydala et al., 2006; Priest et al., 2012; Zubrick et al., 2005), substance use disorder (Costello E.J. et al., 1997; Lehti et al., 2009; Whitbeck et al., 2008), and suicidality (Lehti et al., 2009).

9

Disparities in mental health among Indigenous and non-Indigenous children and youth are contributed to by the disproportionate exposure to risk factors. Indigenous children and youth are more likely to be exposed to adverse childhood experiences (Basu & Isaacs, 2019; Kenney & Singh, 2016), and live in low-income (Australian Government, 2021; Creamer et al., 2022; Government of Canada, 2017a; Government of New Zealand, 2018) and single-parent households (American Community Survey, 2023; Government of Canada, 2017b; Government of New Zealand, 2018; National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social Survey, 2009), and have a larger household sizes (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2012; Government of New Zealand, 2015; Population Reference Bureau, 2004; Statistics Canada, 2015), all of which are risk factors for psychopathology in general populations samples (Eamon, 2001; Maggi et al., 2010; Sameroff, 2006). In addition, Indigenous children and youth face unique Indigenousspecific risk factors as well. For instance, racism (Shepherd et al., 2017; Walls et al., 2007), historical loss (Whitbeck et al., 2009), familial attendance (e.g., parent or grandparent) at an IRS (Elias et al., 2012; Hackett et al., 2016), and acculturation (i.e., assimilation into the dominant colonial culture) (Eliassen et al., 2012) have all been shown to be associated with poorer mental health among Indigenous children and youth from around the world.

While these studies have contributed to our understanding of Indigenous children and youth health, more research is needed on younger children (i.e., preschool-aged) given that the first five years of life are characterized by rapid brain development and optimal caregiving environments can positively influence their developmental trajectories (Tottenham, 2020). Indeed, in relation to cognitive processing, James Heckman, a Nobel laurate economist and champion of early childhood intervention, stated "*Most of the gaps at age 18 that help to explain gaps in adult outcomes are present at age five*" (Heckman, 2008, p. 298). Relatedly, other

research supports that early childhood intervention programs have been shown to be associated with higher rates of high school completion and college attendance (Smokowski et al., 2004), lower rates of adolescent and adulthood delinquency (Reynolds et al., 2007; Smokowski et al., 2004), and better adolescent and adult mental health (Reynolds et al., 2007; Smokowski et al., 2004). Therefore, examining the mental health of young Indigenous children provides an important opportunity to intervene and reduce health inequities early in life.

Strengths-based approach to Indigenous children's mental health

The literature summarized above highlights that a deficits-based approach, where failures, deficiencies, and negative outcomes are emphasized, has dominated the discourse on Indigenous mental health, including that of children. Indeed, up to 87% of studies published on Indigenous children's mental health do not report any positive health outcomes (C. Young et al., 2017). Such deficit-based approaches have been shown to be a barrier to health promotion (Fogarty et al., 2018), reinforce negative stereotypes (Hyett et al., 2019), and hinder the development of strategies, policies, and interventions that can nurture young children in to healthy, contributing, thriving members of society (Halseth & Greenwood, 2019).

Taking a strengths-based approach to Indigenous children's mental health would be consistent with Indigenous conceptualizations of health, where positive aspects and the development of resilience is emphasized (Vukic et al., 2011). Additionally, the measurement of positive mental health can contribute to more accurate representations of the well-being and functioning of Indigenous children. For instance, in a study where researchers were developing a questionnaire to assess attitudes toward physical activity and diet in American Indian children, researchers found that negatively-worded items did not meet reliability criteria (Stevens et al., 1999). After consultation with tribal leaders, researchers attributed these results, in part, to Indigenous ways of thinking which focus on the positive and avoid negative thoughts and feelings (Stevens et al., 1999).

In addition to measuring positive well-being of Indigenous children, the determinants of these constructs must also be identified. Consistent with the notion of 'culture as treatment' and the knowledge that cultural teachings contribute to the socialization and development of young children (Causadias & Cicchetti, 2018) more research is needed on Indigenous-specific determinants of positive mental health among children. Indeed, Allison Barlow and John Walkup, researchers that partnered with Native American communities to develop strengthsbased programming, described in an editorial published in the Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry that empirical research must not only describe mental health among Indigenous children but also examine "cost-effective, evidence-based solutions that reflect Indigenous cultural strengths and community will" (Barlow A. & Walkup J.T., 2008, p. 843). Research in older age groups have shown that greater involvement in Indigenous cultural activities, a stronger cultural identity, and spirituality are associated with lower levels of aggression and suicidal ideation among Indigenous youth (Flanagan et al., 2011; Yoder et al., 2006). Examination of Indigenous-specific determinants of positive well-being among younger Indigenous children can also empower communities to use existing Indigenous ways of knowing in prevention and treatment strategies and provide a more holistic understanding of the full experience of First Nations children, their developmental pathways, and set the stage for the development of more effective early interventions.

Sandwich thesis overview

The aims of this dissertation are to examine mental health among Indigenous pregnant persons and birthing parents, the risk parental mental health challenges pose to offspring, and the mechanisms of this intergenerational transmission. To address these research aims, four manuscripts were prepared. These are all either previously published, currently under review, or in preparation. In Study 1, we synthesized data on the prevalence of mental health challenges among Indigenous perinatal individuals from around the world. Based on our Study 1 findings, we established that Indigenous perinatal individuals are at greater risk for mental health challenges, but we found that these data are commonly aggregated across Indigenous groups and that Canadian data are extremely scarce. Therefore, in Study 2, we conducted a population-based study and used data from administrative databases in Alberta to identify the prevalence and determinants of depression, anxiety, and post-traumatic stress disorder among Métis pregnant persons in that province, and compared these estimates to their age-matched peers. We found that Métis pregnant persons were more likely to have mental disorders during pregnancy and common factors associated with depression and anxiety during pregnancy included prepregnancy medical conditions, smoking/alcohol use/recreational substance use during pregnancy, and living in an urban location. Based on these findings, and with the knowledge that parental psychopathology is a potent predictor of offspring psychopathology, we examined these associations in an Indigenous context in Study 3. We found that Indigenous offspring of parents with mental health challenges were more likely to have psychopathology compared to Indigenous offspring of healthy parents, and that this association may be stronger in Indigenous families than non-Indigenous families. In the first three studies, while a strengths-based approach was not explicitly taken, we described the importance of employing such approaches in the

discussion sections of each manuscript. Additionally, we provided historical context (i.e., enduring effects of colonialism) for any observed negative health outcome in our studies. Identification of negative health outcomes and other risks, with the appropriate historical context, can help individuals and communities understand how to effectively counteract these challenges. Finally, in order to better understand young Indigenous children's mental health in Canada from a strengths-based perspective, we used data from a nationally-representative survey to examine First Nations-specific factors (in addition to non-Indigenous-specific factors) associated with preschool-aged First Nations children's well-being.

Overall, this body of work helps to address gaps in the Indigenous health literature (e.g., reporting disaggregated data, less reliance on self-report measures), provides data on understudied populations (e.g., perinatal individuals, Métis, young children) and uses Indigenous ways of knowing to examine mental health (i.e., strengths-based approach, identifying Indigenous-specific determinants). Importantly, these studies were conducted in partnership and consultation with Indigenous mentors, community leaders, and health centres. Since all of these studies were either systematic reviews or secondary data analyses, there were some constraints to fully applying some Indigenous research guidelines (e.g., ownership, control, access, or possession of data). However, Indigenous mentors and organizations were consulted to contextualize the findings. When translating our study findings to policies, Indigenous mentors, community leaders, and health centres will be consulted to guide policy design and implementation.

14

References

- Advisory Committee on Infant and Maternal Mortality. (2022). *Making Amends: Recommended Strategies and Actions to Improve the Health and Safety of American Indian and Alaska Native Mothers and Infants*. https://coloradosph.cuanschutz.edu/research-andpractice/centers-programs/caianh/journal/volume23
- American Community Survey. (2023, January). *Children in single-parent families by race and ethnicity*. https://datacenter.aecf.org/data/bar/107-children-in-single-parent-families-by-race-and-

ethnicity/share/loc=1~loct=1/1~any~false~1729~10,11,9,12,1,185,13~431#1/any/false/1 729/10,11,9,12,1,185,13/431

Australian Bureau of Statistics. (2012, November 27). *Main Features—Household and Family Composition*.

https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Lookup/2076.0main+features402011

- Australian College of Midwives, & Congress of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Nurses and Midwives. (2017). Joint Birthing On Country Position Statement.
 https://www.midwives.org.au/common/Uploaded%20files/_ADMIN-ACM/Birthing-on-Country-Joint-Position-Statement-2017.pdf
- Australian Government. (2021, September 16). *Indigenous income and finance*. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/australiaswelfare/indigenous-income-and-finance
- Ban, L., Gibson, J. E., West, J., Fiaschi, L., Oates, M. R., & Tata, L. J. (2012). Impact of socioeconomic deprivation on maternal perinatal mental illnesses presenting to UK

general practice. *The British Journal of General Practice*, 62(603), e671–e678. https://doi.org/10.3399/bjgp12X656801

Barlow A. & Walkup J.T. (2008). The first Americans have much to teach us. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 47(8), 843–844. https://doi.org/10.1097/CHI.0b013e318179a087

Baskin, C. (2020). Contemporary Indigenous Women's Roles: Traditional Teachings or Internalized Colonialism? *Violence Against Women*, 26(15–16), 2083–2101. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801219888024

- Basu, S., & Isaacs, A. N. (2019). Profile of transcultural patients in a regional Child and
 Adolescent Mental Health Service in Gippsland, Australia: The need for a
 multidimensional understanding of the complexities. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 65(3), 217–224. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020764019835264
- Bauer, A., Knapp, M., & Parsonage, M. (2016). Lifetime costs of perinatal anxiety and depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *192*, 83–90.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2015.12.005
- Baydala, L., Sherman, J., Rasmussen, C., Wikman, E., & Janzen, H. (2006). ADHD
 Characteristics in Canadian Aboriginal Children. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 9(4), 642–647. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054705284246

Beals, J., Manson, S., Whitesell, N., Mitchell, C., Novins, D., Simpson, S., & Spicer, P. (2005, September 1). Prevalence of Major Depressive Episode in Two American Indian Reservation Populations: Unexpected Findings With a Structured Interview / American Journal of Psychiatry.

https://ajp.psychiatryonline.org/doi/abs/10.1176/appi.ajp.162.9.1713

- Black, E., Kisely, S., Alichniewicz, K., & Toombs, M. (2017). Mood and anxiety disorders in Australia and New Zealand's indigenous populations: A systematic review and metaanalysis. 255, 128–138.
- Bowen, A., & Pratt, C. (2018). Indigenous Birth. In H. Exner-Pirot, B. Norbye, & L. Butler (Eds.), Northern and Indigenous Health and Healthcare. University of Saskatchewan. https://openpress.usask.ca/northernhealthcare/chapter/chapter-5-indigenous-birth/
- Brave Heart, M. Y. (1999). Gender differences in the historical trauma response among the Lakota. *Journal of Health & Social Policy*, 10(4), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1300/J045v10n04_01
- Brennan, S. (2015, November 30). Violent victimization of Aboriginal women in the Canadian provinces, 2009. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/85-002-x/2011001/article/11439eng.htm
- Burack, J. A. [Ed], & Schmidt, L. A. [Ed]. (2014). Cultural and contextual perspectives on developmental risk and well-being. *Cultural and Contextual Perspectives on Developmental Risk and Well-Being*. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511920165
- Burnette, C. E., Roh, S., Lee, K. H., Lee, Y.-S., Newland, L. A., & Jun, J. S. (2017). A
 Comparison of Risk and Protective Factors Related to Depressive Symptoms among
 American Indian and Caucasian Older Adults. *Health & Social Work*, 42(1), e15–e23.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/hsw/hlw055

Causadias, J. M., & Cicchetti, D. (2018). Cultural development and psychopathology. *Development and Psychopathology*, *30*(5), 1549–1555. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579418001220

- Chamberlain, M., & Barclay, K. (2000). Psychosocial costs of transferring indigenous women from their community for birth. *Midwifery*, *16*(2), 116–122.
- Chan, A. W., Reid, C., Skeffington, P., & Marriott, R. (2021). A systematic review of EPDS cultural suitability with Indigenous mothers: A global perspective. *Archives of Women's Mental Health*, 24(3), 353–365. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-020-01084-2
- Chantal, N., Karen M., L., Victoria, O., & Elizabeth K., D. (2018). Original quantitative research
 Mental health indicators among pregnant Aboriginal women in Canada: Results from
 the Maternity Experiences Survey. *Health Promotion and Chronic Disease Prevention in Canada : Research, Policy and Practice, 38*(7–8), 269–276.
- Cohen, N. J., Lojkasek, M., Muir, E., Muir, R., & Parker, C. J. (2002). Six-month follow-up of two mother–infant psychotherapies: Convergence of therapeutic outcomes. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 23(4), 361–380. https://doi.org/10.1002/imhj.10023
- Costello E.J., Farmer E.M.Z., Angold A., Burns B.J., & Erkanli A. (1997). Psychiatric disorders among American Indian and white youth in Appalachia: The great smoky mountains study. *American Journal of Public Health*, 87(5), 827–832.
- Creamer, J., Shrider, E. A., Burns, K., & Chen, F. (2022). *Poverty in the United States: 2021. Current Population Reports*.
- Cushon, J., Waldner, C., Scott, C., & Neudorf, C. (2016). Planning Adolescent Mental Health Promotion Programming in Saskatoon. *Journal of School Health*, 86(8), 578–584. https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.12410
- Daoud, N., O'Brien, K., O'Campo, P., Harney, S., Harney, E., Bebee, K., Bourgeois, C., & Smylie, J. (2019). Postpartum depression prevalence and risk factors among Indigenous,

non-Indigenous and immigrant women in Canada. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*. https://doi.org/10.17269/s41997-019-00182-8

- Eamon, M. K. (2001). The Effects of Poverty on Children's Socioemotional Development: An Ecological Systems Analysis. Social Work, 46(3), 256–266. https://doi.org/10.1093/sw/46.3.256
- Elias, B., Mignone, J., Hall, M., Hong, S. P., Hart, L., & Sareen, J. (2012). Trauma and suicide behaviour histories among a Canadian indigenous population: An empirical exploration of the potential role of Canada's residential school system. *Social Science & Medicine* (1982), 74(10), 1560–1569. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.01.026
- Eliassen, B.-M., Braaten, T., Melhus, M., Hansen, K. L., & Broderstad, A. R. (2012). Acculturation and self-rated health among Arctic indigenous peoples: A population-based cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health*, *12*, 948. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-12-948
- Fawcett, E. J., Fairbrother, N., Cox, M. L., White, I. R., & Fawcett, J. M. (2019). The Prevalence of Anxiety Disorders during Pregnancy and the Postpartum Period: A Multivariate Bayesian Meta-Analysis. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 80(4), 18r12527. https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.18r12527
- Findlay, L., & Arim, R. (2020, April 24). Canadians report lower self-perceived mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/45-28-0001/2020001/article/00003-eng.htm
- Flanagan, T., Iarocci, G., D'Arrisso, A., Mandour, T., Tootoosis, C., Robinson, S., & Burack, J.A. (2011). Reduced ratings of physical and relational aggression for youths with a strong cultural identity: Evidence from the Naskapi people. *The Journal of Adolescent Health:*

Official Publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine, *49*(2), 155–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2010.11.245

- Fogarty, W., Lovell, M., Langenberg, J., & Heron, M.-J. (2018). Deficit Discourse and Strengths-based Approaches: Changing the Narrative of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health and Wellbeing. The Lowitja Institute.
- Fredericks, B. (2010). Reempowering Ourselves: Australian Aboriginal Women. *Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society*. https://doi.org/10.1086/648511
- Gavin, N. I., Gaynes, B. N., Lohr, K. N., Meltzer-Brody, S., Gartlehner, G., & Swinson, T. (2005). Perinatal Depression: A Systematic Review of Prevalence and Incidence. *Obstetrics & Gynecology*, *106*(5, Part 1), 1071–1083. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.AOG.0000183597.31630.db
- Giallo, R., Cooklin, A., & Nicholson, J. M. (2014). Risk factors associated with trajectories of mothers' depressive symptoms across the early parenting period: An Australian population-based longitudinal study. *Archives of Women's Mental Health*, *17*(2), 115–125. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-014-0411-1
- Gilmore, J. H., Knickmeyer, R. C., & Gao, W. (2018). Imaging structural and functional brain development in early childhood. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 19(3), Article 3. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn.2018.1
- Goodman, J. H. (2019). Perinatal depression and infant mental health. *Archives of Psychiatric Nursing*, *33*(3), 217–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apnu.2019.01.010
- Government of Canada. (2017a, October 25). Aboriginal Identity (9), Individual Low-income Status (6), Low-income Indicators (4), Registered or Treaty Indian Status (3), Age (6) and Sex (3) for the Population in Private Households of Canada, Provinces and
Territories, Census Metropolitan Areas and Census Agglomerations, 2016 Census—25% Sample Data. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dp-pd/dt-td/Rpeng.cfm?TABID=2&LANG=E&A=R&APATH=3&DETAIL=0&DIM=0&FL=A&FRE E=0&GC=01&GL=-1&GID=1341679&GK=1&GRP=1&O=D&PID=111095&PRID=10&PTYPE=109445& S=0&SHOWALL=0&SUB=0&Temporal=2017&THEME=122&VID=0&VNAMEE=& VNAMEF=&D1=0&D2=0&D3=1&D4=0&D5=0&D6=0

- Government of Canada. (2017b, October 25). *Census in Brief: Diverse family characteristics of Aboriginal children aged 0 to 4*. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/censusrecensement/2016/as-sa/98-200-x/2016020/98-200-x2016020-eng.cfm
- Government of Canada, S. C. (2017c, October 25). *The Daily Aboriginal peoples in Canada: Key results from the 2016 Census*. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/dailyquotidien/171025/dq171025a-eng.htm
- Government of Canada, S. C. (2022, September 21). *The Daily—Indigenous population continues to grow and is much younger than the non-Indigenous population, although the pace of growth has slowed.* https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/dailyquotidien/220921/dq220921a-eng.htm
- Government of New Zealand. (2015). *Demographic overview of families in New Zealand*. Social Policy Evaluation and Research Unit.

https://thehub.swa.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Families-and-Whanau-Demographic.pdf

Government of New Zealand. (2018). *Families and Whānau Status Report 2018*. Social Policy Evaluation and Research Unit. https://thehub.swa.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Families-and-Whanau-2018-research-summary-FINAL.pdf

- Gracey, M., & King, M. (2009). Indigenous health part 1: Determinants and disease patterns. Lancet (London, England), 374(9683), 65–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60914-4
- Hackett, C., Feeny, D., & Tompa, E. (2016). Canada's residential school system: Measuring the intergenerational impact of familial attendance on health and mental health outcomes. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health (1979-)*, 70(11), 1096–1105.
- Halim, N., Beard, J., Mesic, A., Patel, A., Henderson, D., & Hibberd, P. (2018). Intimate partner violence during pregnancy and perinatal mental disorders in low and lower middle income countries: A systematic review of literature, 1990-2017. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *66*, 117–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2017.11.004
- Halligan, S. L., Murray, L., Martins, C., & Cooper, P. J. (2007). Maternal depression and psychiatric outcomes in adolescent offspring: A 13-year longitudinal study. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 97(1), 145–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2006.06.010
- Halseth, R., & Greenwood, M. (2019). Indigenous early childhood development in Canada: Current state of knowledge and future directions (p. 68). National Collaborating Centre for Aboriginal Health. https://www.nccih.ca/docs/health/RPT-ECD-PHAC-Greenwood-Halseth-EN.pdf
- Hamdullahpur, K., Jacobs, K. J., & Gill, K. J. (2018). Mental Health Among Help-Seeking
 Urban Women: The Relationships Between Adverse Childhood Experiences, Sexual
 Abuse, and Suicidality. *Violence Against Women*, 24(16), 1967–1981.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801218761602
- Handley, E. D., Michl-Petzing, L. C., Rogosch, F. A., Cicchetti, D., & Toth, S. L. (2017).Developmental cascade effects of interpersonal psychotherapy for depressed mothers:

Longitudinal associations with toddler attachment, temperament, and maternal parenting efficacy. *Development and Psychopathology*, *29*(2), 601–615. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579417000219

- Heckman, J. J. (2008). Schools, Skills, and Synapses. *Economic Inquiry*, 46(3), 289–324. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1465-7295.2008.00163.x
- Hyett, S. L., Gabel, C., Marjerrison, S., & Schwartz, L. (2019). Deficit-Based Indigenous Health Research and the Stereotyping of Indigenous Peoples. *Canadian Journal of Bioethics*, 2(2), 102–109.
- International Labour Organization. (2019). *Implementing the ILO Indigenous and Tribal Peoples Convention No. 169: Towards an inclusive, sustainable and just future*. International labour organization.
- Jorm A.F., Bourchier S.J., Cvetkovski S., & Stewart G. (2012). Mental health of Indigenous Australians: A review of findings from community surveys. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 196(2), 118–121. https://doi.org/10.5694/mja11.10041
- Kenney, M. K., & Singh, G. K. (2016). Adverse Childhood Experiences among American Indian/Alaska Native Children: The 2011-2012 National Survey of Children's Health. *Scientifica*, 2016, e7424239. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/7424239
- Kildea, S., Stapleton, H., Murphy, R., Low, N. B., & Gibbons, K. (2012). The Murri clinic: A comparative retrospective study of an antenatal clinic developed for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, *12*(100967799), 159. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-12-159

- Kirmayer, L. J., Dandeneau, S., Marshall, E., Phillips, M. K., & Williamson, K. J. (2011). Rethinking Resilience From Indigenous Perspectives. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 56(2), 84–91.
- Kirmayer, L. J., Sheiner, E., & Geoffroy, D. (2016). Chapter 6—Mental Health Promotion for Indigenous Youth. In M. Hodes & S. Gau (Eds.), *Positive Mental Health, Fighting Stigma and Promoting Resiliency for Children and Adolescents* (pp. 111–140). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-804394-3.00006-1
- Kirmayer, L. J., Simpson, C., & Cargo, M. (2003). Healing traditions: Culture, community and mental health promotion with Canadian Aboriginal peoples. *Australasian Psychiatry*, *11*(s1), S15–S23. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1038-5282.2003.02010.x
- Kisely, S., Alichniewicz, K. K., Black, E. B., Siskind, D., Spurling, G., & Toombs, M. (2017). The prevalence of depression and anxiety disorders in indigenous people of the Americas: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *JOURNAL OF PSYCHIATRIC RESEARCH*, 84, 137–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.09.032
- Klest, B., Freyd, J. J., & Foynes, M. M. (2013). Trauma Exposure and Posttraumatic Symptoms in Hawaii: Gender, Ethnicity, and Social Context. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice and Policy*, 5(5), 409–416. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0029336
- Krzeczkowski, J. E., Schmidt, L. A., & Van Lieshout, R. J. (2021). Changes in infant emotion regulation following maternal cognitive behavioral therapy for postpartum depression. *Depression and Anxiety*, 38(4), 412–421. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.23130
- Lehti, V., Niemelä, S., Hoven, C., Mandell, D., & Sourander, A. (2009). Mental health, substance use and suicidal behaviour among young indigenous people in the Arctic: A

systematic review. *Social Science & Medicine*, 69(8), 1194–1203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2009.07.045

- Lemstra, M., Neudorf, C., Mackenbach, J., D'Arcy, C., Scott, C., Kershaw, T., & Nannapaneni, U. (2008). Risk indicators for depressed mood in youth: Limited association with Aboriginal cultural status. *Paediatrics & Child Health*, *13*(4), 285–290. https://doi.org/10.1093/pch/13.4.285
- Lemstra, M., Rogers, M., Redgate, L., Garner, M., & Moraros, J. (2011). Prevalence, risk indicators and outcomes of bullying among on-reserve First Nations youth. *Canadian Journal of Public Health = Revue Canadienne de Sante Publique*, *102*(6), 462–466.
- Letourneau, N. L., Dennis, C.-L., Cosic, N., & Linder, J. (2017). The effect of perinatal depression treatment for mothers on parenting and child development: A systematic review. *Depression and Anxiety*, *34*(10), 928–966. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22687
- Liu, L., Capaldi, C. A., & Dopko, R. L. (2021). Original quantitative research—Suicide ideation in Canada during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Health Promotion and Chronic Disease Prevention in Canada : Research, Policy and Practice*, 41(11), 378–391. https://doi.org/10.24095/hpcdp.41.11.06
- Logsdon, M. C., Wisner, K. L., & Pinto-Foltz, M. D. (2006). The impact of postpartum depression on mothering. *Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, and Neonatal Nursing: JOGNN*, 35(5), 652–658. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1552-6909.2006.00087.x
- Maggi, S., Irwin, L. J., Siddiqi, A., & Hertzman, C. (2010). The social determinants of early child development: An overview. *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health*, 46(11), 627– 635. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1754.2010.01817.x

- McLaughlin, K. A., Gadermann, A. M., Hwang, I., Sampson, N. A., Al-Hamzawi, A., Andrade,
 L. H., Angermeyer, M. C., Benjet, C., Bromet, E. J., Bruffaerts, R., Caldas-de-Almeida,
 J. M., de Girolamo, G., de Graaf, R., Florescu, S., Gureje, O., Haro, J. M., Hinkov, H. R.,
 Horiguchi, I., Hu, C., ... Kessler, R. C. (2012). Parent psychopathology and offspring
 mental disorders: Results from the WHO World Mental Health Surveys. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 200(4), 290–299. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.111.101253
- Ministry of Health. (2008). A Portrait of Health: Key results of the 2006/07 New Zealand Health Survey (p. 361). Ministry of Health.
- Moon, H., Roh, S., Lee, Y.-S., & Goins, R. T. (2016). Disparities in Health, Health Care Access, and Life Experience Between American Indian and White Adults in South Dakota. *Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities*, 3(2), 301–308.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-015-0146-3
- Mota, N., Elias, B., Tefft, B., Medved, M., Munro, G., & Sareen, J. (2012). Correlates of Suicidality: Investigation of a Representative Sample of Manitoba First Nations
 Adolescents. *American Journal of Public Health*, *102*(7), 1353–1361.
 https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2011.300385
- Murray, L., Arteche, A., Fearon, P., Halligan, S., Goodyer, I., & Cooper, P. (2011). Maternal Postnatal Depression and the Development of Depression in Offspring Up to 16 Years of Age. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 50(5), 460– 470. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2011.02.001
- Murray, L., & Cooper, P. (2003). Intergenerational transmission of affective and cognitive processes associated with depression: Infancy and the preschool years.

https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Intergenerational-transmission-of-affective-andand-Murray-Cooper/a9ffe9acef06b9e0180daef88b19fb16566006c2

- Nasir, B. F., Toombs, M. R., Kondalsamy-Chennakesavan, S., Kisely, S., Gill, N. S., Black, E., Hayman, N., Ranmuthugala, G., Beccaria, G., Ostini, R., & Nicholson, G. C. (2018).
 Common mental disorders among Indigenous people living in regional, remote and metropolitan Australia: A cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open*, 8(6), e020196. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-020196
- National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social Survey. (2009). 2.12 Single-parent families. https://doi.org/10.1037/e543652012-001
- Nelson, S. E., & Wilson, K. (2017). The mental health of Indigenous peoples in Canada: A critical review of research. *Social Science & Medicine*, 176(Complete), 93–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.01.021
- O'Brien, K., Agostino, J., Ciszek, K., & Douglas, K. A. (2020). Physical activity and risk of behavioural and mental health disorders in kindergarten children: Analysis of a series of cross-sectional complete enumeration (census) surveys. *BMJ Open*, *10*(3), e034847. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2019-034847
- O'Driscoll, T., Kelly, L., Payne, L., St. Pierre-Hansen, N., Cromarty, H., Minty, B., & Linkewich, B. (2011). Delivering away from home: The perinatal experiences of First Nations women in northwestern Ontario. *Canadian Journal of Rural Medicine*, 16(4), 126–130.
- Owais, S., & Van Lieshout, R. J. (2023). Perinatal Mental Health of Indigenous Pregnant Persons and Birthing Parents During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Journal of Obstetrics and*

Gynaecology Canada: JOGC = Journal d'obstetrique et Gynecologie Du Canada: JOGC, S1701-2163(23)00319-5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jogc.2023.04.015

- Page, I. S., Ferrari, A. J., Slade, T., Anderson, M., Santomauro, D., & Diminic, S. (2022).
 Estimating the difference in prevalence of common mental disorder diagnoses for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples compared to the general Australian population. *Epidemiology and Psychiatric Sciences*, *31*, e44.
 https://doi.org/10.1017/S2045796022000233
- Patton, G. C., Romaniuk, H., Spry, E., Coffey, C., Olsson, C., Doyle, L. W., Oats, J., Hearps, S., Carlin, J. B., & Brown, S. (2015). Prediction of perinatal depression from adolescence and before conception (VIHCS): 20-year prospective cohort study. *Lancet (London, England)*, 386(9996), 875–883. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)62248-0
- Phelan, S. (2010). Pregnancy: A "teachable moment" for weight control and obesity prevention. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 202(2), 135.e1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2009.06.008
- Pollock, N. J., Naicker, K., Loro, A., Mulay, S., & Colman, I. (2018). Global incidence of suicide among Indigenous peoples: A systematic review. *BMC Medicine*, 16(1), 145. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-018-1115-6
- Population Reference Bureau. (2004, January). *Economic, Social, and Demographic Losses and Gains Among American Indians*. PRB. https://www.prb.org/resources/economic-social-and-demographic-losses-and-gains-among-american-indians/
- Priest, N., Baxter, J., & Hayes, L. (2012). Social and emotional outcomes of Australian children from Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds. *Australian and*

New Zealand Journal of Public Health, *36*(2), 183–190. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-6405.2011.00803.x

Reynolds, A. J., Temple, J. A., Ou, S.-R., Robertson, D. L., Mersky, J. P., Topitzes, J. W., & Niles, M. D. (2007). Effects of a School-Based, Early Childhood Intervention on Adult Health and Well-being: A 19-Year Follow-up of Low-Income Families. *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine*, *161*(8), 730–739.

https://doi.org/10.1001/archpedi.161.8.730

- Rowell, T., & Neal-Barnett, A. (2022). A Systematic Review of the Effect of Parental Adverse Childhood Experiences on Parenting and Child Psychopathology. *Journal of Child & Adolescent Trauma*, 15(1), 167–180. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40653-021-00400-x
- Sameroff, A. (2006). Identifying Risk and Protective Factors for Healthy Child Development. In Families count: Effects on child and adolescent development (pp. 53–76). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511616259.004
- San Martin Porter, M. A., Kisely, S., & Alati, R. (2019). Screening for perinatal depression and predictors of underscreening: Findings of the Born in Queensland study. *Medical Journal* of Australia, 211(4), 190-190.e1. https://doi.org/10.5694/mja2.50253
- Savory, N. A., Hannigan, B., John, R. M., Sanders, J., & Garay, S. M. (2021). Prevalence and predictors of poor mental health among pregnant women in Wales using a cross-sectional survey. *Midwifery*, 103, 103103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2021.103103
- Shepherd, C. C. J., Li, J., Cooper, M. N., Hopkins, K. D., & Farrant, B. M. (2017). The impact of racial discrimination on the health of Australian Indigenous children aged 5-10 years:
 Analysis of national longitudinal data. *International Journal For Equity In Health*, 16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-017-0612-0

- Sheppard, A. J., Shapiro, G. D., Bushnik, T., Wilkins, R., Perry, S., Kaufman, J. S., Kramer, M. S., & Yang, S. (2017). *Birth outcomes among First Nations, Inuit and Métis populations*. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/82-003-x/2017011/article/54886-eng.htm
- Siegenthaler, E., Munder, T., & Egger, M. (2012). Effect of preventive interventions in mentally ill parents on the mental health of the offspring: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 51(1), 8-17.e8.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2011.10.018
- Sikorski, C., Leatherdale, S., & Cooke, M. (2019). Original quantitative research Tobacco, alcohol and marijuana use among Indigenous youth attending off-reserve schools in Canada: Cross-sectional results from the Canadian Student Tobacco, Alcohol and Drugs Survey. *Health Promotion and Chronic Disease Prevention in Canada : Research, Policy and Practice*, 39(6–7), 207–215.
- Smokowski, P. R., Mann, E. A., Reynolds, A. J., & Fraser, M. W. (2004). Childhood risk and protective factors and late adolescent adjustment in inner city minority youth. *Children* and Youth Services Review, 26(1), 63–91.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2003.11.003

- Smylie, J., O'Brien, K., Beaudoin, E., Daoud, N., Bourgeois, C., George, E. H., Bebee, K., & Ryan, C. (2021). Long-distance travel for birthing among Indigenous and non-Indigenous pregnant people in Canada. *CMAJ*, 193(25), E948–E955. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.201903
- SOGC. (2010). Returning Birth to Aboriginal, Rural, and Remote Communities. Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada, 32(12), 1186–1188. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1701-2163(16)34744-2

- Srinivasan, R., Pearson, R. M., Johnson, S., Lewis, G., & Lewis, G. (2020). Maternal perinatal depressive symptoms and offspring psychotic experiences at 18 years of age: A longitudinal study. *The Lancet. Psychiatry*, 7(5), 431–440. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30132-2
- Statistics Canada. (2013, September 18). *Canadian Community Health Survey: Mental Health,* 2012. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/130918/dq130918a-eng.htm
- Statistics Canada. (2015). *Family composition*. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/89-645x/2010001/family-famille-eng.htm
- Statistics Canada. (2020a, December 9). Self-perceived mental health and suicidal thoughts by Aboriginal identity, age group and sex.

https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=4110002101

- Statistics Canada. (2022, November 9). Disaggregated trends in poverty from the 2021 Census of Population. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2021/as-sa/98-200-X/2021009/98-200-X2021009-eng.cfm
- Statistics Canada, S. C. (2020b, December 9). Long-term health problems (self-reported) by Aboriginal identity, age group and sex.

https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=4110004101

- Stein, A., Pearson, R. M., Goodman, S. H., Rapa, E., Rahman, A., McCallum, M., Howard, L.
 M., & Pariante, C. M. (2014). Effects of perinatal mental disorders on the fetus and child. *The Lancet*, 384(9956), 1800–1819. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61277-0
- Stevens, J., Cornell, C. E., Story, M., French, S. A., Levin, S., Becenti, A., Gittelsohn, J., Going,S. B., & Reid, R. (1999). Development of a questionnaire to assess knowledge, attitudes,

and behaviors in American Indian children. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 69(4 Suppl), 773S-781S. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/69.4.773S

- Tottenham, N. (2020). Early Adversity and the Neotenous Human Brain. *Biological Psychiatry*, 87(4), 350–358. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2019.06.018
- Tsivos, Z.-L., Calam, R., Sanders, M. R., & Wittkowski, A. (2015). Interventions for postnatal depression assessing the mother-infant relationship and child developmental outcomes: A systematic review. *International Journal of Women's Health*, 7, 429–447. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJWH.S75311
- United Nations. (2019). Data and Indicators / United Nations For Indigenous Peoples [United Nations Indigenous Peoples].

https://www.un.org/development/desa/indigenouspeoples/mandated-areas1/data-andindicators.html

- United Nations. (2023a). *Indigenous Peoples*. United Nations; United Nations. https://www.un.org/en/fight-racism/vulnerable-groups/indigenous-peoples
- United Nations. (2023b). United Nations—Department of Economic and Social Affairs— Indigenous Peoples. https://www.un.org/development/desa/indigenouspeoples/mandatedareas1/health.html
- United Nations Permanent Forum On Indigenous Issues. (2023). *Indigenous Peoples, Indigenous Voices*. https://www.un.org/esa/socdev/unpfii/documents/5session_factsheet1.pdf
- Vachon, J., Gallant, V., & Siu, W. (2018). Tuberculosis in Canada, 2016. *Canada Communicable Disease Report*, 44(3–4), 75–81. https://doi.org/10.14745/ccdr.v44i34a01
- Vos, T., Barker, B., Begg, S., Stanley, L., & Lopez, A. D. (2009). Burden of disease and injury in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples: The Indigenous health gap.

International Journal of Epidemiology, 38(2), 470–477. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyn240

Vukic, A. R., Gregory, D. F., Martin-Misener, R., & Etowa, J. B. (2011). Aboriginal and Western Conceptions of Mental Health and Illness.

Waldron, I. R. (2018). There's Something In The Water – Environmental Racism in Indigenous and Black Communities. Fernwood Publishing. https://fernwoodpublishing.ca/book/there8217s-something-in-the-water

- Walker, S. P., Wachs, T. D., Grantham-McGregor, S., Black, M. M., Nelson, C. A., Huffman, S. L., Baker-Henningham, H., Chang, S. M., Hamadani, J. D., Lozoff, B., Gardner, J. M. M., Powell, C. A., Rahman, A., & Richter, L. (2011). Inequality in early childhood: Risk and protective factors for early child development. *Lancet (London, England)*, *378*(9799), 1325–1338. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60555-2
- Walls, M. L., Chapple, C. L., & Johnson, K. D. (2007). Strain, Emotion, and Suicide Among American Indian Youth. *Deviant Behavior*, 28(3), 219–246. https://doi.org/10.1080/01639620701233100
- Warne, D., Dulacki, K., Spurlock, M., Meath, T., Davis, M. M., Wright, B., & McConnell, K. J. (2017). Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) among American Indians in South Dakota and Associations with Mental Health Conditions, Alcohol Use, and Smoking. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved*, 28(4), 1559–1577. https://doi.org/10.1353/hpu.2017.0133
- Whitbeck, L. B., Walls, M. L., Johnson, K. D., Morrisseau, A. D., & McDougall, C. M. (2009).
 Depressed Affect And Historical Loss Among North American Indigenous Adolescents.
 American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health Research (Online), 16(3), 16–41.

Whitbeck, L. B., Yu, M., Johnson, K. D., Hoyt, D. R., & Walls, M. L. (2008). Diagnostic prevalence rates from early to mid-adolescence among indigenous adolescents: First results from a longitudinal study. *Journal Of The American Academy Of Child And Adolescent Psychiatry*, 47(8), 890–900. https://doi.org/10.1097/CHI.0b013e3181799609

Yoder, K. A., Whitbeck, L. B., Hoyt, D. R., & LaFromboise, T. (2006). Suicidal ideation among American Indian youths. Archives of Suicide Research: Official Journal of the International Academy for Suicide Research, 10(2), 177–190. https://doi.org/10.1080/13811110600558240

- Young, C., Hanson, C., Craig, J. C., Clapham, K., & Williamson, A. (2017). Psychosocial factors associated with the mental health of indigenous children living in high income countries: A systematic review. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, *16*(1), 153. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-017-0652-5
- Young, T., Martens, P., Taback, S., Sellers, E., Dean, H., Cheang, M., & Flett, B. (2002). Type 2 diabetes mellitus in children—Prenatal and early infancy risk factors among native Canadians. *Archives Of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine*, *156*(7), 651–655. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpedi.156.7.651
- Zubrick, S., Silburn, S., Lawrence, D., Mitrou, F., Dalby, R., Blair, E., Griffin, J., Milroy, H., De Maio, J., Cox, A., & Li, J. (2005). Western Australian Aboriginal Child Health Survey (WAACHS) (pp. 339–363). Curtin University of Technology and Telethon Institute for Child Health Research. https://www.telethonkids.org.au/our-research/aboriginal-health/waachs/waachs-vol2/

Chapter 2: The Perinatal Mental Health of Indigenous Women: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis (Study 1)

Study 1 Overview

Title: The Perinatal Mental Health of Indigenous Women: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis

Authors: Sawayra Owais, MSc, Mateusz Faltyn, Ashley V. D. Johnson, MD, Chelsea Gabel, PhD, Bernice Downey, RN, PhD, Nick Kates, MD, and Ryan J. Van Lieshout, MD, PhD

Context and Overall Implications: Indigenous perinatal individuals are disproportionately exposed to risk factors for mental health challenges, although no synthesized data existed on the prevalence of such difficulties. The first study in this thesis synthesizes the association of mental health challenges among Indigenous perinatal individuals compared to their non-Indigenous peers. This meta-analysis found that Indigenous individuals were at a 62% increased risk for mental health challenges, and are more likely to experience severe forms of these challenges. This study can lend support for the development of culturally-safe screening and treatment protocols, and also highlights research gaps (e.g., recruitment of representative samples, utilization of culturally validated mental health measurements, and partnership with Indigenous communities) for future researchers to address.

Acknowledgements: We would like to acknowledge Jo-Anne Petropoulos for her help in reviewing the search strategies.

Conflicts of Interest: The author(s) declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Funding: The author(s) received no financial support for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Published In: The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry

Citation Information: Owais S, Faltyn M, Johnson AVD, Gabel C, Downey B, Kates N, et al.

The Perinatal Mental Health of Indigenous Women: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis.

Can J Psychiatry. 2020 Mar 1;65(3):149-63. doi: 10.1177/0706743719877029.

© SAGE Publications

Abstract

Objective: Although Indigenous women are exposed to high rates of risk factors for perinatal mental health problems, the magnitude of their risk is not known. This lack of data impedes the development of appropriate screening and treatment protocols, as well as the proper allocation of resources for Indigenous women. The objective of this systematic review and meta-analysis was to compare rates of perinatal mental health problems among Indigenous and non-Indigenous women.

Methods: We searched Medline, EMBASE, PsycINFO, CINAHL, and Web of Science from their inceptions until February 2019. Studies were included if they assessed mental health in Indigenous women during pregnancy and/or up to 12 months postpartum.

Results: Twenty-six articles met study inclusion criteria and 21 were eligible for meta-analysis. Indigenous identity was associated with higher odds of mental health problems (odds ratio [OR] 1.62; 95% confidence interval [CI], 1.25 to 2.11). Odds were higher still when analyses were restricted to problems of greater severity (OR 1.95; 95% CI, 1.21 to 3.16) and young Indigenous women (OR 1.86; 95% CI, 1.51 to 2.28).

Conclusion: Indigenous women are at increased risk of mental health problems during the perinatal period, particularly depression, anxiety, and substance misuse. However, resiliency among Indigenous women, cultural teachings, and methodological issues may be affecting estimates. Future research should utilize more representative samples, adapt and validate diagnostic and symptom measures for Indigenous groups, and engage Indigenous actors, leaders, and related allies to help improve the accuracy of estimates, as well as the well-being of Indigenous mothers, their families, and future generations.

Trial Registration: PROSPERO-CRD42018108638.

Keywords: Aboriginal health, common mental disorders, Indigenous people, pregnancy,

postpartum

Introduction

Up to 20% of women experience problems with their mental health during the perinatal period,¹ with adverse effects for the mother, her family, and the healthcare system.²⁻⁴ A past history of mental illness,⁵ poor social support,⁶ poverty,⁷ intimate partner violence,⁸ childhood sexual abuse,⁹ and other forms of trauma all increase risk.

One group that experiences very high rates of these and other risk factors are Indigenous women. Despite this, very little is known about their mental health during the perinatal period.¹⁰ Indigenous populations are the original inhabitants of ancestral land prior to the establishment of borders with cultural identities distinct from the dominant society's.¹¹ However, because of colonization and assimilation efforts, they now live with structural risks that have contributed to poorer health outcomes than their non-Indigenous counterparts.¹²

Although not all Indigenous women develop perinatal mental health problems, it is important to understand the mental health problems experienced by Indigenous women around the world so that those who may be suffering can be helped and the intergenerational transmission of risk to their children can be reduced. Resilience processes can also be examined in Indigenous women and their children who are thriving, so protective factors against the development of mental health problems can be elucidated. By understanding the scope of the problem facing Indigenous women and their families, we will then be able to better prioritize and study the relevant risk and resilience mechanisms through which perinatal mental health problems may be transmitted. Synthesizing the literature on Indigenous perinatal mental health should ultimately lead to the development of early screening, identification, and treatment protocols and help guide the development of policies to help future generations. Bowen and colleagues conducted a systematic search and narrative summary of the literature (up to 2010) on the perinatal mental health of Indigenous women, identifying 16 quantitative articles.¹³ Thirteen measured perinatal depression and reported antenatal prevalence rates from 17% to 47%. Although this review advanced our understanding of perinatal depression among Indigenous women, a number of gaps remain. Point estimates of absolute and relative risks are not yet known, and some of the studies that provided prevalence data were designed to validate questionnaires rather than estimate these rates, potentially introducing sampling bias.

It is also not known how country of residence, severity of illness, or other factors affect the risk of developing psychopathology among Indigenous perinatal women. It is important to know which mental health problems Indigenous women are most vulnerable to, so that appropriate screening and intervention protocols can be developed and applied (e.g., pharmacological and nonpharmacological treatments, public health policies, etc.). Screening and intervention can allow for earlier detection and potentially the prevention of intergenerational transmission of psychopathology to help reduce the burden on the mother, her family, and the healthcare system. Finally, little data exist on outcomes other than depression although problems like perinatal substance misuse and anxiety are significant risk factors.^{14,15}

Since the review of Bowen and colleagues synthesized data published nearly a decade ago, accompanied with the increasing appreciation of the importance of the health and wellbeing of Indigenous peoples and the impact perinatal mental health problems can have on future generations, it is important to have a comprehensive and contemporary understanding of the prevalence and relative risk of these difficulties among Indigenous women.^{16,17} The objective of this systematic review and meta-analysis was to examine rates of perinatal mental health problems among Indigenous women from the first trimester of pregnancy up to 12 months postpartum and compare them to non-Indigenous women.

Methods

Search Strategy

The study protocol guiding this systematic review and meta-analysis was published in the PROSPERO database on October 11, 2018 (CRD42018108638). The guidelines and checklists from the preferred reporting items for systematic reviews (PRISMA) and meta-analyses and meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology (MOOSE) were followed.^{18,19} Indigenous collaborators of Mohawk (AJ), Red River Métis (CG), and Oji/Cree (BD) heritage were consulted to help create search strategies, plan the subgroup and sensitivity analyses, analyze and interpret the data, and review the final draft of the manuscript.

A systematic search of electronic databases (Medline, EMBASE, PsycINFO, CINAHL, and Web of Science) was conducted from their inceptions until February 25, 2019. Search strategies/terms were developed in collaboration with a health sciences librarian and clinicians/researchers of Mohawk, Red River Métis, and Oji/Cree heritage to ensure terms were specific and inclusive (please see Supplemental Material data available at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7019461/). In general, searches were centered on three Medical Subject Heading terms: Indigenous populations, pregnancy or postpartum period, and mental disorders. Despite terms to describe Indigenous populations being changed over time, we elected to generate all possible terms in order to best capture all potential articles related to perinatal Indigenous mental health. The ancestry approach was also used, where the reference lists of relevant articles were hand-searched to identify additional studies.

Eligibility Criteria

Observational (cross-sectional, case–control, cohort) studies were included if (1) participants were Indigenous women (as defined by World Health Organization²⁰ or other valid criteria [i.e., self-identification]²¹), (2) participants were assessed anywhere from the start of pregnancy to 12 months postpartum, (3) mental health outcomes were assessed, (4) studies used diagnostic interviews or self-report questionnaires to measure mental health outcomes, and (5) outcomes were reported separately for Indigenous and non-Indigenous women. Although diagnostic manuals have defined the perinatal period to last from the first trimester of pregnancy until 4 weeks postpartum, we elected to extend this time period up to 12 months postpartum to align with clinical practice of diagnosing women with mental health problems if they experience them within a year of delivery.²² All mental health outcomes that had a nonorganic cause and were indexed under "mental health disorders" on the databases ("mental disease" for Embase) were included. For an exhaustive list, please see the Supplemental Material data. All efforts were made to find the English translation of non-English articles.

Data Extraction and Methodological Bias Assessment of Studies

Titles and abstracts were screened by two independent reviewers (MF and SO) and any disagreements were adjudicated by a third reviewer (RV). Data were extracted using a standardized form which was pilot-tested with five randomly selected studies to ensure adequate data capture. Information regarding study location was extracted, as were study design, sample

size and type, participant inclusion/exclusion criteria, mental health outcomes assessed, measures and clinical cutoffs used, timing of outcome assessment, and prevalence rates.

The methodological bias of eligible studies was assessed using The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for cohort and case–control studies.²³ Selection, comparability, and outcome bias were graded using this measure's star system, where the greater the number of stars represented higher methodological quality and lower risk of bias. Publication bias was assessed using funnel plots generated through RevMan 5.3 and the Egger test.

Statistical Analyses

A random effects meta-analysis was conducted. Odds ratios (*OR*s) were expressed with 95% confidence intervals (95% CIs). Cochrane Q test was performed to assess for statistical heterogeneity, and Higgins I^2 statistic was used to determine the extent of variation between effect estimates (0% to 100%).

In accordance with the recommendations of the Cochrane Handbook, when needed, study groups were combined so that only two distinct groups (Indigenous and non-Indigenous) were present.²⁴ It is important to note that Indigenous groups within and outside country borders have unique cultural histories, social structures, and lived experiences. Combining these heterogenous groups into a single group could mask any differential effects between and within Indigenous groups. However, we elected to study Indigenous women as a whole as it increased statistical power and since there was limited information on certain Indigenous groups within the searched databases (e.g., Métis women).

Our primary analysis meta-analyzed all eligible studies. Planned subgroup analyses were then conducted to examine the influence of a specific type of mental health problem (e.g., depression, anxiety), reproductive stage (pregnancy, postpartum), and country of residence. Sensitivity analyses were also conducted to assess the impact of risk of bias (excluding studies with a score \leq 4 on the NOS). Research has also shown that young maternal age is a risk factor for the development or recurrence of perinatal mental health problems.^{25,26} Since Indigenous mothers tend to be younger than their non-Indigenous counterparts,²⁷ we conducted a sensitivity analysis that only included studies reporting that Indigenous participants were younger than their non-Indigenous counterparts. Finally, we conducted a sensitivity analysis to determine how different clinical cutoffs defining illness severity affected prevalence rates since different ethnicities may have different thresholds for presenting symptoms of mental health problems.²⁸ RevMan 5.3 and R 3.4.2 Software (R Development Core Team) were used to complete statistical analyses.

Results

Search Results

Our search identified 4,583 potentially relevant articles, and 3,941 underwent title and abstract screening (after removal of duplicate citations). We identified 41 articles for full-text review and found 23 that met our inclusion criteria. Three additional articles were identified via the ancestry approach. Interrater agreement was high (Cohen $\kappa = 0.86$).

Of these 26 studies, 21 were eligible for meta-analysis (see Figure 1). Tables 1a, b, and c, outline the characteristics of studies during antenatal, postnatal, and combined antenatal/postnatal periods, respectively.

Characteristics of Included Studies

Participant characteristics. A total of 444,672 perinatal women were included across the 26 studies, with 39,734 women identifying as Indigenous and 404,938 as non-Indigenous.

Study characteristics. Studies were conducted in the United States (n = 12), Australia (n = 6), New Zealand (n = 4), Canada (n = 3), and Taiwan (n = 1). Twelve studies sampled women during pregnancy, 12 during the postpartum period, and two during pregnancy and the puerperium.

Some studies assessed more than one outcome in their sample.²⁹⁻³² Twenty-one studies assessed depression with nine using the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS),^{29,33-40} five using the Center for Epidemiological Studies–Depression (CES-D),^{30,31,41-43} two using the Patient Health Questionnaire-2 (PHQ-2),^{44,45} two using a unique depression screening instrument designed for that study,^{46,47} and one study each using the PHQ-15,³² Postpartum Depression Screening Scale,⁴⁸ and Beck Depression Inventory (BDI).⁴⁹ Six studies measured alcohol and drug use, with two studies using diagnostic interviews,^{50,51} two using the Tolerance, Worry, Eye-Opener, Amnesia, & Cut-Down Drinking Questionnaire,^{30,31} and two relied on self-reports of use.^{33,39} Four studies measured anxiety with two using the EPDS Anxiety subscale,^{29,52} while two utilized the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI) State subscale.^{30,31} Four studies assessed posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), with two studies using both the Traumatic Life Events and PTSD Checklist–Civilian Version,^{31,53} one using the Primary Care PTSD Screen,⁴¹ and one the Impact of Events–Revised Scale.⁵⁴ Finally, one study measured panic disorder using the PHQ-15 Panic module.³² The studies that were not eligible for meta-analysis either had no comparison group^{33,35,41,54} or reported only continuous outcomes.⁵² We completed a narrative synthesis of the results of these studies.

Table 1a. Characteristics of Antenatal (Pregnancy) Studies.

Author, Year, Country	Study Design	Indigenous Group (n)	Comparison Group(s) (n)	Mental health outcomes	Time Point	Measure(s)	Effect Estimates Indigenous vs. Comparison	Risk of Bias
Burns et al., 2006, Australia ^{50,} ⁵¹	Retrospective case-control	Indigenous (9018) (n=8935 for alcohol use)	Australian-born (297649) (n=297140 for alcohol use)	a) Illicit drug useb) Alcohol use^a	Pregnancy	ICD-10-AM	 a) 6.0% vs. 1.4% b) 0.8% vs. 0.1% 	Low
Signal et al., 2017, New Zealand ²⁹	Cross-sectional	Maori (406)	Non-Maori (738)	a) Antenatal depression b) Antenatal anxiety	35-37 weeks gestation	a) EPDS (≥13) b) EPDS – anxiety subscale (≥6)	 a) 22.4% vs. 15.3% b) 25.1% vs. 20.1% 	Low
Buist et al., 2005, Australia ³⁵	Cross-sectional	Aboriginal/Torres Strai Islander (611)	Non-Aboriginal (39722) ^b	Antenatal depression	16-33 weeks gestation	EPDS (\geq 13)	19.0%	Low
Gavin et al., 2011, USA ³²	Prospective cohort	Asian/Pacific Islanders (273)	Non-Hispanic White (1372), Latina (202), Black (150)	a) Antenataldepressionb) Antenatal panicdisorder	27.4 weeks gestation (average)	a) PHQ-15 b) PHQ-15 Panic Disorder	a) 5.9% vs. 5.1% b) 1.1% vs. 3.5%	Low
Dodgson et al., 2014, USA ⁴¹	Retrospective case-control	Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander with PTSD (55)	Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander without PTSD (91)	a) Antenataldepressionb) Antenatal PTSD	2 nd trimester	a) CES-D (≥16) b) Primary Care PTSD Screen (≥2)	a) 31.7% b) 37.7%	Low
Bowen et al., 2008, Canada ^{39, 52}	Cross-sectional	Aboriginal (256) (n=255 for antenatal anxiety)	Non-Aboriginal (134)	 a) Antenatal depression b) Antenatal anxiety^c c) Antenatal alcohol use d) Antenatal drug use 	15.2 weeks gestation (average)	a) EPDS (≥13) b) EPDS Qs - #3-5 c) current drinker d) current drug user	a) 32.0% vs. 26.9% b) SMD = 0.00, SE = 0.15 c) 13.3% vs. 6.7% d) 23.5% vs. 8.1%	High

Ph.D. Thesis - S. Owais; McMaster University - Neuroscience

Morland et al., 2007, USA ⁵³	Prospective cohort	Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander (39)	Asian (40), Caucasian (21), Other (1)	Antenatal PTSD	1 st trimester	Traumatic Life Events Questionnaire + PTSD Checklist- Civilian Version	24.0% vs. 14.8%	High
Shah et al., 2011, Canada and Pakistan ⁴⁰	Cross-sectional	Aboriginal (128)	Pakistani (128), Canadian Caucasians (128)	Antenatal depression	1 st , 2 nd , or 3 rd trimester	EPDS (≥13)	31.3% vs. 27.7%	High
Goebert et al., 2007, USA ³⁰	Prospective cohort	Native Hawaiian (24)	Asian (39), Caucasian (21)	a) Antenataldepressionb) Antenatal anxietyc) Antenatal alcoholuse	Pregnancy	a) CES-D (≥16) b) STAI (≥ 40) c) TWEAK (≥ 2)	a) 41.7% vs. 33.3% b) 29.2% vs. 26.7% c) 9.0% vs. 15.0%	High
Mah et al., 2017, Australia ⁵⁴	Prospective cohort	Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander (147)	N/A	Antenatal PTSD	1 st trimester	Impact of Event Scale - Revised	10.2%	High

Table 1b. Characteristics of Postnatal Studies.

Author, Year, Country	Study Design	Indigenous Group (n)	Comparison Group(s) (n)	Mental health outcomes	Time Point	Measure(s)	Effect Estimates: Indigenous vs. Comparison	Risk of Bias
Liu et al., 2018, USA ⁴⁷	Prospective cohort	Asian/Pacific Islander (463)	White (838), Hispanic (985), Black (724)	Postnatal depression	3.9 months postpartum (average)	PRAMS-3D	16.8% vs. 16.8%	Low
Liu et al., 2016, USA ⁴⁴	Prospective cohort	Asian/Pacific Islander (516)	White (799), Hispanic (596), Black (464)	Postnatal depression	9.3 weeks postpartum (average)	Two items from PHQ (depression and loss of interest)	7.6% vs. 9.5%	Low
Abbott & Williams, 2005, New Zealand ³⁶	Prospective cohort	Samoan (646), Tongan (285), Cook Islands Maor (227), Niuean (59), Other Pacific (47)	Non-Pacific (99)	Postnatal depression	6 weeks postpartum	EPDS (≥13)	16.1% vs. 21.2%	Low
Hayes et al., 2010, USA ⁴⁵	Prospective cohort	Hawaiian (1549), Other Pacific Islander (278), Samoan (165)	Filipino (1394), White (1345), Japanese (830), Chinese (775), Korean (340), Black (147), Hispanic (117), Other Asian (110), Other (101)	Postnatal depression	Early postpartum	Two items from PHQ (depression and loss of interest)	47.2% vs. 44.1%	High
Roberson et al., 2015, USA ⁴⁶	Prospective cohort	Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander (20851)	White (12813), Filipina (9922), Japanese (5191), Other Asian (4034), Other (2880)	Postnatal depression	3-4 months postpartum (average)	Hawaii PRAMS depression scale (≥10)	9.4% vs. 8.8%	High
Stock et al., 2012, Australia ³⁴	Cross-sectional	Indigenous (3)	Non-Indigenous (197)	Postnatal depression	3.6 months postpartum (average)	EPDS (≥13)	66.7% vs. 15.2%	High
Wei et al., 2008, USA ⁴⁸	Cross-sectional	Lumbee Tribe (305)	African-American (142), Hispanic (81), White (51), Non-Hispanic Other (7)	Postnatal depression	6 weeks postpartum	PDSS (≥ 60)	29.2% vs. 20.7%	High
Huang et al., 2007, USA ⁴²	Prospective cohort	American Indian (267), Asian and Pacific Islander (37)	Non-Hispanic White (3918), Non-Hispanic Black (1274), Hispanics	Postnatal depression	6-12 months postpartum	CES-D	47.4% vs. 41.5%	High

Ph.D. Thesis - S. Owais; McMaster University - Neuroscience

			(1246), Non-Hispanic Asians (918)					
Wang et al., 2003, China and Taiwan ⁴⁹	Cross-sectional	Aborigines – Pingtung County (99)	Taiwanese (210), Chinese (196)	Postnatal depression	6 weeks postpartum	BDI (≥10)	59.6% vs. 35.0%,	High
Sugarman et al., 1994, USA ⁴³	Cross-sectional	American Indian (444)	Black (3849), White (3489)	Postnatal depression	Up to 1 year postpartum	CES-D (≥16)	32.0% vs. 27.9%	High
Webster et al., 1994, New Zealand ³⁸	Cross-sectional	Maori (42)	European (163)	Postnatal depression	4 weeks postpartum	EPDS (≥13)	14.3% vs. 6.1%	High
Onoye et al., 2009, USA ³¹	Prospective cohort	Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander (22)	Asian (20), Caucasian (12)	 a) Postnatal depression b) Postnatal PTSD c) Postnatal anxiety d) Postnatal alcohol use 	4-8 weeks postpartum	a) CES-D (≥16) b) Traumatic Life Events Questionnaire + PTSD Checklist- Civilian c) STAI (≥40) d) TWEAK (≥2)	 a) 31.8% vs. 15.6% b) 4.5% vs. 0% c) 31.8% vs. 12.5% d) 9.1% vs. 15.6% 	High

Author, Year, Country	Study Design	Indigenous group (n)	Comparison Group(s) (n)	Mental Health Outcomes	Time Point	Measure(s)	Effect Estimates: Indigenous vs. Comparison	Risk of Bias
Becares & Atatoa, 2016, New Zealand ³⁷	Prospective cohort	Maori (1260), Pacific Islander (1029)	European (3265), Asian (1051)	a) Antenataldepressionb) Postnataldepression	3 rd trimester of pregnancy (average) 9 months postpartum	a) EPDS (≥13) b) EPDS (≥13)	 a) 24.5% vs. 12.2% b) 16.0% vs. 8.4% 	Low
Hayes et al., 2010, Australia ³³	Prospective cohort	Torres Strait Islander (92)	N/A	 a) Antenatal depression b) Postnatal depression c) Antenatal drug use d) Antenatal alcohol 	Pregnancy to postpartum (anytime)	 a) EPDS (≥13) b) EPDS (≥13) c), d) Demographic psychosocial assessment form 	 a) 37.8% b) 14.1% c) 15.0% d) 18.5% 	High

Table 1c. Characteristics of Combined Antenatal and Postnatal Studies.

If the study used specific cutoffs to define a mental health problem, they are provided in parentheses under the column "Measurement(s)." BDI = Beck Depression Inventory; CES-D = Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale; EPDS = Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale; *ICD-10-AM* = International Classification of Diseases Version 10 Australian Modification; PHQ = Patient Health Questionnaire; N/A = not applicable; PDSS = Postpartum Depression Screening Scale; PRAMS-3D = Pregnancy Risk Assessment Monitoring System-3 Depression questions; PTSD = post-traumatic stress disorder; SE = standard error; SMD = standardized mean difference; STAI = State-Trait Anxiety Inventory; TWEAK = Tolerance, Worry, Eye-opener, Amnesia, & Cut-down drinking.

^aAntenatal alcohol use was an outcome reported in a separate paper (also by Burns et al., 2006), but since both studies contained the same participants, we placed all outcomes together.

^bNumber of non-Aboriginal women who were depressed was not reported in the study.

^cAntenatal anxiety was an outcome reported in a separate paper (also by Bowen et al., 2008), but since both studies contained the same participants, we placed all outcomes together.

Risk of Bias and Quality Assessment

Of 26 studies, 16 were rated as having a high risk of bias (score \leq 4 on the NOS—please see Table S1 in Supplemental Material data). This was most frequently due to sample selection bias (i.e., ascertainment of exposure) and outcome measurement bias.

Publication Bias

The symmetrical pattern of the funnel plot formed around the *OR* of 1.7 is not suggestive of publication bias (see Figure 2). Further, formal statistical tests (i.e., Egger test) suggest that symmetry exists in the funnel plot (P = 0.79) and also supports an absence of publication bias.

Primary Analysis

When all types of mental health problems were considered, Indigenous identity was associated with 62% higher odds of experiencing such a problem than non-Indigenous women (OR 1.62; 95% CI, 1.25 to 2.11; see Figure 3).

Subgroup Analyses

Type of mental health problem. Drug or alcohol use problems had the highest *OR* of all problems (*OR* 3.30; 95% CI, 2.02 to 5.40; Figure 3), followed by depression (*OR* 1.38; 95% CI, 1.15

to 1.65) and anxiety (*OR* 1.37; 95% CI, 1.04 to 1.80). *ORs* for PTSD were not higher in Indigenous than non-Indigenous women but were based on just two studies. Indigenous women were less likely to have panic disorder (*OR* 0.30; 95% CI, 0.09 to 0.97), although this is only based on a single study. *Reproductive stage*. Indigenous women were found to be at elevated risk of developing mental health problems during pregnancy (*OR* 1.79; 95% CI, 1.23 to 2.59) and the postpartum period (*OR* 1.34; 95% CI, 1.12 to 1.60).

Country of study. In every country (Canada, United States, New Zealand, Australia, and Taiwan), Indigenous women manifested increased odds of any mental health problem relative to non-Indigenous women.

Sensitivity Analyses

Methodological risk of bias. Including only studies with a low risk of bias produced a comparable effect estimate (*OR* 1.59; 95% CI, 1.04 to 2.44) to our primary analysis containing all eligible studies (*OR* 1.62; 95% CI, 1.25 to 2.11).

Younger Indigenous participants. When analyses were restricted to only studies that reported Indigenous perinatal participants were younger than their non-Indigenous counterparts, the size of the *OR* for Indigenous women increased to 1.86 (95% CI, 1.51 to 2.28).

Severity of illness. Five studies categorized their participants according to varying levels of severity of mental health problem (i.e., at risk/mild, moderate, severe; Figure 4). The odds of mild perinatal mental health problems among Indigenous women were not increased (*OR* 1.78; 95% CI, 0.31 to 1.97), nor were they when studies examined problems of moderate severity (*OR* 1.58; 95% CI, 0.77 to 3.26). However, Indigenous women were nearly twice as likely to manifest a severe mental health problem (*OR* 1.95; 95% CI, 1.21 to 3.16).

53



Figure 1. Flowchart displaying the number of articles identified, screened, deemed eligible, and included in the systematic review and meta-analysis.



Figure 2: Funnel plot with a symmetrical pattern and an effect estimate about 1.7, suggesting an absence of publication bias

	Indigenous		Non-Indigenous		Odds Ratio		Odds Ratio
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% Cl	M-H, Random, 95% Cl
1.3.1 Depression							
Abbott & Williams 2006	203	1264	21	99	3.6%	0.71 [0.43, 1.18]	
Becares & Atatoa 2016 Postnatal depression	365	2289	363	4316	4.1%	2.07 [1.77, 2.41]	-
Becares & Atatoa-Carr 2016 Prenatal depression	562	2289	527	4316	4.2%	2.34 [2.05, 2.67]	
Bowen 2008 Depression	82	256	36	134	3.7%	1.28 [0.81, 2.04]	
Gavin 2011 Depression	16	273	87	1724	3.6%	1.17 [0.68, 2.03]	
Goebert 2007 Depression	10	24	20	60	2.7%	1.43 [0.54, 3.78]	
Hayes 2010	941	1992	2276	5159	4.2%	1.13 [1.02, 1.26]	+
Huang 2007	144	304	3051	7356	4.1%	1.27 [1.01, 1.60]	
Liu 2016	39	516	176	1859	3.9%	0.78 [0.54, 1.12]	
Liu 2018	78	463	428	2547	4.0%	1.00 [0.77, 1.31]	+
Onoye 2009 Depression	7	22	5	32	2.1%	2.52 [0.68, 9.34]	
Roberson 2016	1963	20851	3085	34840	4.2%	1.07 [1.01, 1.14]	
Shah 2011	40	128	71	256	3.7%	1.18 [0.75, 1.88]	
Signal 2017 Depression	91	406	113	738	4.0%	1.60 [1.17, 2.17]	
Stock 2013	2	3	30	197	0.9%	11.13 [0.98, 126.68]	
Sugarman 1994	142	444	2045	7338	4.1%	1.22 [0.99, 1.50]	
Wang 2003	59	99	142	406	3.7%	2.74 [1.75, 4.30]	
Webster 1994	6	42	10	163	2.5%	2.55 [0.87, 7.47]	
Subtotal (05% CI)	89	305	58	280	3.9%	1.58 [1.08, 2.31]	
Tatal suggits	1000	21910	10511	/ 1820	07.1%	1.30 [1.15, 1.65]	
Hotai events Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.11; Chi ² = 192.63, df = 18 (F Test for overall effect: Z = 3.51 (P = 0.0005)	4839 < 0.0000	01); l² = 9	12544				
132 Anviety							
Goobert 2007 Anviety	7	24	16	60	2.5%	1 1 2 10 40 2 241	
Onove 2009 Anviety	7	24	10	22	1 0 %	2 27 10 22 12 021	
Signal 2017 Anviety	102	406	149	739	1.0%	1 24 [1 00 1 79]	
Subtotal (95% Cl)	102	452	140	830	8.5%	1.37 [1.04, 1.80]	•
Total events	116		168		01070		
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.00; Chi ² = 1.68, df = 2 (P = 0 Test for overall effect: Z = 2.27 (P = 0.02)).43); I ^z =	0%	100				
133PTSD							
Morland 2007	0	20	0	61	2 606	1 72 10 62 4 941	
Opove 2009 PTSD	0	22	3	22	1 006	5 52 11 27 24 091	
Subtotal (95% CI)	0	61	5	93	4.4%	2 73 [0 90 8 29]	
Total events	17	•.	12			211 0 [0100] 0120]	
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.25; Chi ² = 1.60, df = 1 (P = 0 Test for overall effect: Z = 1.77 (P = 0.08)	0.21); l² =	38%	12				
1.3.4 Panic							
Gavin 2011 Panic	3	273	61	1724	2.3%	0.30 [0.09, 0.97]	
Subtotal (95% CI)		273		1724	2.3%	0.30 [0.09, 0.97]	
Total events	3		61				
Heterogeneity: Not applicable Test for overall effect: Z = 2.01 (P = 0.04)							
1.3.5 Current Drug/Alcohol Use							
Bowen 2008 Alcohol Lise	24	255	0	125	3 1 04	215/100 4 64	
Powen 2008 Drug Lice	34	200	9	135	3.1%	2.15 [1.00, 4.04]	
Burns 2006 Alcohol Lise	70	205	205	207140	J. 0 %	7 01 (6 11 10 20)	· · · · ·
Burns 2000 Action Use	520	0000	4194	207640	4.0%	4 45 14 06 4 00	-
Goebert 2007 Alcohol Lise	000	24	4104	201049	1.6%	9.90 [9.00, 9.00]	
Onove 2009 Alcohol Use	2	24	5	32	1.5%	0.52 [0.10, 2.30]	
Subtotal (95% CI)	2	18509	5	595151	17.7%	3.30 [2.02, 5.40]	•
Total events	708		4523			ener Interiori	
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.23; Chi ² = 35.82, df = 5 (P < Test for overall effect: Z = 4.76 (P < 0.00001)	0.00001)	; I² = 869	4323				
Total (95% CI)		51265		669618	100.0%	1.62 [1.25, 2, 11]	▲
Total evente	6600	51205	17200	303010	100.070	1.02 [1.20, 2.11]	•
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.43; Chi ² = 989.96, df = 30 (F Test for overall effect; Z = 3.61 (P = 0.0003) Test for subgroup differences: Chi ² = 19.35, df = 4 (9 < 0.0000 P = 0.000	01); l² = 9 7), l² = 7!	7%				0.01 0.1 1 10 100 Favours (Non-Indigenous) Favours (Indigenous)

Figure 3. Perinatal mental problem among Indigenous and non-Indigenous women by type of problem.

	Indigenous		Non-Indig	enous		Odds Ratio	Odds Ratio
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% CI	M-H, Random, 95% Cl
1.12.1 Mild/At Risk							
Goebert 2007	11	24	27	60	7.7%	1.03 [0.40, 2.68]	
Hayes 2010	591	5159	1599	5159	9.6%	0.29 [0.26, 0.32]	
Huang 2007	88	304	1829	7356	9.5%	1.23 [0.96, 1.59]	
Onoye 2009	3	22	7	32	6.1%	0.56 [0.13, 2.47] 4	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
Wang 2003	31	99	102	406	9.1%	1.36 [0.84, 2.20]	
Subtotal (95% CI)		5608		13013	41.9%	0.78 [0.31, 1.97]	
Total events	724		3564				
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =	= 0.98; Chi	² = 141	.50, df = 4	(P < 0.000	001); ² = !	97%	
Test for overall effect	Z = 0.52 ((P = 0.6	0)				
1.12.2 Moderate							
Huang 2007	35	304	748	7356	9.3%	1.15 (0.80, 1.65)	
Wang 2003	16	99	30	406	8.6%	2.42 [1.26, 4.64]	
Subtotal (95% CI)		403		7762	17.9%	1.58 [0.77, 3.26]	
Total events	51		778				
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =	= 0.20; Chi	² = 3.83	3, df = 1 (P =	= 0.05); 12	= 74%		
Test for overall effect	Z=1.25 ((P = 0.2	1)				
1.12.3 Severe							
Goebert 2007	6	24	9	60	7.0%	1.89 (0.59, 6.05)	
Haves 2010	350	1992	676	5159	9.6%	1.41 [1.23, 1.63]	
Huang 2007	23	304	477	7356	9.2%	1.18 [0.76, 1.82]	
Onove 2009	9	22	4	32	6.5%	4.85 [1.26, 18.68]	·
Wang 2003	12	99	10	406	8.0%	5.46 [2.29, 13.05]	
Subtotal (95% CI)		2441		13013	40.2%	1.95 [1.21, 3.16]	
Total events	400		1176				
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =	= 0.17; Chi	² =13.1	16, df = 4 (F	e = 0.01);	² = 70%		
Test for overall effect	Z = 2.72 ((P = 0.0	06)				
Total (95% CI)		8452		33788	100.0%	1.37 [0.75, 2.49]	
Total events	1175		5518				
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =	= 0.96: Chi	² = 453	.65. df = 11	(P < 0.00	0001): l ² =	- 98%	
Test for overall effect	Z= 1.04 (P = 0.3	0)				0.2 0.5 1 2 5
Test for subgroup dif	ferences:	Chi ² = 2	2.95. df = 2	(P = 0.23)), $ ^2 = 32.3$	3%	Favours [Non-Indigenous] Favours [Indigenous]

Figure 4. Perinatal mental problem among Indigenous and non-Indigenous women by severity.

Narrative Synthesis

Antenatal drug or alcohol use. Hayes et al. (2010) found that 15.0% and 18.5% of Indigenous women self-reported any drug and alcohol use, respectively, during pregnancy.³³ For context, antenatal drug and alcohol use among the general pregnant population ranges from 3.7% to 4.3% and 5.4% to 11.6%, respectively.⁵⁵

Antenatal depression. Three of the five studies not eligible for meta-analysis reported data on prevalence rates of antenatal depression among Indigenous women from the United States⁴¹ and Australia.^{33,35} Hayes et al followed a group of 92 women who identified as Torres Strait Islanders and found that 37.8% of these women reported antenatal depression using the EPDS.³³ Dodgson et al. (2014) examined Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander women with and
without antenatal PTSD and found antenatal depression prevalence rates of 31.7% among all women using the CES-D.⁴¹ Finally, Buist and Bilszta (2005) conducted a cross-sectional study with 611 antenatal women identifying as Aboriginal Strait Islanders and found that 19% of them endorsed symptoms of antenatal depression through the EPDS.³⁵

Antenatal anxiety. Bowen et al. (2008) conducted a prospective cohort study with 389 pregnant women from Canada (255 identifying as Aboriginal) and found no significant differences in antenatal anxiety between the two groups using the EPDS Anxiety subscale.⁵²

Antenatal PTSD. Mah and colleagues conducted a cross-sectional study with 147 antenatal women from Australia identifying as Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander and reported antenatal PTSD prevalence rates of 10.2% using the Impact of Events Scale–Revised.⁵⁴ Dodgson et al. (2014) found antenatal PTSD prevalence rates at 37.7% using the Primary Care PTSD Screen.⁴¹ In the general perinatal population, antenatal PTSD rates are 3.3%.⁵⁶

Postnatal depression. Hayes et al. (2010) reported that 14% of their sample expressed postnatal depressive symptoms, as assessed by an EPDS score $\geq 13.^{33}$

Overall, rates for depression and PTSD were similar to ones reported in the metaanalysis while anxiety rates were higher in the meta-analyzed studies, and drug/alcohol use rates were lower in studies contained in our meta-analysis.

Discussion

This systematic review and meta-analysis suggests that Indigenous women are at increased risk of mental health problems across the perinatal period, particularly depression, anxiety, and substance misuse. When analyses are limited to higher levels of symptoms and younger Indigenous perinatal women, odds in Indigenous women are higher still. These findings are consistent with a recent Canadian study (that was not eligible for this review) that showed that postpartum depression rates were higher in First Nations (12.9%), Inuit (10.6%), and Métis (9.1%) women compared to their non-Indigenous peers (5.6%).⁵⁷ Using the same data, another group reported that Indigenous women were twice as likely to have postpartum depression compared to their non-Indigenous peers (*OR* 2.11; 95% CI, 1.44 to 3.09).⁵⁸

However, previous meta-analyses on the mental health of Indigenous males and females of a wide range of ages living in the Americas, Australia, and New Zealand suggested that the prevalence of mental health problems is generally not increased relative to non-Indigenous groups, and in some cases, may even be lower.^{59,60} These findings have been hypothesized to be due to the resiliency and cultural teachings of Indigenous peoples. Despite colonization and its ongoing effects, assimilation efforts, and current systematic racism hindering their quality of life, Indigenous peoples across the globe have shown profound resilience, particularly because of connectedness to traditional land and culture.^{59,61} In fact, studies have shown that the more involved a community is with their culture (e.g., cultural facilities, self-governance), the lower the suicide rate in that community.⁶² Indigenous peoples have faced unique social origins of mental health problems including a collective history of forced displacement, colonization, and dissolution of traditional family units (e.g., Indian Residential Schools, Sixties Scoop, Stolen Generation), combined with present-day systematic oppression, racism, forced evacuation birthing for Indigenous women living in remote and Northern areas of Canada, and high rates of intimate partner violence (up to 45 times more than their non-Indigenous counterparts).⁶³⁻⁶⁵ Given these numerous structural disadvantages, it may be surprising that our reported rates of mental health problems are not higher.

The reasons for discrepancies between what might be expected based on high rates of exposure to adversities and reported risks of mental health problems are not well understood. Of relevance to perinatal psychopathology, in some Indigenous spiritualities, pregnancy is viewed as a sacred journey and gift from the Creator.⁶⁶ During this time, women are taught to honor their traditional teachings and immerse themselves in positive and good thoughts as these are a medicine for herself and her baby.⁶⁷ Therefore, perinatal Indigenous women may receive a greater level of support from their communities during this time which may, in part, protect against the development or recurrence of perinatal mental health problems.

Certainly, this review suggests that Indigenous women are at increased risk of psychopathology in the perinatal period. However, subgroup and sensitivity analyses suggest that rates may actually be even higher. Our sensitivity analysis showed that the odds were even higher in young Indigenous mothers (OR 1.86; 95% CI, 1.51 to 2.28) relative to when all Indigenous women were included (OR 1.62; 95% CI, 1.25 to 2.11). Regardless, methodological limitations present in many extant studies particularly limitations in sampling, measurement, and Indigenous engagement may affect the size of detected effects.

Indeed, 18 of the 26 studies eligible for this review employed convenience sampling to recruit participants and most studies were small and enrolled participants mainly recruited from tertiary care centers, potentially limiting the representativeness of their samples. A number of other studies specifically recruited women who were socioeconomically disadvantaged as control participants, potentially leading to overestimates of mental health problems in non-Indigenous comparison groups.^{39,40,48,52}

Limitations in existing measures, particularly their lack of cultural validity, could also affect effect estimates. Of the 26 studies, 24 reviewed used self-report measures, mainly

questionnaires that have not been validated in Indigenous women (i.e., BDI, STAI, CES-D, or PHQ). The expression of poor mental health can vary from culture to culture. For instance, research has shown that some Indigenous groups may express depression as anger or somatic symptoms.⁶⁸ Using measurements normed primarily in Caucasian groups runs the risk of underestimating the prevalence of perinatal mental health problems in Indigenous women. Further, the scales used in the studies have not been formally validated in Indigenous teenagers despite research showing that Indigenous mothers tend to be younger and more likely to be teenagers.²⁷ To our knowledge, there are no validation studies for these scales (e.g., BDI, CES-D, EPDS, PHQ, STAI) conducted exclusively in Indigenous teenagers. This further limits our interpretation of the data, as symptom expression and illness severity may be different in teenagers compared to their older counterparts. Even questionnaires that have been previously validated may have limitations as these validation studies were completed using small samples and showed only poor predictive validity for mental health problems in Indigenous women.⁶⁹⁻⁷² Just two studies in this meta-analysis utilized structured diagnostic interviews, the gold standard for assessing psychiatric disorders. Consistent with our subgroup analyses relating to disorder severity, the two studies that utilized structured diagnostic interviews reported some of the highest ORs seen in this review (removing these two studies from the meta-analysis reduces the magnitude of our overall effect estimate from 1.62 [95% CI, 1.25 to 2.11] to 1.41 [95% CI, 1.20 to 1.66]). These findings suggest that mental health problems endorsed by Indigenous women may be better detected through clinical interviews and questionnaires that have been culturally validated and adapted.^{73,74} Although no structured diagnostic interview (i.e., The Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview, Structured Clinical Interview for DSM Disorders) has specifically been validated in Indigenous populations, studies have highlighted the cultural acceptability with these structured⁷³ or semi-structured interviews.⁷⁴

A lack of Indigenous consultation and collaboration in included studies is another factor that could affect the size of effect estimates. Indeed, only 5 of the 26 studies employed Indigenous research methodologies^{29,33} or had Indigenous research team members that interacted with participants.^{36,42,54} Working with Indigenous researchers, clinicians, actors, and leaders would promote the inclusion of appropriate measurements, outcomes, and methodological design in such studies. For example, while no studies specifically examined Inuit women, it is well-known that pregnant women living in Northern and remote locations in Canada must be evacuated (by themselves) to a larger city in order to deliver their baby.⁷⁵ Research has elucidated the isolation, depression, and loss of control that these new mothers face without their family and friends nearby.⁷⁵ Such negative birthing experiences certainly contribute to poor maternal mental health, yet were not highlighted in any of the studies in our review. Actively seeking and involving Inuit actors and leaders from study inception may circumvent such methodological problems in future research. Further, given past medical research atrocities involving Indigenous groups, participants may not have been as open or trusting of non-Indigenous researchers which may have led to decreased reporting of problems overall (including those relating to mental health). Relatedly, Indigenous women who have greater trust in Western settler researchers may have been more likely to participate and been healthier, which contributed to underestimates in prevalence rates.^{76,77}

Future Directions

To develop accurate estimates of Indigenous perinatal mental health problems, future research should aim to address methodological issues surrounding sampling, measurement, and Indigenous inclusion, as described earlier. Such research will help optimize screening

processes, the proper allocation of resources, and elucidate the risk and resilience processes in Indigenous perinatal women and their families.

First, studies must aim to recruit representative samples. While convenience sampling is simpler, it can introduce biases that can lead to inaccurate estimates. The use of weighted samples can ensure that typically underrepresented populations (e.g., Métis women, women living on-reserve/ reservation) are appropriately represented. In Canada, most of the research in the field has focused on First Nations and Inuit, or generically, in Indigenous peoples compared to their non-Indigenous counterparts. There is also a need for disaggregated data when studying Indigenous populations, something that has been called a topic of primary importance by the United Nations Permanent Forum.²¹ Disaggregated data, which break down data into its component parts (e.g., sex, race, geographical district), are often lacking or even non-existent in Indigenous research, yet it can increase the utility and employment of data collection in different communities which are governed by different jurisdictions, healthcare systems, and cultures.²¹

Second, we propose that structured diagnostic interviews be adapted and validated to be culturally relevant and safe for Indigenous women to assess psychiatric problems. Cultural adaptation can include (a) capturing problems which may be specific to Indigenous peoples (i.e., wounded spirit), (b) asking about symptoms that may be endorsed differently (e.g., depression endorsed as anger), (c) understanding the social origins of mental health (e.g., forced geographic displacement, colonization, dissolution of traditional family units), or (d) employing methods guided by Indigenous knowledge, such as storytelling in clinical interviews.^{76,78} Given that the administration of diagnostic interviews comes with many barriers (i.e., must be done by a trained and qualified professional, time-consuming, often conducted in-person),

questionnaires must concurrently be adapted and validated so that accurate prevalence rates can be estimated in an efficient, barrier-free manner.

Third, Indigenous researchers, collaborators, communities, and related allies need to be involved in all stages of projects examining perinatal mental health problems in Indigenous women. Research groups working with First Nations should employ research standards that adhere to the ownership, control, access, and possession (OCAP) principle, which provide First Nations with OCAP of the data being collected.⁷⁹ Employing the "nothing about us without us" principle will provide these communities with the empowerment, capacity, and resources to make changes that can benefit their own community members and future generations.^{21,80}

Limitations

In addition to limitations in sampling, measurement, and Indigenous inclusion, limitations of studies included in the review warrant mention. First, over half (16/26) were assessed to have a high risk of methodological bias. Second, none of the studies sampled women living on-reserve/reservation, which limits our full understanding of the prevalence of perinatal mental health problems among Indigenous women. Third, some studies had a small sample of Indigenous women and thus were not adequately powered to detect differences in their primary outcome. Fourth, gray literature was not searched. Finally, we were not able to report adjusted *OR*s as 15 of the included studies failed to adjust for risk factors between Indigenous and non-Indigenous women.

Conclusion

The present review suggests that Indigenous identity increases the risk of developing a perinatal mental health problem by 62%. In order to most accurately detect and treat perinatal

mental health problems in Indigenous women, future studies must utilize representative samples, adapt and validate assessment methods to establish cultural equivalency, and engage Indigenous communities and allies under the OCAP research standard to reduce the impact of mental health problems on women, their children, and future generations.

References

- Fisher J, Cabral de Mello M, Patel V, et al. Prevalence and determinants of common perinatal mental disorders in women in low- and lower-middle-income countries: a systematic review. Bull World Health Organ. 2012;90(2):139G-149G.
- Stein A, Pearson RM, Goodman SH, et al. Effects of perinatal mental disorders on the fetus and child. Lancet. 2014; 384(9956):1800-1819.
- 3. Goodman JH. Paternal postpartum depression, its relationship to maternal postpartum depression, and implications for family health. J Adv Nurs. 2004;45(1):26-35.
- Bauer A, Parsonage M, Knapp M, Iemmi V, Adelaja B. The costs of perinatal mental health problems. London (UK): Centre for Mental Health and London School of Economics; 2014.
- 5. Biaggi A, Conroy S, Pawlby S, Pariante CM. Identifying the women at risk of antenatal anxiety and depression: a systematic review. J Affect Disord. 2016;191:62-77.
- Khazaie H, Ghadami MR, Knight DC, Emamian F, Tahmasian M. Insomnia treatment in the third trimester of pregnancy reduces postpartum depression symptoms: a randomized clinical trial. Psychiatry Res. 2013;210(3):901-905.
- Posmontier B. Sleep quality in women with and without postpartum depression. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs. 2008; 37(6):722-737.
- Chmielowska M, Fuhr DC. Intimate partner violence and mental ill health among global populations of Indigenous women: a systematic review. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. 2017; 52(6):689-704.
- Choi KW, Sikkema KJ, Vythilingum B, et al. Maternal childhood trauma, postpartum depression, and infant outcomes: avoidant affective processing as a potential mechanism. J Affect Disord. 2017;211:107-115.

- 10. Nelson SE, Wilson K. The mental health of Indigenous peoples in Canada: a critical review of research. Soc Sci Med. 2017; 176:93-112.
- Indigenous Populations. World Health Organization. 2019 [accessed December 7, 2018]. https://www.who.int/topics/ health_services_indigenous/en/.
- 12. Phillips-Beck W, Sinclair S, Campbell R, et al. Early-life origins of disparities in chronic diseases among Indigenous youth: pathways to recovering health disparities from intergenerational trauma. J Dev Orig Health Dis. 2019;10(1):115-22.
- 13. Bowen A, Duncan V, Peacock S, et al. Mood and anxiety problems in perinatal Indigenous women in Australia, New Zealand, Canada, and the United States: a critical review of the literature. Transcult Psychiatry. 2014;51(1):93-111.
- 14. Gibberd AJ, Simpson JM, Jones J, Williams R, Stanley F, Eades SJ. A large proportion of poor birth outcomes among Aboriginal Western Australians are attributable to smoking, alcohol and substance misuse, and assault. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2019;19(1):110.
- 15. Kaplan SD, Lanier AP, Merritt RK, Siegel PZ. Prevalence of tobacco use among Alaska natives: a review. Prev Med. 1997; 26(4):460-465.
- 16. Government Commits \$4.7B to Indigenous Funding in 2018 Budget. Ottawa, Canada: CTV News; 2018 [accessed January 9, 2019]. https://www.ctvnews.ca/politics/government-com mits-4-7b-to-indigenous-funding-in-2018-budget-1.3821350.
- Message from Dr. Carrie Bourassa: IIPH moves to the University of Saskatchewan.
 Canadian Institutes of Health Research; September 7, 2018 [accessed January 9, 2019].
 http://www.cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/51138.html.

- 18. Moher D, Shamseer L, Clarke M, et al. Preferred reporting items for systematic review and meta-analysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015 statement. Syst Rev. 2015;4:1.
- Stroup DF, Berlin JA, Morton SC, et al. Meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology: a proposal for reporting. Meta-analysis Of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) group. JAMA. 2000;283(15):2008-2012.
- 20. United Nations. Indigenous Peoples at the UN; c2019. [accessed January 24, 2019]. https://www.un.org/develop ment/desa/indigenouspeoples/about-us.html.
- United Nations. Data and indicators. Data collection and disaggregation for Indigenous Peoples; 2019 [accessed January 24, 2019].

https://www.un.org/development/desa/indigenous peoples/mandated-areas1/data-and-indicators.html.

- 22. O'Hara MW, McCabe JE. Postpartum depression: current status and future directions.Annu Rev Clin Psychol. 2013;9: 379-407.
- 23. Ottawa Hospital Research Institute. The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for assessing the quality of nonrandomised studies in meta-analyses. Ottawa, Canada: Ottawa Hospital Research Institute; 2019 [accessed December 3, 2019]. http://www.ohri.ca/programs/clinical_epidemiology/oxford. asp.
- 24. Higgins JPT, Green S (editors). Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions Version 5.1.0 [updated March 2011]. The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. www.handbook. cochrane.org.
- Pearlstein T, Howard M, Salisbury A, Zlotnick C. Postpartum depression. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2009;200(4):357-364.
- 26. Field T. Prenatal depression risk factors, developmental effects and interventions: a review. J Pregnancy Child Health. 2017; 4(1):301.

- 27. Boulet V, Badets N. Early motherhood among off-reserve First Nations, Métis and Inuit women. Statistics Canada. 2017 [accessed July 2, 2019]. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/ pub/75-006-x/2017001/article/54877-eng.htm.
- Chiu M. Ethnic differences in mental health and race-based data collection. Healthc Q. 2017;20(3):6-9.
- 29. Signal TL, Paine SJ, Sweeney B, et al. The prevalence of symptoms of depression and anxiety, and the level of life stress and worry in New Zealand Maori and non-Maori women in late pregnancy. Aust N Z J Psychiatry. 2017;51(2):168-176.
- 30. Goebert D, Morland L, Frattarelli L, Onoye J, Matsu C. Mental health during pregnancy: a study comparing Asian, Caucasian and Native Hawaiian women. Matern Child Health J. 2007; 11(3):249-255.
- 31. Onoye JM, Goebert D, Morland L, Matsu C, Wright T. PTSD and postpartum mental health in a sample of Caucasian, Asian, and Pacific Islander women. Arch Womens Ment Health. 2009;12(6):393-400.
- 32. Gavin AR, Melville JL, Rue T, Guo Y, Dina KT, Katon WJ. Racial differences in the prevalence of antenatal depression. Gen Hosp Psychiatry. 2011;33(2):87-93.
- 33. Hayes BA, Campbell A, Buckby B, Geia LK, Egan ME. The interface of mental and emotional health and pregnancy in urban indigenous women: research in progress. Infant Ment Health J. 2010;31(3):277-290.
- 34. Stock A, Chin L, Babl FE, Bevan CA, Donath S, Jordan B. Postnatal depression in mothers bringing infants to the emergency department. Arch Dis Child. 2013;98(1):36-40.

- 35. Buist A, Bilszta J. The beyondblue national postnatal depression program; 2005:p. 1-108. https://www.beyondblue.org.au/ docs/default-source/8.-perinataldocuments/bw0075-report- beyondblue-national-research-program-vol2.pdf?sfvrsn¹/₄2.
- 36. Abbott MW, Williams MM. Postnatal depressive symptoms among Pacific mothers in Auckland: prevalence and risk factors. Aust N Z J Psychiatry. 2006;40(3):230-238.
- 37. Becares L., Atatoa-Carr P. The association between maternal and partner experienced racial discrimination and prenatal perceived stress, prenatal and postnatal depression: findings from the growing up in New Zealand cohort study. Int J Equity Health. 2016;15(1):1-12.
- Webster ML, Thompson JM, Mitchell EA, Werry JS. Postnatal depression in a community cohort. Aust N Z J Psychiatry. 1994;28(1):42-49.
- 39. Bowen A, Stewart N, Baetz M, Muhajarine N. Antenatal depression in socially high-risk women in Canada. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2009;63(5):414-416.
- 40. Shah SMA, Bowen A, Afridi I, Nowshad G, Muhajarine N. Prevalence of antenatal depression: comparison between Pakistani and Canadian women. J Pak Med Assoc. 2011; 61(3):242-246.
- 41. Dodgson JE, Oneha MF, Choi M. A socioecological predication model of posttraumatic stress disorder in low-income, high-risk prenatal native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander Women. J Midwifery Womens Health. 2014;59(5):494-502.
- 42. Huang ZJ, Wong FY, Ronzio CR, Yu SM. Depressive symptomatology and mental health help-seeking patterns of U.S. and foreign-born mothers. Matern Child Health J. 2007;11(3): 257-267.

- 43. Sugarman JR, Brenneman G, LaRoque W, Warren CW, Goldberg HI. The urban American Indian oversample in the 1988 national maternal and infant health survey. Public Health Rep. 1994;109(2):243-250.
- 44. Liu CH, Giallo R, Doan SN, Seidman LJ, Tronick E. Racial and ethnic differences in prenatal life stress and postpartum depression symptoms. Arch Psychiatr Nurs. 2016;30(1):7-12.
- 45. Hayes DK, Ta VM, Hurwitz EL, Mitchell-Box KM, Fuddy LJ. Disparities in selfreported postpartum depression among Asian, Hawaiian, and Pacific Islander Women in Hawaii: pregnancy risk assessment monitoring system (PRAMS), 2004-2007. Matern Child Health J. 2010;14(5):765-773.
- 46. Roberson EK, Hurwitz EL, Li D, Cooney RV, Katz AR, Collier AC. Depression, anxiety, and pharmacotherapy around the time of pregnancy in Hawaii. Int J Behav Med. 2016;23(4, SI):515-526.
- 47. Liu CH, Phan J, Yasui M, Doan S. Prenatal life events, maternal employment, and postpartum depression across a diverse population in New York city. Community Ment Health J. 2018; 54(4):410-419.
- 48. Wei G, Greaver LB, Marson SM, Herndon CH, Rogers J; Robeson Healthcare Corporation. Postpartum depression: racial differences and ethnic disparities in a triracial and bi-ethnic population. Matern Child Health J. 2008;12(6):699-707.
- 49. Wang S, Jiang Y, Jan W, Chen C. A comparative study of postnatal depression and its predictors in Taiwan and mainland China. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2003;189(5):1407-1412.
- Burns L, Mattick RP, Cooke M. The use of record linkage to examine illicit drug use in pregnancy. Addict Abingdon Engl. 2006;101(6):873-882.

- Burns L, Mattick RP, Cooke M. Use of record linkage to examine alcohol use in pregnancy. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2006;30(4):642-648.
- 52. Bowen A, Bowen R, Maslany G, Muhajarine N. Anxiety in a socially high-risk sample of pregnant women in Canada. Can J Psychiatry. 2008;53(7):435-440.
- 53. Morland L, Goebert D, Onoye J, et al. Posttraumatic stress disorder and pregnancy health: preliminary update and implications. Psychosomatics. 2007;48(4):304-308.
- 54. Mah B, Weatherall L, Burrows J, et al. Post-traumatic stress disorder symptoms in pregnant Australian Indigenous women residing in rural and remote New South Wales: a cross-sectional descriptive study. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol. 2017;57(5):520-525.
- 55. Chapman SLC, Wu LT. Postpartum substance use and depressive symptoms: a review.Women Health. 2013;53(5):479-503.
- 56. Yildiz PD, Ayers S, Phillips L. The prevalence of posttraumatic stress disorder in pregnancy and after birth: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect Disord. 2017;208: 634-645. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2016.10.009.
- 57. Nelson C, Lawford KM, Otterman V, Darling EK. Mental health indicators among pregnant Aboriginal women in Canada: results from the Maternity Experiences Survey. Health Promot Chronic Dis Prev Can. 2018;38(7-8):269-276 [Article in English, French; Abstract available in French from the publisher].
- 58. Daoud N, O'Brien K, O'Campo P, et al. Postpartum depression prevalence and risk factors among Indigenous, non-Indigenous and immigrant women in Canada. Can J Public Health. 2019; 110(4):440-452.
- 59. Kisely S, Alichniewicz KK, Black EB, Siskind D, Spurling G, Toombs M. The prevalence of depression and anxiety disorders in indigenous people of the Americas: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Psychiatr Res. 2017;84:137-152.

- 60. Black E, Kisely S, Alichniewicz K, Toombs M. Mood and anxiety disorders in Australia and New Zealand's indigenous populations: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Psychiatry Res. 2017;255:128-138.
- 61. Hatala AR, Pearl T, Bird-Naytowhow K, Judge A, Sjoblom E, Liebenberg L. "I Have Strong Hopes for the Future": Time orientations and resilience among Canadian Indigenous Youth. Qual Health Res. 2017;27(9):1330-1344.
- 62. Kirmayer L, Simpson C, Cargo M. Healing traditions: culture, community and mental health promotion with Canadian Aboriginal peoples. Australas Psychiatry. 2003;11(s1): S15-S23.
- 63. Bombay A, Matheson K, Anisman H. The intergenerational effects of Indian Residential Schools: implications for the concept of historical trauma. Transcult Psychiatry. 2014;51(3): 320-338.
- 64. Questions and Answers about Aboriginal & Torres Strait Islander Peoples. Australian Human Rights Commission; December 14, 2012 [accessed January 24, 2019]. https://www.human rights.gov.au/publications/questions-and-answers-about-aboriginaltorres-strait-islander-peoples
- 65. Petchkovsky L, Roque CS, Jurra RN, et al. Indigenous maps of subjectivity and attacks on linking: forced separation and its psychiatric sequelae in Australia's stolen generation. Aust E J Adv Ment Health. 2004;3(3):113-128.
- 66. Ontario's Maternal Newborn and Early Child Development Resource Centre. Beginning Journey: First Nations Pregnancy Resource; 2013:p. 1-115. https://resources.beststart.org/wp- content/uploads/2018/12/E33-A.pdf.

67. Perinatal Services BC. Our Sacred Journey Aboriginal Pregnancy Passport; 2015:p. 1-37. http://www.perinatalservicesbc.

ca/Documents/Resources/Aboriginal/AboriginalPregnancy Passport.pdf.

- 68. Thomas A, Cairney S, Gunthorpe W, Paradies Y, Sayers S. Strong Souls: development and validation of a culturally appropriate tool for assessment of social and emotional well-being in indigenous youth. Aust N Z J Psychiatry. 2010;44(1):40-48.
- 69. Clarke PJ. Validation of two postpartum depression screening scales with a sample of First Nations and Metis women. Can J Nurs Res. 2008;40(1):113-125.
- 70. Kubany ES, Leisen MB, Kaplan AS, et al. Development and preliminary validation of a brief broad-spectrum measure of trauma exposure: the traumatic life events questionnaire. Psychol Assess. 2000;12(2):210-224.
- 71. Lealaiauloto R, Bridgman G. Pacific Island postnatal distress. Auckland, New Zealand: Mental Health Foundation of Aotearoa/New Zealand, 1997.
- 72. Heck JL. Screening for postpartum depression in American Indian/Alaska Native women: a comparison of two instruments. Am Indian Alsk Native Ment Health Res Online. 2018;25(2):74-102.
- 73. Nasir BF, Toombs MR, Kondalsamy-Chennakesavan S, et al. Common mental disorders among Indigenous people living in regional, remote and metropolitan Australia: a crosssectional study. BMJ Open. 2018;8(6): e020196.
- 74. Esler D, Johnston F, Thomas D, Davis B. The validity of a depression screening tool modified for use with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. Aust N Z J Public Health. 2008; 32(4):317-321.

- 75. Lawford KM, Giles AR, Bourgeault IL. Canada's evacuation policy for pregnant First Nations women: resignation, resilience, and resistance. Women Birth. 2018;31(6):479-488.
- 76. Hyett S, Marjerrison S, Gabel C. Improving health research among Indigenous Peoples in Canada. CMAJ. 2018;190(20): E616-E621.
- 77. MacDonald NE, Stanwick R, Lynk A. Canada's shameful history of nutrition research on residential school children: the need for strong medical ethics in Aboriginal health research. Paediatr Child Health. 2014;19(2):64.
- 78. Caxaj CS. Indigenous storytelling and participatory action research: Allies toward decolonization? Reflections from the Peoples' International Health Tribunal. Glob Qual Nurs Res. 2015;2:1-12.
- 79. First Nations Information Governance Centre. Ownership, Control, Access, and Possession (OCAPTM): The Path to First Nations Information Governance; May 23, 2014 [accessed January 24, 2019]. https://fnigc.ca/sites/default/files/docs/ocap_ path_to_fn_information_governance_en_final.pdf.
- 80. Smylie J, Anderson M. Understanding the health of Indigenous peoples in Canada: key methodological and conceptual challenges. CMAJ. 2006;175(6):602.

Chapter 3: Prevalence and Determinants of Depression, Anxiety, and Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder Among Métis Pregnant Persons in Alberta: A Population-Based Cohort Study (Study 2)

Study 2 Overview

Title: Prevalence and Determinants of Depression, Anxiety, and Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder Among Métis Pregnant Persons in Alberta: A Population-Based Cohort Study Authors: Sawayra Owais, MSc, Maria B. Ospina, PhD, Jesus Serrano-Lomelin, PhD, Reagan Bartel, RN, MPH, Kelsey Bradburn, Ashton James, Ryan J. Van Lieshout, MD, PhD

Context and Overall Implications: Having identified that Indigenous perinatal individuals from around the world are at a greater risk for mental health challenges (Study 1), this study examines the risk in a Canadian context and with an underrepresented group in the Indigenous health literature: Métis. This study found that Métis pregnant persons living in Alberta were more likely to have depression, anxiety, and post-traumatic stress disorder during pregnancy compared to their age-matched non-Métis peers. Common determinants of both depression and anxiety among Métis pregnant persons included: pre-pregnancy medical conditions, smoking/alcohol use/recreational substance use during pregnancy, and living in an urban location. Taken together, findings from Studies 1 and 2 suggest that Indigenous perinatal individuals (including Métis pregnant persons) are more likely to have mental health challenges, and can inform the design of interventions which target modifiable risk factors.

Acknowledgements: We would like to acknowledge the Métis Nation of Alberta for their research partnership, helping generate the research questions, and aiding in data interpretation.

Conflicts of Interest: The author(s) declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to

the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Funding: The author(s) received no financial support for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

This manuscript has not yet been submitted to a peer-reviewed journal

Abstract

Background: Little is known about perinatal mental health and their determinants among the Métis, the second largest Indigenous group in Canada. We identified the prevalence and determinants of depression, anxiety, and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) among Métis pregnant persons in Alberta, Canada.

Methods: This was a retrospective population-based cohort study of singleton and multifetal live births in Alberta, Canada between April 1, 2006 to March 31, 2016. The Métis cohort was identified based on registration with the Métis Nation of Alberta. Linked administrative health databases were used to identify cases of depression, anxiety, and PTSD as well as their potential determinants among Métis pregnant persons. Multivariable logistic regression models statistically adjusted for important maternal and sociodemographic factors and generated adjusted risk ratios (aRR) with 95% confidence intervals (CI). Statistical significance was set at P < 0.05.

Results: Of the 495,457 live births identified during the study period, 8,163 (1.6%) were Métis. After adjusting for relevant maternal and sociodemographic factors, Métis pregnant persons were at a 47% (aRR 1.47, 95% CI 1.17, 1.85) and 36% (aRR 1.36, 95% CI 1.09, 1.70) increased risk for depression and anxiety, respectively, compared to non-Métis pregnant persons. PTSD cases were low among the Métis (n<20) precluding further analyses although prevalence was higher among Métis (0.07%, 95% CI 0.01%, 0.12%) than non-Métis (0.03%; 95% CI 0.02%, 0.04%) participants. Determinants common to both depression and anxiety among Métis pregnant persons included pre-pregnancy medical conditions, smoking/alcohol use/recreational substance use during pregnancy, and living in an urban location.

Conclusion: Métis pregnant persons are at an increased risk for having depression, anxiety, and PTSD during pregnancy. Researchers should partner with Métis communities and organizations to continue to identify targets for intervention to optimize the mental health of Métis pregnant persons and their families.

Keywords: Indigenous peoples; pregnancy; depressive disorder; anxiety disorders; stress disorders, post-traumatic

Introduction

Depression and anxiety are one of the most common mental health problems during pregnancy. Indeed, 7.1%¹ and 8.5%² of pregnant persons will be diagnosed with major depressive disorder and generalized anxiety disorder, respectively. Although, up to one in five individuals will experience sub-threshold depressive and anxiety symptoms during pregnancy.^{3,4} Post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) estimates are lower (3.3% during pregnancy), however these estimates increase to nearly 20% when examining high-risk samples (e.g., severe pregnancy complications, history of childhood abuse).⁵ Depression, anxiety, and PTSD are associated with a range of negative consequences for the pregnant person, offspring, and family, which can have impacts across the lifespan.⁶

In order to address perinatal mental health challenges and develop targets for intervention, risk factors should be identified. Common risk factors for depression, anxiety, and PTSD during pregnancy include low socioeconomic status,^{7–9} intimate partner violence,^{9–11} and chronic maternal health conditions.^{12,13} One group that faces disproportionate exposure to these risk factors are Métis pregnant persons. Métis, descendants of unions between First Nations women and European fur traders in the 1700s, are one of three Indigenous groups in Canada (with First Nations and Inuit being the other two). Métis have a unique heritage, culture, and language that is distinct from First Nations and Inuit. Today, there are nearly 625,000 Métis individuals across Canada, with the second-largest population residing in the province of Alberta (127,000).¹⁴

The enduring effects of colonialism have resulted in Métis pregnant persons facing a number of structural disadvantages (e.g., socioeconomic disadvantage, significant life stressors, and intergenerational trauma) which can increase the risk for mental health challenges.¹⁵

Moreover, Métis individuals face Métis-specific determinants of health which could further increase the risk. For instance, exclusion from historic treaties, subjection to the Scrip system (which resulted in widespread loss of Métis lands), exclusion from Non-Insured Health Benefits Program (that Status First Nations and Inuit are eligible for), experience of lateral violence from Indigenous colleagues, and discrimination and racism in mainstream healthcare can negatively influence well-being among Métis adults.¹⁶

Research has shown that Indigenous pregnant persons and birthing parents are at a 62% increased risk for experiencing perinatal mental health challenges.¹⁷ However, Métis-specific data are limited. Existing data have only focused on depression and found that Métis individuals that identified as women self-reported a higher prevalence of pre-existing depression¹⁸ and postpartum depressive symptoms¹⁹ compared to their non-Indigenous counterparts. While these studies have contributed to the small literature on Métis perinatal mental health, they may be subjected to participant selection and response bias which could limit the generalizability of results. More comprehensive data that reduces the reliance on self-report are needed to calculate prevalence estimates of depression, anxiety, and PTSD during pregnancy. Such data could contribute to accurate estimates of mental health challenges during pregnancy and establish benchmarks from which change can be measured and evidence-based policies can be developed.

The prevalence of perinatal mental health cannot be studied in isolation. Individual and social-environmental determinants of health can influence perinatal mental health, help identify intervention targets, and guide the development of culturally-appropriate treatments.²⁰ Identifying these determinants also aligns with the Métis definition of well-being which is conceptualized as a holistic interconnection between emotional, physical, and spiritual health.²¹

Only one study, to our knowledge, has identified determinants of perinatal mental health among Métis individuals that identified as women. Experiencing three or more stressful events, abuse, and low or no social support were associated with postpartum depressive symptoms among Métis birthing parents.¹⁸ While this study provides Métis-specific data, information on variables associated with mental disorders during pregnancy could allow for earlier intervention to reduce the burden of these challenges on the birthing parent and offspring.

The objectives of this study were two-fold: 1) To estimate the prevalence of depression, anxiety, and PTSD during pregnancy among the Métis in Alberta and compare these to non-Métis pregnant persons, and 2) To identify determinants of depression, anxiety, and PTSD during pregnancy among Métis pregnant persons.

Methods

Ethics statement

This study received ethics approval from the University of Alberta and was conducted in partnership with the Métis Nation of Alberta (MNA).

Study design and data sources

We conducted a retrospective cohort study of all live births (>22 weeks gestation) from singleton and multifetal pregnancies occurring in Alberta, Canada from 2006-2016. Alberta is the fourth most populous province and contains the second-largest Métis population in the country.¹⁴ The Métis consider Alberta as part of their Métis Nation Homeland and have historical ties to the province.²² Alberta is also the only province in Canada where Métis have self-governance and jurisdiction over their lands.²² We used the Alberta Perinatal Health Program (APHP) to identify births occurring in the province. The APHP is a validated registry

which contains maternal and newborn clinical and demographic information for every birth in Alberta that occurred in a hospital or was attended by a registered midwife at home. We used the Discharge Abstract Database and Alberta Physician Claims Assessment database to identify cases of depression, anxiety, and PTSD based on hospitalizations or physician claims according to ICD-9 and ICD-10-CA criteria. We used the Pampalon Material and Social Deprivation Index Dataset to assign an area-level socioeconomic status to the residential postal code at delivery. The MNA, the Alberta Health Analytics and Performance Reporting Branch, the APHP, and the Strategy for Patient Oriented Research Data Access Platform of the University of Alberta provided access to individual and anonymized data from the data repositories.

Exposure

Our exposure variable was Métis status. In this study, Métis (yes/no) was defined as being a member with the Métis Nation of Alberta during any period from 2006-2016. The MNA has approximately 46,000 members, the largest membership of all the Métis Nations across Canada.¹⁴ With additional probabilistic linkage with the Alberta Health Care Insurance Plan registry for kin ties, the identification and linkage of approximate 64,000 Métis (Métis Nation of Alberta members and non-members) is feasible. Probabilistic linkage is a wellvalidated approach to linking databases with partially identifiable data.²³ All eligible births identified as non-Métis within the study population were selected for comparison.

Outcomes

Depression, Anxiety, and PTSD. Participants were identified with a mental disorder during pregnancy if they had one or more hospitalizations or two or more physician claims for the following disorders in the 10 months prior to birth: depression (ICD-9: 296.2, 296.3, 296.5, 300.4, 309.x (except 309.81), and 311; ICD-10-CA: F20.4, F31.3-F31.5, F32.x, F33.x, F34.1,

F41.2, and F43.2), anxiety (ICD-9: 300.0, 300.2; ICD-10-CA: F40.x, F41.x), and PTSD (ICD-9: 309.81; ICD-10-CA: F43.1x). These case definitions were selected based on validated case definitions in the literature,^{24–27} or those used among Métis individuals.²⁸

Determinants of mental disorders during pregnancy. We selected determinants of mental disorders during pregnancy based on the literature.²⁹ These included: maternal age during pregnancy (<20, 20-34, \geq 35), parity (0, 1, 2, \geq 3), pregnancy type (single or multifetal), prepregnancy health one year prior to pregnancy (i.e., high weight, diabetes mellitus, depression/anxiety, heart disease, hypertension, renal disease, other conditions), pregnancy health (gestational hypertension, gestational diabetes, preeclampsia, anemia, smoking cigarettes, alcohol use, or recreational substance use), adequacy of prenatal care (no care, inadequate, intensive, intermediate, or adequate), and place of residence (urban or rural). The Pampalon Index was used to establish quintiles of material and social deprivation (least deprived [1] to most deprived [5]). The Pampalon Index is an aggregated, area-based index using Census data (area-level income, education, and employment) and maternal postal code at delivery.³⁰ Place of residence was categorized as urban or rural based on population density, distance from urban centres, among other criteria.³¹

Statistical Analysis

Clinical and social-environmental characteristics were described in absolute frequencies and percentages for Métis and non-Métis participants. Hypothesis testing to identify differences among these characteristics was not conducted given the exploratory nature of our research question, and since we examined determinants among the Métis cohort only. The period prevalence of depression, anxiety, and PTSD during pregnancy for study cohorts from 2006 to 2016 was calculated using the total number of cases as the numerator and the total number of

pregnancies as the denominator and standardized by age using the 2010 Canadian agedistribution for females as the reference population.³² The extent to which the type of population (Métis/non-Métis) was associated with changes in the occurrence of mental disorders was estimated using multivariable multilevel logistic regression models adjusting for relevant individual and social-environmental variables. The result was expressed as an adjusted risk ratio (aRR) with 95% confidence intervals (CI). The association (aRR with 95% CI) of individual and social-environmental variables with mental disorders during pregnancy exclusively among Métis pregnant persons was estimated using multivariable multilevel logistic regression models.

Results

A total of 495,457 live births (1.6% Métis) that occurred in Alberta from 2006-2016 were included in the study (Figure 1). Table 1 describes clinical and sociodemographic characteristics of the Métis and non-Métis pregnant persons. The majority of Métis pregnant persons were aged 20-34 (81.7%) and were birthing their first child (42.2%). The prevalence of pre-pregnancy conditions such diabetes, depression/anxiety, heart disease, hypertension, and renal disease were low (<1.3%), however some of these were higher in prevalence during pregnancy. For instance, 5.4% and 5.2% of Métis pregnant persons had gestational hypertension and gestational diabetes, respectively. Other conditions such as preeclampsia or anemia during pregnancy were less common. The majority of Métis pregnant persons reported not smoking (68.8%) or not using alcohol/other recreational substances during pregnancy (93.1%). Regarding place of living, over one-third of Métis pregnant persons lived in a rural area and almost half were living in the two most materially and socially deprived areas.



Figure 1. Flow diagram of eligible participants forming Métis and non-Métis cohorts

	Métis, % (n)	Non-Métis, % (n)	
Age			
<20	8.5 (690)	3.4 (16,512)	
20-34	81.7 (6,668)	78.3 (381,327)	
35+	9.9 (805)	18.4 (89.448)	
Pre-pregnancy weight \geq 91 kg			
Yes	14.3 (1,168)	9.2 (44,727)	
No	84.8 (6,923)	90.2 (439,297)	
Missing	0.9 (72)	0.7 (3,270)	
Pre-pregnancy weight < 45 kg			
Yes	0.3 (25)	0.7 (3,268)	
No	98.8 (8,066)	98.7 (480,756)	
Missing	0.9 (72)	0.7 (3,270)	
Pre-pregnancy diabetes			
Yes	1.3 (109)	1.2 (5,596)	
No	97.8 (7,982)	98.2 (478,431)	
Missing	0.9 (72)	0.7 (3,267)	
Pre-pregnancy			
depression/anxiety			
Yes	0.3 (28)	0.2 (981)	
No	99.6 (8,135)	99.8 (486,313)	
Pre-pregnancy heart disease			
Yes	0.1 (5)	0.1 (340)	
No	99.1 (8,086)	99.3 (483,687)	
Missing	0.9 (72)	0.7 (3,267)	
Pre-pregnancy hypertension			
Yes	1.2 (99)	1.0 (4,623)	
No	97.9 (7,992)	98.4 (479,404)	
Missing	0.9 (72)	0.7 (3,267)	
Pre-pregnancy renal disease			
Yes	0.1 (11)	0.1 (450)	
No	98.9 (8,080)	99.2 (483,577)	
Missing	0.9 (72)	0.7 (3,267)	
Other pre-pregnancy medical			
diseases*			
Yes	8.0 (650)	7.5 (36,772)	
No	91.2 (7,441)	,441) 91.8 (447,252)	
Missing	0.9 (72)	0.7 (3,270)	
Pregnancy type			
Single	96.7 (7,897)	96.6 (470,787)	
Multifetal	3.3 (266)	3.4 (16,507)	
Parity			
0	42.2 (3,448)	42.5 (207,304)	

Table 1. Individual and social-environmental characteristics among Métis and non-Métis

 pregnant persons

1	31.1 (2,538)	34.3 (167,143)	
2	15.6 (1,277)	14.0 (68,271)	
3+	10.5 (860)	8.8 (42,729)	
Missing	0.5 (40)	0.4 (1,847)	
Gestational hypertension			
Yes	5.4 (437)	5.4 (26,486)	
No	93.8 (7,147)	93.9 (457,541)	
Missing	0.9 (72)	0.7 (3,267)	
Gestational diabetes			
Yes	5.2 (427)	5.8 (28,159)	
No	93.9 (7,664)	93.6 (455,868)	
Missing	0.9 (72)	0.7 (3,267)	
Preeclampsia			
Yes	1.4 (116)	1.3 (6,088)	
No	96.9 (7,907)	97.3 (474,258)	
Missing	1.7 (140)	1.4 (6,948)	
Anemia during pregnancy			
Yes	0.8 (64)	0.9 (4,329)	
No	98.3 (8,027)	98.4 (479,698)	
Missing	0.9 (72)	0.7 (3,267)	
Pregnancy care			
Adequate	36.1 (2,943)	38.2 (185,943)	
Intermediate	41.2 (3,364)	37.8 (184,416)	
Intensive	3.8 (309)	3.8 (18,384)	
Inadequate	16.2 (1,323)	16.5 (80,602)	
No care	2.7 (224)	3.7 (17,949)	
Smoking in pregnancy			
Yes	30.4 (2,479)	14.3 (69,651)	
No	68.8 (5,612)	85.0 (414,376)	
Missing	0.9 (72)	0.7 (3,267)	
Alcohol or recreational			
substance use in pregnancy			
Yes	6.0 (492)	3.0 (14,387)	
No	93.1 (7,599)	96.4 (469,639)	
Missing	0.9 (72)	0.7 (3,268)	
Place of residence			
Rural	36.9 (3,014)	23.7 (115,471)	
Urban	62.0 (5,061)	75.4 (367,394)	
Missing	1.1 (88)	0.9 (4,429)	
Material Index Quintile			
1-least deprived	10.0 (819)	18.6 (90,665)	
2	16.7 (1,360)	18.9 (92,160)	
3	18.9 (1,544)	18.8 (91,795)	
4	22.5 (1,837)	18.4 (89,719)	
5-most deprived	26.4 (2,156)	20.0 (97,523)	

Ph.D. Thesis - S. Owais; McMaster University - Neuroscience

Missing	5.5 (447)	5.2 (25,432)
Social Index Quintile		
1-least deprived	12.2 (994)	13.0 (63,384)
2	14.6 (1,189)	18.9 (92,103)
3	20.3 (1,660)	21.8 (105,992)
4	27.2 (2,218)	21.9 (106,929)
5-most deprived	20.3 (1,655)	19.2 (93,454)
Missing	5.5 (447)	5.2 (25,432)

* Other pre-pregnancy diseases include: conditions such as severe asthma, lupus, epilepsy, or Crohn's disease

Prevalence and determinants of depression

The age-standardized period prevalence of depression during pregnancy among the Métis was 3.3% (95% CI 2.7%-3.9%) compared to 2.2% (95% CI 2.1%-2.3%) among the non-Métis (see Table 2). After adjusting for maternal age, multifetal pregnancy, pre-pregnancy weight \geq 91kg, any pre-pregnancy medical condition, smoking/alcohol use/recreational substance use during pregnancy, living in an urban environment, and exposure to material and social deprivation, Métis pregnant persons were at a 47% increased risk of having depression during pregnancy when compared to their non-Métis peers (aRR 1.47, 95% CI 1.17, 1.85).

When statistically adjusting for all relevant maternal and sociodemographic variables (i.e., maternal age, parity, multifetal pregnancy, pre-pregnancy weight \geq 91 kg, any prepregnancy condition, any gestational medical condition, adequacy of prenatal care, smoking/alcohol use/recreational substance use during pregnancy, living in an urban environment, and exposure to material and social deprivation) we identified four factors that were associated with depression among Métis pregnant persons. Pre-pregnancy weight \geq 91kg, pre-pregnancy medical conditions, smoking/alcohol use/recreational substance use during pregnancy, and living in an urban location were associated with an increased risk of depression (Figure S1 in the Supplementary Information). The strongest association with depression during pregnancy was having pre-pregnancy medical conditions (aRR 4.01, 95% CI 2.50-6.41).

Prevalence and determinants of anxiety

The age-standardized period prevalence of anxiety during pregnancy among the Métis was 3.5% (95% CI 2.9%-4.2%) compared to 2.5% (95% CI 2.4%-2.6%) among the non-Métis. After adjusting for maternal age, multifetal pregnancy, pre-pregnancy weight \geq 91kg, any prepregnancy medical condition, smoking/alcohol use/recreational substance use during pregnancy, living in an urban environment, and exposure to material and social deprivation, Métis pregnant persons were at a 36% increased risk of having anxiety during pregnancy when compared to their non-Métis peers (aRR 1.36, 95% CI 1.09, 1.70).

When statistically adjusting for the aforementioned maternal and sociodemographic variables, we identified six factors that were associated with anxiety among Métis pregnant persons. Three of these were the same as depression: pre-pregnancy medical conditions, smoking/alcohol use/recreational substance use during pregnancy, and living in an urban location; and three additional factors specific to anxiety were also identified: parity \geq 3, having a multifetal pregnancy, and gestational medical conditions (Figure S2 in the Supplementary Information). The strongest association with anxiety during pregnancy was having a multifetal pregnancy (aRR 3.04, 95% CI 1.23-7.55).

Prevalence of PTSD

The prevalence of PTSD during pregnancy among the Métis was 0.07% (95% CI 0.01%-0.12%) compared to 0.03% (95% CI 0.02%-0.04%) among the non-Métis. Since the number of PTSD cases were too small in the Métis group (n<20), we did not calculate age-standardized prevalence estimates nor did we conduct any further statistical analyses for PTSD.

	Métis			Non-Métis		
	N	Crude prevalence (95% CI)	*Age-specific standardized prevalence (95% CI)	Ν	Crude prevalence (95% CI)	*Age-specific standardized prevalence (95% CI)
Depression	265	3.3% (2.9, 3.6)	3.3% (2.7, 3.9)	9,968	2.1% (2.0, 2.1)	2.2% (2.1, 2.3)
Anxiety	272	3.3% (2.9, 3.7)	3.5% (2.9, 4.2)	11,934	2.5% (2.4, 2.5)	2.5% (2.4, 2.6)
PTSD	<20	0.07% (0.01, 0.12)	Not applicable	146	0.03% (0.02, 0.04)	Not applicable

Table 2. Crude and age-specific standardized period prevalence of mental health outcomes during pregnancy for Métis and non-Métis pregnancies in Alberta (2006 – 2016).

PTSD = Post-traumatic stress disorder

*Age standardization using as reference population the 2010 Canadian Age-distribution for Females. Statistics Canada. Table 17-10-0005-01 Population estimates by age and sex DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.25318/1710000501-eng</u>

Note: For PTSD, given the small number of cases (n<20) for the Métis group, no agestandardization was applied.

Discussion

We found that Métis pregnant persons were at an increased risk for depression, anxiety, and PTSD when compared to their age-matched non-Métis pregnant peers. These results are consistent with a systematic review and meta-analysis of 21 studies which found that Indigenous individuals from around the world are at a 62% increased risk of experiencing a perinatal mental health challenge compared to their non-Indigenous peers.¹⁷ Higher risk may be due to greater exposure to low socioeconomic disadvantage,³³ intimate partner violence,³⁴ and experience of Métis-specific risk factors such as discrimination and racism in mainstream and First Nations-dominant healthcare systems.¹⁶

Our prevalence estimates of depression, anxiety, and PTSD (for both Métis and non-Métis cohorts) are lower when compared to other studies using data from administrative databases.^{35–38} In one study of 45,362 perinatal individuals living in Manitoba, researchers found the prevalence of a physician-diagnosed mood and/or anxiety disorder during pregnancy was 13.5%.³⁶ Another study of pregnant persons in the USA (n=4,398) found that 6.9% had a depressive disorder during pregnancy.³⁵ These studies may have higher prevalence estimates than ours due to differences in depression and anxiety case definitions. Indeed, the aforementioned studies had more inclusive eligibility criteria for their case definitions (i.e., included disorders that we excluded) which may have inflated their estimates. For instance, these studies included a diagnosis of obsessive compulsive disorders (OCD) in their mood and/or anxiety case definition despite OCD no longer being classified as an anxiety disorder.³⁶ One study also included receipt of an antidepressant as being a proxy for having a depressive disorder, which may overestimate prevalence estimates as some antidepressants may be used off- label for non-depressive conditions.³⁵ Similarly, among studies using administrative health databases, PTSD prevalence estimates during pregnancy range from 0.5%-1.7%.^{37,38} These study estimates may be higher than ours since these studies sampled military populations (who have higher baseline estimates of PTSD compared to the general population) and also because there may be increased screening and awareness of PTSD in the military population which could lead to increased prevalence estimates.^{37,38}

Two determinants that were common to both depression and anxiety among Métis pregnant persons included pre-pregnancy medical conditions and smoking/alcohol use/recreational substance use during pregnancy. The mechanisms underlying associations between pre-pregnancy health conditions and mental health among Métis pregnant persons are not known although some research points to stress-axis dysfunction as a potential mechanism.³⁹ Indeed, in a study where Métis pregnant persons were interviewed about their maternal health, participants attributed their poor health conditions to stress and "being made to feel guilty" about their medical conditions.⁴⁰ The mechanisms underlying substance use and mental disorders during pregnancy are less clear and include shared genetic traits⁴¹ or neurochemical

changes that make individuals more vulnerable to the development of depression and anxiety.⁴² Bidirectional relationships may also exist where mental health challenge such as depression or anxiety may lead to smoking as a form of self-medication.⁴³ Indeed, previous research supports that Métis pregnant persons view smoking as a way of coping and dealing with life stressors, including mental health challenges.⁴⁰

Interestingly, we found that living in an urban region (as compared to a rural one) contributed to both depression and anxiety cases. This is in contrast to some research studies among Indigenous and non-Indigenous adults which has shown that living in an urban area was associated with fewer mental health problems compared to living in a rural location.^{44–46} Our findings may differ as it could be that living in an urban location may reflect greater access to healthcare and therefore inflates the prevalence estimate since we utilized a treatment-seeking sample. It could also be because despite more Métis people living in urban areas, they are far away from their traditional Métis settlements. These settlements, despite their small population, have a significant impact on Métis self-governance, self-determination, and resistance and resurgence.⁴⁷ Therefore, living away from traditional settlements and lands could be a risk factor and negatively impact the mental health of Métis pregnant persons.

Our findings suggest that Métis pregnant persons are more likely to have depression, anxiety, and PTSD compared to their non-Métis peers. Researchers should consider partnering with Métis communities and organizations to increase access to culturally-safe mental health services. Moreover, given that pregnant persons are highly motivated to adopt positive health behaviours,⁴⁸ substance use reduction interventions, particularly those that offer mental health components, should be offered. Facilitating the provision of mental health treatment and the
design and implementation of culturally-relevant interventions may help reduce the burden of mental health challenges among Métis pregnant persons.

Strengths and Limitations

This study contains a few strengths. First, utilizing administrative health databases allows us to draw informed conclusions about large, representative, population-based cohorts. Second, in keeping with the guidelines outlined in the Tri-Council Policy Statement 2 Chapter 9, we have partnered with the MNA to ensure that our research questions are relevant and beneficial to the community.⁴⁹ Third, by focusing on Métis pregnant persons, not only are we increasing their much needed representation in the health literature, but we are in line with the United Nations Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues which advocates for the collection of disaggregated data for Indigenous communities.⁵⁰

The limitations of this study must also be discussed. While administrative health databases provide a rich amount of data, they are not designed for research purposes, and so we are limited in the outcomes we can examine. For instance, we are unable to examine how Métis-specific risk factors influence the prevalence of depression and anxiety. However, partnering and consulting with the MNA will ensure that our results are appropriately contextualized. Similarly, we were unable to calculate body mass index as weight and height were not measured as continuous variables. However, there is some research to suggest that body mass index may not be the most accurate measure of obesity and that other measures such as total body fat, waist circumference, and wait-to-hip ratio can be considered.^{51,52} Another limitation is that no anxiety case definition for the general population, including the one we have used, has been validated against a reference standard. However, our case definition has been used in population-based cohorts of individuals living in Canada, including the Métis

living in Manitoba, and so may be an appropriate definition to use in our study.²⁸ Finally, these data are restricted to help-seeking individuals (i.e., those who interacted with the healthcare system) and we are unable to identify undiagnosed depression, anxiety, and PTSD during pregnancy in these population-based cohorts.

Conclusion

Using data from a population-based cohort, we identified that Métis pregnant persons have a higher prevalence of depression, anxiety, and PTSD compared to non-Métis pregnant persons, and pre-pregnancy medical conditions, smoking/alcohol use/recreational substance use, and living in an urban location contributed to these cases. Future researchers should continue to partner with Métis communities and organizations to co-develop culturally-safe interventions to reduce the burden of these challenges and optimize the health of Métis pregnant persons, their offspring, and communities.

References

- Gavin NI, Gaynes BN, Lohr KN, Meltzer-Brody S, Gartlehner G, Swinson T. Perinatal Depression: A Systematic Review of Prevalence and Incidence. *Obstetrics & Gynecology*. 2005;106(5, Part 1):1071-1083. doi:10.1097/01.AOG.0000183597.31630.db
- Ross LE, McLean LM. Anxiety disorders during pregnancy and the postpartum period: A systematic review. *J Clin Psychiatry*. 2006;67(8):1285-1298. doi:10.4088/jcp.v67n0818
- Woody CA, Ferrari AJ, Siskind DJ, Whiteford HA, Harris MG. A systematic review and meta-regression of the prevalence and incidence of perinatal depression. *Journal of affective disorders*. 2017;219. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2017.05.003
- Fawcett EJ, Fairbrother N, Cox ML, White IR, Fawcett JM. The Prevalence of Anxiety Disorders during Pregnancy and the Postpartum Period: A Multivariate Bayesian Meta-Analysis. *J Clin Psychiatry*. 2019;80(4):18r12527. doi:10.4088/JCP.18r12527
- Yildiz PD, Ayers S, Phillips L. The prevalence of posttraumatic stress disorder in pregnancy and after birth: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Affective Disorders*. 2017;208(Complete):634-645. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2016.10.009
- 6. Stein A, Pearson RM, Goodman SH, et al. Effects of perinatal mental disorders on the fetus and child. *The Lancet*. 2014;384(9956):1800-1819. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61277-0
- Fall A, Goulet L, Vézina M. Comparative study of major depressive symptoms among pregnant women by employment status. *Springerplus*. 2013;2(1):201. doi:10.1186/2193-1801-2-201

- Dunkel Schetter C, Niles AN, Guardino CM, Khaled M, Kramer MS. Demographic, Medical, and Psychosocial Predictors of Pregnancy Anxiety. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol*. 2016;30(5):421-429. doi:10.1111/ppe.12300
- Rodriguez MA, Heilemann MV, Fielder E, Ang A, Nevarez F, Mangione CM. Intimate partner violence, depression, and PTSD among pregnant Latina women. *Ann Fam Med*. 2008;6(1):44-52. doi:10.1370/afm.743
- Nasreen HE, Kabir ZN, Forsell Y, Edhborg M. Prevalence and associated factors of depressive and anxiety symptoms during pregnancy: A population based study in rural Bangladesh. *BMC Womens Health*. 2011;11:22. doi:10.1186/1472-6874-11-22
- Yin X, Sun N, Jiang N, et al. Prevalence and associated factors of antenatal depression: Systematic reviews and meta-analyses. *Clinical Psychology Review*. 2021;83:101932. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2020.101932
- Brown HK, Qazilbash A, Rahim N, Dennis CL, Vigod SN. Chronic Medical Conditions and Peripartum Mental Illness: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *American Journal* of Epidemiology. 2018;187(9):2060-2068. doi:10.1093/aje/kwy080
- Ayers S, Bond R, Bertullies S, Wijma K. The aetiology of post-traumatic stress following childbirth: a meta-analysis and theoretical framework. *Psychol Med.* 2016;46(6):1121-1134. doi:10.1017/S0033291715002706
- Robertson H, Anderson T. Membership in a Métis organization or Settlement: Findings from the 2021 Census of Population. Published September 21, 2022. Accessed November

7, 2022. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2021/as-sa/98-200-X/2021006/98-200-X2021006-eng.cfm

- Dyck M. Social Determinants of Métis Health. National Aboriginal Health Organization;
 2009:15. Accessed October 31, 2022. https://policycommons.net/artifacts/1217611/socialdeterminants-of-metis-health/1770702/
- Monchalin R, Smylie J, Nowgesic E. "I Guess I Shouldn't Come Back Here": Racism and Discrimination as a Barrier to Accessing Health and Social Services for Urban Métis Women in Toronto, Canada. *J Racial Ethn Health Disparities*. 2020;7(2):251-261. doi:10.1007/s40615-019-00653-1
- 17. Owais S, Faltyn M, Johnson AVD, et al. The Perinatal Mental Health of Indigenous
 Women: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Can J Psychiatry*. 2020;65(3):149-163.
 doi:10.1177/0706743719877029
- Chantal N, Karen M. L, Victoria O, Elizabeth K. D. Original quantitative research Mental health indicators among pregnant Aboriginal women in Canada: results from the Maternity Experiences Survey. *Health Promot Chronic Dis Prev Can.* 2018;38(7-8):269-276.
- Daoud N, O'Brien K, O'Campo P, et al. Postpartum depression prevalence and risk factors among Indigenous, non-Indigenous and immigrant women in Canada. *Can J Public Health*. Published online February 14, 2019. doi:10.17269/s41997-019-00182-8
- Kirmayer LJ, Brass GM, Tait CL. The Mental Health of Aboriginal Peoples: Transformations of Identity and Community. *Can J Psychiatry*. 2000;45(7):607-616. doi:10.1177/070674370004500702

- 21. Auger MD. 'We need to not be footnotes anymore': understanding Métis people's experiences with mental health and wellness in British Columbia, Canada. *Public Health*. 2019;176:92-97. doi:10.1016/j.puhe.2018.12.001
- 22. Government of Alberta. Métis Relations. Published 2022. Accessed December 14, 2022. https://www.alberta.ca/metis-relations.aspx
- 23. Meray N, Reitsma JB, Ravelli AC, Bonsel GJ. Probabilistic record linkage is a valid and transparent tool to combine databases without a patient identification number. *JClinEpidemiol.* 2007;60(9):883-891.
- Tonelli M, Wiebe N, Fortin M, et al. Methods for identifying 30 chronic conditions: application to administrative data. *BMC Med Inform Decis Mak*. 2015;15:31. doi:10.1186/s12911-015-0155-5
- Doktorchik C, Patten S, Eastwood C, et al. Validation of a case definition for depression in administrative data against primary chart data as a reference standard. *BMC Psychiatry*. 2019;19:9. doi:10.1186/s12888-018-1990-6
- 26. Marrie RA, Walker JR, Graff LA, et al. Performance of administrative case definitions for depression and anxiety in inflammatory bowel disease. *J Psychosom Res.* 2016;89:107-113. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychores.2016.08.014
- 27. Harrington KM, Quaden R, Stein MB, et al. Validation of an Electronic Medical Record-Based Algorithm for Identifying Posttraumatic Stress Disorder in U.S. Veterans. *J Trauma Stress*. 2019;32(2):226-237. doi:10.1002/jts.22399

- 28. Sanguins J, Bartlett JG, Carter S, Hoeppner N, Mehta P, Bassily M. Depression, Anxiety Disorders, and Related Health Care Utilization in the Manitoba Metis Population. Manitoba Metis Federation – Health & Wellness Department; 2013:168. Accessed November 6, 2022. https://www.hopkinsacg.org/document/depression-anxiety-disordersand-related-health-care-utilization-in-the-manitoba-metis-population/
- Biaggi A, Conroy S, Pawlby S, Pariante CM. Identifying the women at risk of antenatal anxiety and depression: A systematic review. *Journal of Affective Disorders*. 2016;191:62-77. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2015.11.014
- 30. Pampalon R, Hamel D, Gamache P, Philibert MD, Raymond G, Simpson A. An area-based material and social deprivation index for public health in Québec and Canada. *Canadian Journal of Public Health/Revue Canadienne de Santé Publique*. 2012;(Journal Article):S17-S22.
- 31. Alberta Health Services, Alberta Health. Official Standard Geographic Areas.; 2017:42. Accessed June 9, 2023. https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/a14b50c9-94b2-4024-8ee5c13fb70abb4a/resource/70fd0f2c-5a7c-45a3-bdaa-e1b4f4c5d9a4/download/officialstandard-geographic-area-document.pdf
- 32. Statistics Canada. Population estimates on July 1st, by age and sex. Published May 30, 2023. Accessed May 30, 2023.
 https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=1710000501
- 33. Statistics Canada. Data tables, 2016 Census. Published October 25, 2017. Accessed November 4, 2022. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dp-pd/dt-td/Rpeng.cfm?TABID=2&LANG=E&A=R&APATH=3&DETAIL=0&DIM=0&FL=A&FREE=

0&GC=01&GL=-

1&GID=1341679&GK=1&GRP=1&O=D&PID=110523&PRID=10&PTYPE=109445&S= 0&SHOWALL=0&SUB=999&Temporal=2017&THEME=122&VID=0&VNAMEE=&V NAMEF=&D1=0&D2=0&D3=0&D4=0&D5=0&D6=0

- 34. Chmielowska M, Fuhr DC. Intimate partner violence and mental ill health among global populations of Indigenous women: a systematic review. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol.* 2017;52(6):689-704. doi:10.1007/s00127-017-1375-z
- 35. Dietz PM, Williams SB, Callaghan WM, Bachman DJ, Whitlock EP, Hornbrook MC. Clinically identified maternal depression before, during, and after pregnancies ending in live births. *Am J Psychiatry*. 2007;164(10):1515-1520. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2007.06111893
- 36. Mota NP, Chartier M, Ekuma O, et al. Mental Disorders and Suicide Attempts in the Pregnancy and Postpartum Periods Compared with Non-Pregnancy: A Population-Based Study. *Can J Psychiatry*. 2019;64(7):482-491. doi:10.1177/0706743719838784
- 37. Andriotti T, Ranjit A, Hamlin L, Koehlmoos T, Robinson JN, Lutgendorf MA. Psychiatric Conditions During Pregnancy and Postpartum in a Universally Insured American Population. *Military Medicine*. 2022;187(7-8):e795-e801. doi:10.1093/milmed/usab154
- Abramovitz LM, Lutgendorf MA, Bukowinski AT, Gumbs GR, Conlin AMS, Hall C.
 Posttraumatic Stress Disorder in a Cohort of Pregnant Active Duty U.S. Military
 Servicewomen. *J Trauma Stress*. 2021;34(3):586-595. doi:10.1002/jts.22656

- 39. Brown HK, Wilton AS, Ray JG, Dennis CL, Guttmann A, Vigod SN. Chronic physical conditions and risk for perinatal mental illness: A population-based retrospective cohort study. *PLOS Medicine*. 2019;16(8):e1002864. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1002864
- 40. Ospina M, Sanni O, Serrano-Lomelin J, A J, Bradburn K, Crawford S. *The Epidemiology of Maternal and Neonatal Health among the Métis in Alberta: A Population-Based Retropective Cohort Study.* Métis Nations of Alberta; 2022.
- 41. Barkhuizen W, Dudbridge F, Ronald A. Genetic overlap and causal associations between smoking behaviours and mental health. *Sci Rep.* 2021;11(1):14871. doi:10.1038/s41598-021-93962-7
- 42. Quattrocki E, Baird A, Yurgelun-Todd D. Biological Aspects of the Link between Smoking and Depression. *Harvard Review of Psychiatry*. 2000;8(3):99-110. doi:10.1080/hrp_8.3.99
- Baker TB, Piper ME, McCarthy DE, Majeskie MR, Fiore MC. Addiction motivation reformulated: an affective processing model of negative reinforcement. *Psychol Rev.* 2004;111(1):33-51. doi:10.1037/0033-295X.111.1.33
- 44. Guo J, Zheng A, He J, et al. The prevalence of and factors associated with antenatal depression among all pregnant women first attending antenatal care: a cross-sectional study in a comprehensive teaching hospital. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth*. 2021;21(1):713. doi:10.1186/s12884-021-04090-z
- 45. Nasir BF, Toombs MR, Kondalsamy-Chennakesavan S, et al. Common mental disorders among Indigenous people living in regional, remote and metropolitan Australia: a crosssectional study. *BMJ Open*. 2018;8(6):e020196. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2017-020196

- 46. Australian Bureau of Statistics. 4714.0 National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social Survey, 2014-15. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Published April 28, 2016. Accessed June 10, 2023. https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/mf/4714.0
- 47. Alberta Regional Professional Development Consortium. *Métis in Alberta Part 2 Governance and Settlements*. Accessed December 17, 2022. https://empoweringthespirit.ca/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/M%C3%A9tis-in-Alberta-Part-2-Governance-and-Settlements-.pdf
- Phelan S. Pregnancy: A "teachable moment" for weight control and obesity prevention. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* 2010;202(2):135.e1. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2009.06.008
- 49. Government of Canada. (2019, April 1). Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans – TCPS 2 (2018) – Chapter 9: Research Involving the First Nations, Inuit and Métis Peoples of Canada. https://ethics.gc.ca/eng/tcps2eptc2_2018_chapter9-chapitre9.html
- 50. United Nations. Data and Indicators | United Nations For Indigenous Peoples. Published
 2019. Accessed January 24, 2019.
 https://www.un.org/development/desa/indigenouspeoples/mandated-areas1/data-andindicators.html
- 51. Burkhauser RV, Cawley J. Beyond BMI: The value of more accurate measures of fatness and obesity in social science research. *J Health Econ*. 2008;27(2):519-529. doi:10.1016/j.jhealeco.2007.05.005

52. Humphreys S. The unethical use of BMI in contemporary general practice. Br J Gen Pract.

2010;60(578):696-697. doi:10.3399/bjgp10X515548

Chapter 4: Psychopathology in the Offspring of Indigenous Parents with Mental Health Challenges: A Systematic Review (Study 3)

Study 3 Overview

Title: Psychopathology in the Offspring of Indigenous Parents with Mental Health Challenges: A Systematic Review

Authors: Sawayra Owais, MSc, Mateusz Faltyn, Hanyan Zou, MSc, Troy Hill, BA, BEd, Nick Kates, MD, Jacob A. Burack, PhD, and Ryan J. Van Lieshout, MD, PhD

Context and Overall Implications: With the knowledge that Indigenous perinatal individuals are at an increased risk for mental health challenges, and that parental psychopathology is one of the most potent risk factors of child psychopathology, we examined the association of parent and offspring mental health challenges among Indigenous families. We found that children of Indigenous parents who had mental health challenges were more likely to experience psychopathology compared to children of healthy Indigenous parents. Additionally, the association of psychopathology may be stronger in Indigenous than non-Indigenous dyads.

Acknowledgements: We would particularly like to thank Mr. Troy Hill (Mohawk, Six Nations of the Grand River Reserve) and Dr. Jacob Burack for their collaboration. Mr. Hill provided his perspectives on Indigenous ways of knowing while also reminding us of the significant and rich diversity of Indigenous Peoples. Dr. Jacob Burack shared his learning and experiences during a more than 2 decades long collaboration with the educators and students of the Jimmy Sandy Memorial School and the community leaders of the Naskapi Nation of Kawawachikamach, Québec, Canada, as well as from a similarly long academic association and friendship with Dr. George Blacksmith, a Cree educator and scholar whose collection of first-hand accounts of the

multigenerational effects of the residential schools on the Cree of northern Quebec is essential reading in the history of the Indigenous Peoples living in Canada. We would like to acknowledge Jo-Anne Petropoulos for her help in reviewing the search strategies.

Conflict Of Interest: The author(s) declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Funding: The author(s) received no financial support for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Published In: Canadian Journal of Psychiatry

Citation Information: Owais S, Faltyn M, Zou H, Hill T, Kates N, Burack JA, et al. Psychopathology in the Offspring of Indigenous Parents with Mental Health Challenges: A Systematic Review: Psychopathologie Des Descendants De Parents Autochtones Ayant Des Problèmes De Santé Mentale: Une Revue Systématique. *Can J Psychiatry Rev Can Psychiatr.* 2021 Jun;66(6):517-536. doi: 10.1177/0706743720966447

© SAGE Publications

Abstract

Objective: Parental psychopathology is a significant risk factor for mental health challenges in offspring, but the nature and magnitude of this link in Indigenous Peoples is not well understood. This systematic review examined the emotional and behavioral functioning of the offspring of Indigenous parents with mental health challenges.

Method: We searched MEDLINE, EMBASE, PsycINFO, CINAHL, and Web of Science from their inceptions until April 2020. Studies were included if they included assessments of emotional, behavioral, or other psychological outcomes in the offspring of Indigenous parents with a mental health challenge.

Results: The 14 studies eligible for review were focused on parental substance misuse (n = 8), maternal internalizing (i.e., depression, anxiety) issues (n = 5), and poor overall parental mental health (n = 4). In 11 studies, parental substance misuse, depression, and/or overall mental health challenges were associated with 2 to 4 times the odds of offspring externalizing and internalizing behaviors as compared to offspring of Indigenous parents without mental health challenges.

Conclusion: The findings suggest higher risks of mental health challenges among offspring of Indigenous parents with psychiatric difficulties than among Indigenous children of parents without similar difficulties. Knowledge of these phenomena would be improved by the use of larger, more representative samples, culturally appropriate measures, and the engagement of Indigenous communities. Future studies should be focused on both risk and resilience mechanisms so that cycles of transmission can be interrupted and resources aimed at detection, prevention, and treatment optimally allocated.

Trial Registration: PROSPERO-CRD42019121301

Keywords: Indigenous people, mental disorders, intergenerational relations, parents, child, adolescent

Introduction

The presence of mental health challenges in a parent increases the risk of offspring mental health challenges by up to 5 times, one of the most potent risks known.¹⁻⁵ When parents are successfully treated, rates of mental disorders in offspring decrease,⁶ highlighting the importance of detection and treatment in interrupting the intergenerational transmission of psychopathology.

The rearing environment plays an important role in this transmission. Those facing structural barriers such as institutionalized racism, poor access to health care, and forced dislocation to areas with minimal food availability, crowded housing, and inadequate transportation infrastructure can be more profoundly impacted by these social origins of disease than those not exposed. Indigenous Peoples, the original owners and inhabitants of their lands with diverse cultures within and across country borders, often face structural disadvantages due to the shared impact of historic and ongoing colonization and oppression.⁷⁻¹⁰ This trauma differs from typical trauma because it is colonial in nature, transgenerational, and cumulative due to current systematic barriers and structural racism.¹¹

Intergenerational colonial trauma and violence has caused patterns of land dislocation, institutionalization, and cultural erasure contributing toward Indigenous identity loss, breakdown of family units, historical trauma, and ultimately poor mental health outcomes.¹¹⁻¹⁶ The intergenerational transmission of mental health challenges may be mediated by epigenetic changes, alterations occurring in gene expression that take place without changes in the underlying DNA sequence.^{17,18} For instance, parental stress and trauma are associated with a downregulation of glucocorticoid receptor genes, those implicated in the stress response in offspring.^{17,19}

Synthesizing the literature on the children of Indigenous parents with mental health challenges can enable a better understanding of the challenges facing Indigenous youth, as well as optimizing screening processes, identifying challenges at an early age, and guiding the development of targeted family interventions. It can also help us understand the degree to which Indigenous research methodologies are applied. Contemporary researchers need to safeguard against questions and methodologies that have been developed and utilized in the absence of input by Indigenous communities as these threaten to perpetuate colonial systems.^{12,19} Indigenous research priorities and input need to be valued, honored, and protected.²⁰ Given this background, the aim of this systematic review was to examine emotional and behavioral functioning in the offspring of Indigenous parents with mental health challenges.

We would like to thank Mr. Troy Hill who is Mohawk from Six Nations of the Grand River Territory where he is an educator and Dr. Jacob Burack for sharing his learning and experiences collaborating with educators, students, and community leaders of the Naskapi Nation of Kawawachikamach. This article was written on the traditional territories of the Haudenosaunee and Mississaugas of the Credit First Nations and is within the lands protected by the "Dish with One Spoon" Wampum agreement.

Methods

Search Strategy

The study protocol guiding this systematic review was published on January 25, 2019, and is available online through PROSPERO (2019 CRD42019121301). Guidelines outlined in the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) and

Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) statements were followed.^{21,22}

A systematic search of electronic databases (MEDLINE, EMBASE, PsycINFO, CINAHL, Web of Science) was conducted from their inceptions until April 15, 2020. Searches were developed in collaboration with a health sciences librarian (please see Supplementary Files for our complete search strategies available at

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8138737/). The reference lists of relevant articles were hand-searched.

Eligibility Criteria

Studies were included if $(1) \ge 1$ Indigenous parent(s) had symptoms of a mental health challenge(s); (2) offspring of Indigenous parents were 0 to 18 years old; and (3) offspring emotional, behavioral, and/or other psychological outcomes were reported.

Since self-identification and the right for self-determination is central to the concept of Indigeneity, and because definitions are frequently entrenched in a colonial framework, we identified Indigenous Peoples as those who have roots to traditional lands prior to colonization and distinct cultural norms from the dominant's society.^{23,24} Notwithstanding the significant heterogeneity in lived experiences, many Indigenous Peoples from around the world share a collective history of colonization, forced removal from land, and systematic oppression which result in common health and social inequities.^{7,25-28} Examining Indigenous groups sharing these experiences helps us to draw conclusions regarding similarities between Indigenous Peoples. We recognize that some past terms used to describe Indigenous Peoples (e.g., Indians, Natives, Aboriginal) are currently considered disrespectful. However, if a term was used to identify

Indigenous Peoples in a specific study, we continued to use that term to honor the selfidentification and self-determination of the participating Indigenous Peoples.²⁴

Data Extraction and Methodological Bias Assessment

Two independent reviewers (MF, HZ) screened abstracts and titles, and any disagreements were adjudicated by a third reviewer (SO). The data extraction file containing information on the studies' methods, outcomes, measures used, Indigenous population, and parental mental health challenges was piloted with 5 randomly selected studies.

Study methodological bias was assessed using National Institutes of Health Quality Assessment Tool for Observational Cohort and Cross-Sectional Studies and the Newcastle-Ottawa Quality Assessment Scale (NOS).^{29,30} The first (used for studies without a comparison group) grades the design, sample size, outcome measurement, and statistical analyses with overall study quality rated as Good/ Fair/Poor. The NOS is used when observational studies include a comparison group and grades selection, comparability, and outcome bias using a star system (more stars correspond to higher methodological quality/lower the risk of bias).

Results

Search Results

Our search strategy identified 4,105 potentially relevant articles with 2,341 articles remaining after duplicate removal. Of these, 56 were taken to full-text. Thirteen met our inclusion criteria and one more was found through hand-searching (total = 14). The interrater reliability was substantial (k = 0.68).³¹ All included articles were available in English. See Figure 1 for the PRISMA flowchart outlining the search process.

Characteristics of Included Studies

Only 2 studies included a non-Indigenous comparison group, and the outcome measures differed between them.^{32,33} As a result, we were unable to meta-analyze relative rates of mental health challenges in the offspring of Indigenous parents with mental health challenges and offspring of non-Indigenous mothers and/or fathers with similar issues. Since the other 12 studies did not contain a non-Indigenous comparison group, meta-analysis was also not possible, and so a narrative synthesis of all 14 studies is provided below.

Participant characteristics. A total of 7,557 offspring were included; 6,486 of which were Indigenous. Offspring ranged in age from 0 to 18 years. Parental Indigeneity was identified in different ways across studies. In 7 studies, parents had to identify as members of a specific tribe/Nation, or live on or near a reserve/reservation.^{32,34-39} A reserve (reservation in the USA) is a tract of land that is specifically for use by Indigenous Peoples as governed by historical treaty rights.²⁴ In 3 studies, parents self-identified as Indigenous.^{40,42} In 2 studies, participants were recruited from health services that specifically provided care to Indigenous groups.^{43,44} In the remaining 2 studies, parental Indigeneity was determined through offspring selfidentification.^{33,45} Tables 1, 2, and 3 contain descriptions of included studies, categorized by parental mental health challenge (i.e., poor parental mental health [broadly defined], parental substance misuse, and maternal internalizing issues and arranged in ascending order of offspring age [youngest to oldest] with studies containing non-Indigenous comparison groups being listed first).

Study characteristics. Seven studies were conducted in the United States,^{32,34-38,42} and 2 each in Taiwan,^{33,45} New Zealand,^{40,41} and Australia.^{43,44} One included Indigenous groups from Canada and the United States.³⁹

Five studies included measurements of both maternal and paternal mental health,^{32,33,36-}³⁸ 6 of maternal mental health only,^{34,35,39-42} and 3 studies did not specify whether parental mental health was that of mothers, fathers, or both.⁴³⁻⁴⁵

The most common parental mental health problem examined was substance misuse (n = 8) including alcohol use by ≥ 1 parent(s),^{33,36-38,45} maternal drug use,^{34,35,39} and maternal alcohol use.^{34,35} Five studies included assessments of maternal internalizing issues, with maternal depression being measured in 4,^{35,40-42} and maternal depressive episodes, dysthymic disorder, or generalized anxiety disorder in the other.³⁹ Four studies were focused on poor parental mental health (more broadly defined).^{32,41,43,44}

Parental mental health was assessed in 3 studies using structured clinical interviews,^{34,38,39} while the remainder utilized questionnaires or other self-report methods. The clinical interviews included the Composite International Diagnostic Interview (CIDI)^{34,39} and the Semi-Structured Assessment for the Genetics of Alcoholism Diagnostic Interview.³⁸ Questionnaires used most commonly included the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS), General Health Questionnaire (GHQ), Center for Epidemiologic Studies–Depression (CES-D), and the Mood and Feelings Questionnaire (MFQ).



Figure 1. Flowchart displaying the number of articles identified, screened, deemed eligible, and included in the systematic review

Author, Year, Country	Indigenous offspring (n)	Parental mental health challenge	Parental measure	Offspring outcome	Offspring measure	Age of offspring	Informant for offspring outcomes	Main unadjusted results	Variables adjusted for	Main adjusted results
Costello et al., 1997, USA	Cherokee (n=323)	Maternal and/or paternal mental illness	MFQ (≥ 5 symptoms) and/or History of Psychiatric Treatment (≥ 2 hospitalizations for psychiatric treatment) for one or both parents	Anxiety, depression, CD/ODD, ADHD, substance use	Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Assessment	9, 11, and 13 years	Parent and child	Family mental illness increased the risk of having a psychiatric disorder in Cherokee (OR 3.40, 95% CI 1.60- 7.10) and White children (OR 2.10, 95% CI 1.30-3.20)	Not reported	Not reported
Gao et al., 2007, New Zealand	Pacific Islanders (n=1021)	a) Maternal postpartum depression b) Maternal psychologic- al disorder	a) EPDS (≥ 13) b) GHQ (≥ 3)	Internalizing and externalizing behaviours	CBCL (≥ 90 th percentile)	2 years	Mother	a) PPD at 6 weeks increased the odds of internalizing (OR 3.03, 95% CI 2.07– 4.44) and externalizing behaviours (OR 1.78, 95% CI 1.00– 3.16) in 2-year-old offspring b) Psychological disorders at 12 months postpartum increased the odds for internalizing (OR 2.19, 95% CI 1.40 –	Sociodemographic characteristics, cultural orientation, antenatal maternal smoking, and child-rearing practices	 a) PPD at 6 weeks postpartum did not increase the odds of internalizing and externalizing behaviours in 2-year-old offspring. b) Psychological disorders at 12 and/or 24

Table 1. Characteristics of studies that examined poor parental mental health (broadly defined) and offspring psychopathology

Author, Year, Country	Indigenous offspring (n)	Parental mental health challenge	Parental measure	Offspring outcome	Offspring measure	Age of offspring	Informant for offspring outcomes	Main unadjusted results	Variables adjusted for	Main adjusted results
Country	(n)	health challenge					outcomes	 3.41) and externalizing behaviours (OR 1.98, 95% CI 1.06 – 3.69) in 2-year-old offspring Psychological disorders at 24 months increases the odds of internalizing (OR 1.86, 95% CI 1.14–3.02) but not externalizing behaviours in 2-year-old offspring Having both depression at 6 weeks postpartum and a psychological disorder at 12 and/or 24 months postpartum increases the odds of internalizing behaviours (OR 5.54, 95% CI 3.11– 9 87) but not 		results months postpartum did not increase the risk for internalizing and externalizing behaviours in 2-year-old offspring. Having both depression at 6 weeks postpartum and a psychological disorder at 12 and/or 24 months postpartum increases the odds of internalizing behaviours (aOR 2.93, 95% CI 1.54– 5.57)
								externalizing behaviours in 2-year- old offspring		

Author, Year, Country	Indigenous offspring (n)	Parental mental health challenge	Parental measure	Offspring outcome	Offspring measure	Age of offspring	Informant for offspring outcomes	Main unadjusted results	Variables adjusted for	Main adjusted results
Liddle et al., 2014, Australia	Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders (n=183)	Parental /carer mental health challenges (study did not define 'mental illness')	Self-report	Motor skills, self-care and social interaction, hearing and language, hand-eye coordination, cognition, academic performance and issues with conduct, hyperactivity, or inattention	Pediatric referral for these issues	0-14 years	Parent/ General Practitioner	Parents having a mental health challenge increased the risk of being referred by 3 times (OR 3.00, 95%CI, 1.55–5.79)	Offspring sex, age, and snoring	Parents having a mental health challenge increased the risk of being referred by 3 times (aOR 3.07, 95% CI 1.44-6.57)
Williams- on et al., 2018, Australia	Aboriginal (n=1,474)	 a) Previous treatment history of mental health challenges b) Psychologic- al distress 	a) Self-report b) Kessler Psychological Distress Scale- 10 (≥ 22)	Mental health-related emergency department visits	Number of emergency department visits across six years	0 – 17 years old (M = 6.73 years old)	Clinical records/clini- cian	Not reported	Offspring sex, age, and geographical area	a) Previous treatment history of parental mental health challenges was not associated with offspring mental health- related emergency department visits (ARR=2.33, 95% CI=0.83- 6.93) b) Parental distress was

Author, Year, Country	Indigenous offspring (n)	Parental mental health	Parental measure	Offspring outcome	Offspring measure	Age of offspring	Informant for offspring outcomes	Main unadjusted results	Variables adjusted for	Main adjusted results
		challenge								
										not associated
										with offspring
										mental health-
										related
										emergency
										department
										visits
										(ARR=1.14,
										95%CI=0.31-
										4.15)
Note	e. $ADHD = 1$	Attention De	eficit Hyperacti	vity Disorder	, CBCL = A	chenbach	Child Behavi	our Checklist, CD	= Conduct Disord	er,

EPDS = Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale, GHQ = General Health Questionnaire, MFQ = Mood and Feelings Questionnaire, ODD = Oppositional Defiant Disorder, PPD = Postpartum depression

Table 2. Characteristics of studies that examined parental substance misuse and offspring psychopathology

Author, Year, Country	Indigenous offspring (n)	Parental mental health	Parental measure	Offspring outcome	Offspring measure	Age of offspring	Informant for offspring	Main unadjusted results	Variables adjusted for	Main adjusted results
Yeh & Chiang 2005, Taiwan	Hualien Taitung inhabitants (n=334)	Maternal or paternal drinking frequency	Adolescent- reported (6- point Likert scale from 'Never/rarely drinks' to 'Drinks everyday')	 Alcohol consumption frequency (over past year) Alcohol misuse Alcohol- related negative consequences 	Self-report	10 th graders (age not reported)	Offspring	Paternal drinking increased the odds of alcohol use in Aboriginal (OR 4.91, OR 2.37-10.20) and non-Aboriginal Hans (OR 2.35, 95% CI 1.33-4.14) teens. Maternal drinking only increased the odds of alcohol use in Hans teens (OR 3.14, 95% CI 1.83-5.39)	Not reported	Not reported

Author, Year, Country	Indigenous offspring (n)	Parental mental health challenge	Parental measure	Offspring outcome	Offspring measure	Age of offspring	Informant for offspring outcomes	Main unadjusted results	Variables adjusted for	Main adjusted results
								Paternal drinking, but not maternal drinking, increased odds of problem drinking in Aboriginal (OR 6.48, 95% CI 2.19-19.18) and Han (OR 2.78, 95% CI 1.13-6.85) teens Paternal drinking, but not maternal drinking, increased the odds of alcohol-related consequences in Aboriginal teens (OR 3.07, 95% CI 1.26 – 7.50). Neither paternal nor maternal drinking was associated with alcohol-related consequences in Han teens.		
Sarche et al., 2009, USA	Northern Plains (n=86- 90)	a) Maternal alcohol use b) Maternal drug use	 a) CIDI-Short Form (Most drinks in a day past 12 months) b) CIDI-Short Form (Use of drugs in the past year) 	1. Orientation /Engagement, Emotion regulation, Motor Quality 2. Externalizing and	 Bayley Scales of Infant Development II Behavior Rating Scale 2. ITSEA (10 items deleted 	24-30 months	Mother and sometimes father	Not reported	Offspring sex, and household income	a) A 1 SD increase in maternal alcohol use was associated with a 0.27 SD decrease (95% CI -0.470.06) on Bayley but no statistically significant differences on ITSEA total, ITSEA

Author, Year, Country	Indigenous offspring (n)	Parental mental health challenge	Parental measure	Offspring outcome	Offspring measure	Age of offspring	Informant for offspring outcomes	Main unadjusted results	Variables adjusted for	Main adjusted results
				internalizing	from					externalizing, ITSEA
				behaviours	internalizing					internalizing scales
					scale after					b) A 1SD increase in
					consulting					maternal drug use, was
					with					associated with a 0.29
					community					SD increase (95%CI
					members)					0.09 – 0.50) in
										externalizing
										behaviour but not
										associated with
										Bayley's, ITSEA
										internalizing, ITSEA
										total scales

Frankel et	Northern	a) Maternal	a) self-report	Externalizing	ITSEA (21	27-30	Mother	a) Maternal alcohol	Offspring	a) Maternal alcohol
al., 2013,	Plains (n=76-	alcohol use	(Highest	,	items	months		use not associated with	sex,	use not associated with
USA	79)	in past	number of	internalizing,	removed			offspring	household	offspring
		month	drinks on a	dysregulation	after			externalizing,	income,	externalizing,
		b) Maternal	single day in	, and	consulting			internalizing,	maternal	internalizing,
		illicit drug	the past month)	competence	with			dysregulation, or	isolation,	dysregulation, or
		use in past	b) Self-report	issues	community			competence issues	and	competence issues
		month	(number of		members)				maternal	
		c) Maternal	times illicit		(continuous			b) Maternal drug use	perceived	b) Maternal drug use
		depression	drugs used)		measure;			not associated with	social stress	not associated with
					mean of			offspring		offspring

Author, Year, Country	Indigenous offspring (n)	Parental mental health challenge	Parental measure	Offspring outcome	Offspring measure	Age of offspring	Informant for offspring outcomes	Main unadjusted results	Variables adjusted for	Main adjusted results
			c) CES-D (mean response rating for seven items that had the largest positive loadings on the Depressed Affect factor reported for the 20-item CES- D)		domain scores)			externalizing, internalizing, dysregulation, or competence issues c) A 1 SD increase in maternal depression was associated with a 0.37 SD increase on externalizing scales (p=0.03), 0.38 SD increase on internalizing scales (p=0.01), and 0.38 SD increase on dysregulation scales (p=0.01). Associations with offspring competence were not significant		externalizing, internalizing, dysregulation, or competence issues c) A 1 SD increase in maternal depression was associated with a 0.28 SD increase on externalizing behaviours (p<0.01), 0.28 SD increase on internalizing scales (p<0.01), and 0.26 SD increase on dysregulations scales (p<0.01). Associations with offspring competence were not significant
Wall et al., 2000, USA	Native American (n=73)	Maternal and/or paternal alcoholism and alcohol- related issues	Self-report (hx of heavy drinking and number of alcohol-related issues experienced)	Internalizing and externalizing behaviours (measured on a continuous scale)	CBCL	7-13 years	Parent	Boys of parents with alcoholism had higher scores on the CBCL (total, internalizing scale, externalizing scale). No differences appeared for girls	Not reported	Not reported
Gilder et al., 2002, USA	Mission Indians (n=117)	Maternal and/or paternal	Self-report (hx of heavy drinking and number of	-Internalizing (MDD, separation anxiety	Children's Semi- Structured Assessment	7-14 years	Parent and child * 81 of the 117	Parental alcohol dependence was not associated with increased lifetime rates	Not reported	Not reported

Author, Year, Country	Indigenous offspring (n)	Parental mental health challenge	Parental measure	Offspring outcome	Offspring measure	Age of offspring	Informant for offspring outcomes	Main unadjusted results	Variables adjusted for	Main adjusted results
		alcohol dependence	alcohol-related issues experienced) with some reports verified through psychiatric diagnoses or verification through tribal elders	disorder, overanxious disorder) - externalizing disorders (ADHD, ODD, CD)	for the Genetics of Alcoholism, Parent Version		children self- completed the Diagnostic Interview for Children & Adolescent- s	of offspring psychiatric disorders		
Swaim et al., 2011, USA	American Indian (n=251)	Maternal and/or paternal alcohol abuse or dependence	Semi- Structured Assessment for the Genetics of Alcoholism Diagnostic Interview AND Family History Assessment Module of the National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism – Collaborative	 Alcohol use over past 30 days Alcohol related issues 	Self-report - Rutgers Alcohol Problems Index	13-18 years	Offspring	Parental alcohol use/dependence was not associated with alcohol use in the past 30 days among 13- year-olds Dual parental diagnoses increased the risk of alcohol related issues at age 18 compared to having no parents diagnosed	Not reported	Not reported

Author, Year, Country	Indigenous offspring (n)	Parental mental health challenge	Parental measure	Offspring outcome	Offspring measure	Age of offspring	Informant for offspring outcomes	Main unadjusted results	Variables adjusted for	Main adjusted results
			Studies on the Genetics of Alcoholism							
Yeh, 2004, Taiwan	Aborigines (n=495)	Maternal and/or paternal drinking frequency in past 12 months	Adolescent- reported (6- point Likert Scale from 'Never' to 'Everyday')	 Drinking frequency 2. Drunkenness 	 Self-report Self-report you drink') Self-report Self-report How often you get 	10 th graders (age not reported)	Offspring	Maternal and/or paternal drinking was associated with adolescent drinking frequency and drunkenness	Not reported	Not reported
No	ote. ADHD =	Attention T	Deficit Hyperac	tivity Disorde	$\frac{drunk'}{drunk}$	chenbach C	hild Behavi	our Checklist. CD =	Conduct Di	sorder. CES-

Note: ADHD = Attention Dencit Hyperactivity Disorder, CBCL = Achenoach Child Behaviour Checklist, CD = Conduct Disorder, CES-D = Center for Epidemiologic Studies – Depression Scale, CIDI = Composite International Diagnostic Interview, DISC-R = DiagnosticInterview Schedule for Children-Revised, DSM-III-R = Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-III-Revised, EPDS =Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale, GAD = Generalized Anxiety Disorder, GHQ = General Health Questionnaire, ITSEA = Infant-Toddler Social and Emotional Assessment, MDD = Major Depressive Disorder, MDE = Major Depressive Episode, ODD = OppositionalDefiant Disorder, UM-CIDI = University of Michigan Composite International Diagnostic Interview

Author, Year, Country	Indigenous offspring (n)	Parental mental health challenge	Parental measure	Offspring outcome	Offspring measure	Age of offspring	Informant for offspring outcomes	Main unadjusted results	Variables adjusted for	Main adjusted results
Paterson et al., 2013, New Zealand	Pacific Islanders (n= 1064 children at 2 years, 1066 children at 4 years, 1019 children at 6 years)	Maternal depression	GHQ (≥ 3)	Internalizing and externalizing behaviours (≥ 90 th percentile)	CBCL	2, 4, 6 years	Mother	Not reported	 Offspring sex and ethnicity, maternal age, education level, marital status, postnatal depression at 6 weeks postpartum, household income, and household size (internalizing model) Offspring sex (externalizing model) 	Maternal depression increased risk for internalizing behaviours (aOR 2.64, 95%CI 1.97- 3.54) but this did not vary among the three different ages Maternal depression increased risk for externalizing behaviours at 4 years (aOR 3.42, 95%CI 2.25-5.21) and 6 years (aOR 2.72, 95%CI 1.51-4.89) but NOT 2 years (aOR 0.64, 95%CI 0.30-1.36)
Riser et al., 2019, USA	American Indian/Alas kan Native (600)	Maternal depression	CES-D (≥15)	Externalizing behaviours (e.g., aggression, impulsivity)	Preschool and Kinder- garten Behaviour Scales, Second Edition	4.5 - 7 years old (M=5.5 years old)	Parent		Offspring age, sex, and cognition	Maternal depression was not associated with levels of offspring externalizing behaviours (β =0.04, p=0.07)
Whitbeck et al., 2008, USA	American Indians from the US and Canadian Northern	a) Maternal internalizin g disorder (MDE, dysthymic	a) UM- CIDI (culturally modified)	 Internalizing (MDE, dysthymic disorder, GAD) Externalizing (ODD, CD, ADHD) 	Diagnostic Interview Schedule for Children - Revised	10-15 years	Parent and child (only agreed reports marked as positive)	Not reported	Offspring sex and age, living in a single- mother household, and living in a	a) Maternal lifetime internalizing disorders increased the risk for 12-month offspring substance use (aOR 1.93, 95%CI 1.13-

Table 3. Characteristics of studies that examined maternal internalizing issues and offspring psychopathology

Autnor,IndigenousYear,offspringCountry(n)	Parental mental health challenge	Parental measure	Offspring outcome	Offspring measure	Age of offspring	Informant for offspring outcomes	Main unadjusted results	Variables adjusted for	Main adjusted results
Midwest (n=480)	disorder, GAD) b) Maternal substance	b) UM- CIDI (culturally modified)	- Substance use disorders (alcohol, alcohol dependence, marijuana abuse, marijuana					remote Canadian reserve	3.28) and externalizing (aOR 1.71, 95%CI 1.02- 2.86) but not internalizing disorders
	disorder		dependence, nicotine dependence)						b) Maternal lifetime substance use disorders increased the risk for offspring 12-month internalizing (OR 2.53, 95% CI 1.06-6.04) and externalizing (OR 1.96, 95% CI 1.12-3.42) but not substance use disorder

Note. CBCL = Achenbach Child Behaviour Checklist; CD = conduct disorder; CES-D = Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scales; GAD = generalized anxiety disorder; GHQ = General Health Questionnaire; MDE = major depressive episode; ODD = oppositional defiant disorder; UM-CIDI = University of Michigan Composite International Diagnostic Interview.

Internalizing and externalizing behaviors in offspring were examined in all 14 studies. These were assessed in 9 studies using questionnaires, 3 used structured interviews, and 2 used clinical records. Specifically, 3 studies used the Child Behaviour Checklist (CBCL)^{36,40,41} or another self-report measure (please see Table 1 for full details),^{33,38,45} and 2 utilized the Infant Toddler Socioemotional Assessment (ITSEA).^{34,35} One study each included the Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Assessment,³² Diagnostic Interview Schedule for Children–Revised,³⁹ Children's Semi-Structured Assessment for the Genetics of Alcoholism, Parent Version,³⁷ Preschool and Kindergarten Behavior Scales, Second Edition,⁴² pediatric referrals for offspring behavior and socioemotional issues,⁴³ and mental health related-emergency department visits.⁴⁴ Sarche et al. also measured orientation/engagement, emotion regulation, and motor quality using the Behavior Rating Scale of the Bayley Scales of Infant Development–II.

Six of the 14 studies included a culturally modified measure of offspring outcomes and/or consulted community members to ensure their questionnaire and/or interview protocols were culturally appropriate.^{34,35,39-41,44} Most often, the measures were modified by removing questions that were deemed to be offensive, part of regular Indigenous infant development, or thought to potentially cause confusion in respondents.

Study Methodological Bias

Using the National Institutes of Health Quality Assessment Tool for Observational Cohort and Cross-Sectional Studies, 3 studies were rated as "Good,"^{35,39,44} 6 studies were rated as "Fair,"^{34,38,40-42,45} and 3 studies were rated as "Poor."^{36,37,43} The most common factor increasing the risk of bias was outcome assessors not being blinded to exposure status (i.e., clinical status of parents). The 2 other studies assessed using the NOS were found to have a low³² and high risk of bias.³³ Tables 4 and 5 contain descriptions of the risk of methodological bias across the 14 studies.

Narrative Synthesis of Results

Unadjusted results were reported for 6 of the studies, results adjusted for covariates were reported for 5 of the studies, and both unadjusted and adjusted estimates were reported in the other 3 studies. We report adjusted results below, but in the absence of such data, we report unadjusted findings.

Overall Parental Mental Health (Broadly Defined)

The overall mental health of parents was examined in 4 studies, with an association between poor overall parental mental health and offspring psychopathology identified in 2. Costello et al. examined 3-month prevalence rates of anxiety, depression, oppositional, and attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder using parent and child reports for Indigenous (n = 323) and non-Indigenous youth (n = 933) living in North Carolina. They found that if one or both Indigenous parents were treated for a psychiatric disorder on ≥ 2 occasions and/or had a MFQ score ≥ 5 , their offspring were over 3 times more likely to have a psychiatric disorder (OR = 3.40; 95% CI, 1.60 to 7.10) compared to Indigenous offspring of healthy parents.³² Poor parental mental health also increased the risk for Caucasian offspring by 2-fold when compared to the Caucasian peers of parents without mental health challenges. While results are unadjusted, this study was rated to have a low risk of bias.

Liddle et al. conducted a cross-sectional examination of associations between parental self-reported mental health challenges and the prevalence of a pediatric specialist referral for developmental and/or behavioral issues in 183 Indigenous children living in Australia aged 0 to

14 years.⁴³ Those who had parents with mental health challenges were over 3 times more likely to be referred for behavioral issues, compared to the offspring of Indigenous parents with no selfreported mental health challenges. Although, this study should be interpreted with caution due to its high risk of bias. In contrast, in a study of associations between symptoms of a maternal psychiatric disorder (GHQ \geq 3) at 12 and 24 months postpartum, and maternal reports of offspring behavior at 24 months postpartum using the CBCL (\geq 90th percentile), Gao et al. found no statistically significant links when maternal age, ethnicity, household income, prenatal cigarette exposure, marital status, and education level were adjusted (fair methodological risk of bias).⁴¹ In a study rated to have a low risk of bias with 1,474 Aboriginal children aged 0 to 17 years old living in Australia, Williamson et al. found no associations between offspring mental health–related emergency department visits and prior parental treatment for mental health challenges or current parental distress when offspring age, sex, and geographical area were adjusted statistically.⁴⁴

Overall, poor overall parental mental health was associated with an increased risk of offspring psychopathology in 2 studies (one with a low risk of methodological bias, the other with a high risk of bias) and but not in 2 other studies (low to fair risk of bias).

Parental Substance Misuse

Eight studies examined parental substance misuse including drug and/or alcohol issues. Yeh and Chiang examined the influence of parental drinking on adolescent drinking frequency, drunkenness, and drinking-related problems among Han (non-Aboriginal) and Aboriginal 10th graders living in Taiwan. Paternal drinking increased the odds of alcohol use by almost 2-fold in the Aboriginal versus non-Aboriginal teens (OR = 1.90; 95% CI, 1.33 to 2.73).³³ Furthermore, paternal drinking increased the odds of problem drinking over 3-fold in the Aboriginal versus the
non-Aboriginal teens (OR = 3.10; 95% CI, 1.91 to 5.20).³³ These results were unadjusted and the study was rated to have a high risk of bias.

In a study with 96 Mission Indian children aged 8 to 13 years living on or near one of the 6 reservations in California, Wall et al. examined the impact of excessive parental alcohol use on offspring behavior. In unadjusted analyses, 23% of Indigenous offspring had behavioral problems compared to 8% of children of healthy parents. Male, but not female offspring of Indigenous parents with excess alcohol use also scored higher on the internalizing, externalizing, and total behavior scales on the CBCL as compared to the Mission Indian children of parents engaging in healthy drinking patterns. This effect was particularly strong for paternal alcohol misuse.³⁶ In a cross-sectional study of the same group of Mission Indian children (n = 117), Gilder et al. examined the prevalence of psychiatric diagnoses among the offspring of parents with alcohol dependence.³⁷ Based on combined parent and child reports, parental alcohol dependence was not associated with an increased risk of any lifetime psychiatric disorder in these 7- to 14-year- olds.³⁷ Both studies were rated to have a high risk of bias.

Among 480 adolescents from Canada and the United States, Whitbeck et al. found that a lifetime substance use disorder in Indigenous mothers increased the odds for internalizing (aOR = 2.53; 95% CI, 1.06 to 6.04) and externalizing behaviors (aOR = 1.96; 95% CI, 1.12 to 3.42), but not substance use disorders in adolescents as compared to the offspring of Indigenous mothers without a substance use disorder. These findings were adjusted statistically for offspring sex, age, single parent status, and the experience of living in a remote location, and the study was rated to have a low risk of bias.³⁹

Sarche et al. conducted a cross-sectional study with 90 mother–children dyads from a Northern Plains reservation (fair study quality). Analyses adjusting for offspring sex and

household income found that maternal alcohol use was associated with lower levels of offspring orientation/engagement, but not externalizing or internalizing behaviors in 2-year-olds. Furthermore, maternal drug use was associated with increased levels of symptoms of externalizing behaviors in 2-year-old children, but not orientation/engagement or internalizing behaviors.³⁴ In contrast, Frankel et al., rated to have a low risk of bias, examined associations between maternal alcohol or drug use and offspring emotional and behavioral difficulties among 79 toddlers from a Northern Plains reservation. They found that neither maternal alcohol use nor drug use was associated with levels of offspring internalizing, externalizing, dysregulation, or competence issues.³⁵

In a prospective cohort study with 251 American Indian teenagers, Swaim et al. found that when both parents had an alcoholism diagnosis, risk for alcohol-related problems in their 18-year-old children was increased, but that this was not associated with alcohol use in the past month among the 13-year-olds.³⁸ In a cross-sectional study, Yeh found that adolescent-reported maternal and/or paternal drinking was associated with self-reported adolescent drinking and drunkenness frequency in 495 Aboriginal children living in Taiwan.⁴⁵ Both were judged as having fair study quality. In sum, parental substance misuse was associated with offspring internalizing and externalizing behaviors in 6 studies but not in 2 others (one rated as high risk of bias).

Maternal Internalizing Issues

Associations between maternal internalizing issues (i.e., depression, dysthymia, or generalized anxiety disorder) and offspring socioemotional outcomes were examined in 5 studies. Frankel et al. conducted a cross-sectional study with 27- to 30-month-old Northern Plains (USA) toddlers using maternal reports of a culturally modified version of the ITSEA. Current maternal depression was associated with more offspring dysregulation, and internalizing and externalizing behaviors after adjusting for offspring sex, maternal isolation, stress, and negative social influences.³⁵ Similarly, in a study of over 1,000 mother–offspring dyads at 2, 4, and 6 years of age, and rated to have a fair study quality, Paterson et al. found that current maternal depression increased the odds of offspring internalizing behaviors by more than 2-fold when compared against children of asymptomatic Pacific Islander mothers.⁴⁰ Current maternal depression increased the odds of offspring externalizing behaviors in 4-year-olds (aOR = 3.42; 95% CI, 2.25 to 5.21) and 6-year-olds (aOR = 2.72; 95% CI 1.51 to 4.89), but not among 2-year-old children when compared to the offspring of Pacific Islander mothers without maternal depression.⁴⁰

Whitbeck et al. reported that lifetime maternal internalizing disorders (i.e., major depressive episode, dysthymic disorder, or generalized anxiety disorder), as assessed using a culturally modified version of the CIDI, increased the odds of a 12-month prevalence of externalizing and substance use disorders by nearly 2 times in 480 Indigenous youth living in Canada and American Northern Midwest when compared with adolescents of healthy Indigenous mothers. Offspring sex, age, living in a single-mother household, and living in a remote location were statistically adjusted and the study was rated to have a low risk of bias.³⁹ In contrast, Gao et al. found no association between maternal depression at 6 weeks postpartum (EPDS ≥ 13) and maternal reports of offspring internalizing and externalizing behaviors at 2 years of age using the CBCL when adjusting for maternal age, ethnicity, household income, prenatal exposure to cigarettes, marital status, and education level.⁴¹ However, somewhat consistent with the other studies, increased chances of internalizing behaviors were evident when the mothers had persistent mental health challenges (depression at 6 weeks postpartum *and* symptoms of a psychological disorder at 12 and/or 24 months postpartum).

In a study with 600 American Indian/Alaskan Native kindergarten-aged children, Riser and colleagues found no statistically significant association between self-reported severe maternal depression (CES-D \geq 15) and parent-reported offspring externalizing behaviors when offspring sex, age, and cognitive skills were adjusted.⁴² The study was judged to have a fair study quality.

In sum, maternal internalizing issues were found to be associated with offspring internalizing and externalizing behaviors in 4 of the 5 studies with 2 of these studies rated to have a low risk of bias.

Table 4. Study Methodological Bias Assessment	Using the National	Institutes of Health	Quality	Assessment	Tool for	Observational
Cohort and Cross-Sectional Studies						

Criteria	Gao et	Liddle et	Williamson	Sarche	Frankel	Wall et	Gilder et	Swaim	Yeh,	Paterson	Riser et	Whitbeck
	al., 2007	al., 2014	et al., 2018	et al., 2009	et al., 2013	al., 2000	al., 2002	et al., 2011	2004	et al., 2014	al., 2019	et al., 2008
1. Was the research	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
question or objective in this paper clearly stated?												
2. Was the study population clearly specified and defined?	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
3. Was the participation rate of eligible persons at least 50%?	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	CD	CD	CD	Y	CD	CD	Y
4. Were all the subjects selected or recruited from the same or similar populations (including in the same time period)? Were inclusion and exclusion criteria for being in the study prespecified and applied uniformly to all participants	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	CD	Y	CD	Y	Y	Ν	Y
5. Was a sample size justification, power description, or variance, and effect estimates provided?	Ν	Ν	N	Ν	N	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν
6. For the analyses in this paper, were the exposure(s) of interest measured prior to the	Y	N	Y	N	N	N	N	Y	N	Y	Y	Y

Ph.D. Thesis - S. Owais; McMaster University - Neuroscience

outcome(s) being

measured?

7. Was the timeframe sufficient so that one could reasonably expect to see an association between exposure and outcome if it existed?	Y	Ν	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y
8. For exposures that can vary in amount or level, did the study examine different levels of the exposure as related to the outcome (e.g., categories of exposure, or exposure measured as continuous variable)?	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Υ	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν
9. Were the exposure measures (independent variables) clearly defined, valid, reliable, and implemented consistently across all study participants?	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y
10. Was the exposure(s) assessed more than once over time?	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Y
11. Were the outcome measures (dependent variables) clearly defined, valid, reliable, and implemented consistently across all study participants?	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Y

12. Were the outcome assessors blinded to the exposure status of participants?	Ν	CD	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	N	Ν	Ν	Ν				
13. Was loss to follow-up after baseline 20% or less?	Y	NA	Y	NA	NA	NA	NA	Y	NA	Ν	Y	Y				
14. Were key potential confounding variables measured and adjusted statistically for their impact on the relationship between exposure(s) and outcome(s)?	Y	Y	Y	Y	Υ	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Y				
Quality Rating	Fair	Poor	Good	Fair	Good	Poor	Poor	Fair	Fair	Fair	Fair	Good				
Note CD - Compo	t datamai	$n = N - N_{\rm c}$	$\sim MA - Mat$	Amplicab	Nete CD Connect determine N. N. NA. Net Applied by You											

Note. CD = Cannot determine, N = No, NA = Not Applicable, Y = Yes

 Table 5. Study Methodological Bias Assessment Using the Newcastle-Ottawa Quality Assessment Scale

Author,	Representativeness of	Justification of	Ascertainment of	Non-	Comparability	Ascertainment	Well-defined	Statistical	Total
Year	exposed cohort (selecti	sample size	exposure	respondents	of cohorts	of outcome	variables	tests used	score
	bias)	(selection bias)	(selection bias)	(selection bias)	(comparability	(outcome bias)	(outcome bias)	(outcome	
					bias)			bias)	
Costello et	*	None	Written self-	*	*	*	*	*	6/9
al., 1997			report						
Yeh &	*	None	Written self-	No	*	Self-report	*	*	4/9
Chiang,			report						
2005									

Note. The asterisks represent 'Yes'.

Discussion

Associations between parental psychopathology and offspring emotional and behavioral outcomes were examined in 14 studies of Indigenous parents and their offspring across 5 countries. In 11 of these 14 studies, associations were found between parental mental health challenges and offspring emotional and behavioral challenges. Of these 11 studies, just 2 included non-Indigenous comparison groups. These 2 studies provided limited data to suggest that the offspring of Indigenous parents with mental health challenges were more susceptible to their adverse effects than those born to non-Indigenous parents.^{32,33} While data comparing risk in the offspring of Indigenous and non-Indigenous parents with mental health challenges are scarce, and no conclusions regarding causality can be made, these findings raise the possibility that Indigenous offspring may be more susceptible to the adverse effects of being raised by a parent with a mental health challenge. Why this might be is unclear, but factors such as identity loss and environmental stresses could be implicated. Indeed, identity loss due to ongoing colonial trauma in Indigenous Peoples has been shown to amplify mental health risk.^{26,46} Colonization resulted in forced dislocation from familiar, traditional lands to unknown, remote lands and placement with individuals different from their Nation.^{13,26} Accordingly, Indigenous Peoples did not have access to familiar food sources nor to their kinship network which contributed to identity loss.²⁶ Further, assimilation practices such as residential/boarding schools or placement of Indigenous children in the care of Caucasian families resulted in the breakdown and disconnection of family units.^{8,25,27,47} During these critical developmental periods, children rarely observed or learned the cultural and parenting practices of their heritage.^{7,47}

Disconnection from cultural lands or social status in their community may also be particularly deleterious when the identity loss occurs during childhood or adolescence. Since

some Indigenous groups hold sociocentric identities, offspring mental health challenges can be further exacerbated if the mental health of their parents, kin, or community is suboptimal.^{8,25,48} For example, parents suffering from mental health challenges may be unable to provide sufficient support, nurturance, and socioemotional development to their children.⁴⁹ If environmental stressors such as chronic poverty, precarious housing, food insecurity, and other structural disadvantages that are often faced by Indigenous Peoples are concurrent with mental health challenges, then psychopathology among family members can be further exacerbated.⁵⁰ The mechanisms underlying this transmission have yet to be elucidated, although a growing area of research includes examining epigenetic changes among Indigenous Peoples, particularly those who are descendants from survivors of residential schools.^{51,52}

However, caution must be exercised in drawing conclusions about amplified risk transmission in these individuals, particularly since this is based on just 2 studies (one of which did not include a direct comparison of Indigenous and non-Indigenous groups) and because many questionnaires and structured interviews are neither developed with Indigenous families in mind nor tested and validated in these populations. The lack of Indigenous research methodologies (e.g., symbol-based reflection) in these studies further requires us to interpret these results with caution.⁵³

In the remaining 12 studies, in which no non-Indigenous comparison group was included, associations between parental mental illness and offspring psychopathology were found in 9, with rates comparable to general population samples, raising the possibility that the transmission rates may not be stronger in Indigenous families. For example, studies in the review suggested that the offspring of Indigenous parents with substance use issues are 2 to 3 times more likely to have a mental health challenge. Evidence from large general population samples indicate that

exposure to parental substance use increases the risk for offspring psychiatric morbidity anywhere from 2 to 8 times.^{54,55} We calculated effect sizes for our included studies on maternal depression and offspring emotional and behavioral issues and found small effect sizes for offspring internalizing (d = 0.23 to 0.26) and externalizing difficulties (d = 0.13 to 0.29).⁵⁶ Comparable effect sizes were reported in a meta-analysis of 193 studies of general population samples where the strength of the association between maternal depression and offspring behavior across all ages was small for internalizing (g = 0.23) and externalizing (g = 0.21) behaviors.⁵⁷

Due to the ongoing structural disadvantages that Indigenous Peoples face, the similarity of effect sizes with non-Indigenous groups may be surprising.¹⁰ However, this may be due to reclamation of Indigeneity or collective resilience which have been associated with a more positive well-being.^{26,58,59} Indeed, parents' cultural connectedness was found to protect offspring against the development of externalizing and internalizing behaviors in studies included in our review.^{34,40} This is consistent with seminal findings by Chandler and Lalonde that the greater the cultural continuity (degree to which culture was transmitted from generation to generation) of a First Nations community, the lower the risk of suicide among the member of that community.⁶⁰ Therefore, Indigenous youth who retain a cultural identity within and beyond their community may be protected against the development of mental health challenges. Further, Indigenous groups that practice traditional parenting techniques like alloparenting, provide opportunities to the children to have decreased exposure to parental psychopathology, and ample opportunity for socioemotional development through modeling, which may reduce the transmission of psychopathology.⁶¹ In addition, engaging in collective resilience (e.g., political activism or group participation in cultural traditions) may help to optimize mental health in Indigenous Peoples.⁶² Even if offspring may be experiencing individual adversities, the social solidarity they receive

from community members may prevent the development or worsening of mental health challenges.

However, the findings of these studies may also be biased toward the null hypothesis by studies' methodological limitations that restrict our full understanding of the risks and their precipitants that Indigenous offspring may experience. These include issues related to Indigenous engagement, sampling, measurement, and analysis among others.⁶³ Indeed, Indigenous groups did not appear to have been consulted in 8 of the 14 studies, and so the recruitment of participants could have been biased toward those who are more trusting of researchers who use Western-dominant research methodologies, resulting in the misestimation of mental health challenges among Indigenous offspring. The lack of Indigenous partnership may also have prevented Indigenous definitions of mental well-being from being applied where well-being is viewed as wholistic, strength-based (rather than solely highlighting deficits), interconnected between mind, body, spirit, and land; acknowledges culture-bound syndromes; and advocates for reclamation of cultural traditions as a form of healing.^{8,64,65} Failing to uphold Indigenous views on well-being and healing could result in misestimation of mental health challenges and hinder the identification of issues that are relevant for Indigenous Peoples.

Further, the sample size was not justified in any of the 14 studies, and so no discussion is provided as to whether these studies were adequately powered to detect differences in their primary outcome. In addition, some Indigenous groups may restrain their expression of extreme emotions or have different rules of behavior that can be reflected in measurement tools.^{49,66} Thus, researchers who collaborated with Indigenous communities were advised to remove the ITSEA item "[child] is constantly moving" (a symptom of externalizing behavior), as exploration, independence, and autonomy are very much encouraged in Indigenous cultures.³⁴ However, in

only 6 of the 14 studies were the questionnaires either adapted for use in Indigenous populations or the Indigenous communities were consulted prior to the onset of the research. Studies with measures that are not normed with Indigenous populations may misinterpret and overestimate the rates of externalizing behaviors in Indigenous offspring.⁴⁹ Aside from a lack of cultural validity, clinical interviews to measure parental mental health challenges were used in only 3 of the 14 studies, while the remainder of studies used questionnaires and cut-offs not normed to Indigenous groups. Using self-report questionnaires with low thresholds may not provide valid associations between poor parental health and offspring outcomes. Finally, 4 of the 14 studies were found to have a high methodological risk of bias and so results must be interpreted with caution.

Future Directions

In order to determine whether offspring of Indigenous parents with a mental health challenge are at a higher risk compared to their non-Indigenous peers, it is important that future studies recruit representative samples including non-Indigenous comparison groups, utilize measures that have been adapted and validated among the Indigenous group they are working with, and collaborate with Indigenous stakeholders to ensure the appropriate development and application of such measurements.

In future studies, researchers should aim to recruit representative samples from Indigenous communities along with matched controls from non-Indigenous populations. Representative samples may provide more accurate estimates of mental health challenges in Indigenous groups along with more accurate relative risks when non-Indigenous participants are recruited. These descriptive studies should be carried out with the ultimate goal of developing and tailoring interventions to the Indigenous Nation being examined.⁶⁷ Describing prevalence

rates may also guide appropriate earmarking of government funding and resources. Culturally appropriate questionnaires (and their cut-offs) and structured interviews must also be developed for use in different Indigenous populations to ensure that symptoms of psychopathology in parents and children are accurately captured and useful screening, intervention, and treatment protocols developed.

Paramount to the recruitment of representative populations and adaptation and validation of measurements is the full partnership of Indigenous researchers, leaders, and communities in all stages of research including research question formulation, data collection and analysis, and data dissemination.⁶⁸ Collaboration will ensure that items on standardized questionnaires are applicable for Indigenous child development. Community-level control of data should be provided for capacity-building, empowerment, and appropriate resource allocation.^{26,68} Further, to facilitate the development of intervention and treatment protocols for Indigenous offspring and their parents, variables that mediate and/or moderate the relationship between parental and offspring psychopathology must be examined. Particular attention should be paid to elucidating resilience mechanisms and applying a strengths-based perspective.^{8,53} The diversity of Indigenous Peoples must be acknowledged in the development of interventions as the same intervention may not demonstrate the same effects across Indigenous groups.²⁶

Limitations

In addition to the issues raised above, the majority of studies were cross-sectional, which precludes us from drawing inferences on the temporal relationship between parental and offspring psychopathology. Moreover, only 2 studies included a non-Indigenous comparison group, so point estimates could not be calculated. Finally, child outcomes in all but 2 studies were examined using only maternal or child reports of questionnaires that can be colored by parental

clinical status, leading to the overestimation of offspring internalizing and externalizing behaviors.⁶⁹

Conclusion

The findings from this systematic review indicate that parental psychopathology is associated with offspring emotional and behavioral challenges among Indigenous populations, much as it is with non-Indigenous populations. However, whether the offspring born to Indigenous parents with mental health challenges have higher rates of psychopathology than children born to comparable non-Indigenous parents remains unclear. More studies are needed to better understand resilience and risk factors that may lead to suboptimal Indigenous child development, and future studies should recruit large, representative samples, utilize culturally adapted measurements, and engage Indigenous stakeholders. Findings from these studies can then help identify children at risk for psychopathology and isolate targets for intervention to help improve the mental health of families and future generations.

References

 McLaughlin KA, Gadermann AM, Hwang I, et al. Parent psychopathology and offspring mental disorders: results from the WHO world mental health surveys. Br J Psychiatry. 2012; 200(4):290-299.

2. Rasic D, Hajek T, Alda M, Uher R. Risk of mental illness in offspring of parents with schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and major depressive disorder: a meta-analysis of family high-risk studies. Schizophr Bull. 2014;40(1):28-38.

3. Sanger C, Iles J, Andrew C, Ramchandani PG. Associations between postnatal maternal depression and psychological outcomes in adolescent offspring: a systematic review. Arch Womens Ment Health. 2015;18(2):147-162.

4. Singh MK, DelBello MP, Stanford KE, et al. Psychopathology in children of bipolar parents. J Affect Disord. 2007;102(1-3): 131-136.

5. Timko C, Cronkite RC, Berg EA, Moos RH. Children of parents with unipolar depression: a comparison of stably remitted, partially remitted, and nonremitted parents and nondepressed controls. Child Psychiatry Hum Dev. 2002;32(3):165-185.

6. Siegenthaler E, Munder T, Egger M. Effect of preventive interventions in mentally ill parents on the mental health of the offspring: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2012;51(1):8-17.

7. Burack JA, Schmidt LA. Cultural and contextual perspectives on developmental risk and wellbeing. New York: Cambridge University Press; 2014. 8. Kirmayer L, Simpson C, Cargo M. Healing traditions: culture, community and mental health promotion with Canadian Aboriginal peoples. Australas Psychiatry. 2003;11(Suppl 1):15-23.

9. Burack J, Blidner A, Flores H, Fitch T. Constructions and deconstructions of risk, resilience and wellbeing: a model for understanding the development of Aboriginal adolescents. Australas Psychiatry. 2007;15 (Suppl 1):18-23.

10. Fryberg SA, Covarrubias R, Burack JA. The ongoing psychological colonization of North American Indigenous people: using social psychological theories to promote social justice. In: Hammack PL, editor. The Oxford handbook of social psychology and social justice. New York: Oxford University Press; 2018. p. 113-128.

11. Gone JP, Hartmann WE, Pomerville A, Wendt DC, Klem SH, Burrage RL. The impact of historical trauma on health outcomes for Indigenous populations in the USA and Canada: a systematic review. Am Psychol. 2019;74(1):20-35.

12. Hammack PL. The Oxford handbook of social psychology and social justice. Oxford New York: University Press; 2018.

13. Burack JA, Reynolds A, Landry O, Klassen G, Russo N, Fryberg SA. Cultural influences and perspectives on developmental psychopathology: evidence from Aboriginal communities in North America. In: Centifanti LC, Williams DM, editors. The Wiley handbook of developmental psychopathology. Hoboken (NJ): Wiley-Blackwell; 2017. p. 411-430.

14. Prandl KJ, Rooney R, Bishop BJ. Mental health of Australian Aboriginal women during pregnancy: identifying the gaps. Arch Womens Ment Health. 2012;15(3):149-154.

15. Nasir BF, Toombs MR, Kondalsamy-Chennakesavan S, et al. Common mental disorders among Indigenous people living in regional, remote and metropolitan Australia: a cross-sectional study. BMJ Open. 2018;8(6):1-11.

16. Nelson SE, Wilson K. The mental health of Indigenous peoples in Canada: a critical review of research. Soc Sci Med. 2017; 176:93-112.

17. Sawyer KM, Zunszain PA, Dazzan P, Pariante CM. Intergenerational transmission of depression: clinical observations and molecular mechanisms. Mol Psychiatry. 2019;24(8): 1157-1177.

18. Wicklow BA, Sellers EAC. Maternal health issues and cardiometabolic outcomes in the offspring: a focus on Indigenous populations. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 2015; 29(1):43-53.

19. Turecki G, Meaney M. Effects of the social environment and stress on glucocorticoid receptor gene methylation: a systematic review. Biol Psychiatry. 2016;79(2):87-96.

20. Toombs E, Drawson AS, Chambers L, Bobinski TLR, Dixon J, Mushquash CJ. Moving towards an Indigenous research process: a reflexive approach to empirical work with first nations communities in Canada. Int Indig Policy J. 2019;10(1):6.

21. Moher D, Shamseer L, Clarke M, et al. Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Meta-analysis Protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015 statement. Syst Rev. 2015;4(1):1.

22. Stroup DF, Berlin JA, Morton SC, et al. Meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology: a proposal for reporting. Meta-analysis of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) group. JAMA. 2000;283(15):2008-2012.

23. United Nations. Indigenous peoples at the UN; c. 2019. [accessed 2019 Jan 24].

https://www.un.org/development/ desa/indigenouspeoples/about-us.html.

24. Joseph B. Indigenous peoples: a guide to terminology. Indigenous corporate training; 2018 [accessed 2020 Sept 5]. https:// www.ictinc.ca/indigenous-peoples-a-guide-to-terminology.

25. Clark Y. The construction of Aboriginal identity in people separated from their families, community, and culture: pieces of a jigsaw. Aust Psychol. 2000;35(2):150-157.

26. Kirmayer LJ, Brass GM, Tait CL. The mental health of Aboriginal peoples: transformations of identity and community. Can J Psychiatry. 2000;45(7):607-616.

27. McEwen EC, Boulton TJ, Smith R. Can the gap in Aboriginal outcomes be explained by DOHaD. J Dev Orig Health Dis. 2019;10(1):5-16.

28. Munsterhjelm M. No miracles here—an introduction to the politics and rights of the Aboriginal peoples of Taiwan. Taiwan First Nations; 2010 [accessed 2020 Sept 5]. http://www.taiwan firstnations.org/nomiracl.htm.

29. National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (NHLBI). Study quality assessment tools. 2014. [accessed 2019 May 30]. https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-topics/study-quality-assessment-tools.

30. Ottawa Hospital Research Institute. The newcastle-ottawa scale (NOS) for assessing the quality of nonrandomised studies in meta-analyses. Ottawa Hospital Research Institute; 2019. [accessed 2019 Dec 3]. http://www.ohri.ca/programs/clinicalepidemiology/oxford.asp.

 McHugh ML. Interrater reliability: the kappa statistic. Biochem Medica. 2012;22(3):276-282. 32. Costello EJ, Farmer EMZ, Angold A, Burns BJ, Erkanli A. Psychiatric disorders among American Indian and white youth in Appalachia: the great smoky mountains study. Am J Public Health. 1997;87(5):827-832.

33. Yeh MY, Chiang IC. Comparison of the predictors of alcohol use and misuse among Han and Aboriginal students in Taiwan. Addict Behav. 2005;30(5):989-1000.

34. Sarche MC, Croy CD, Crow CB, Mitchell CM, Spicer P. Maternal correlates of 2-year-old American Indian children's social-emotional development in a Northern plains tribe. Infant Ment Health J. 2009;30(4):321-340.

35. Frankel KA, Croy CD, Kubicek LF, Emde RN, Mitchell CM, Spicer P. Toddler socioemotional behavior in a Northern Plains Indian tribe: associations with maternal psychosocial well- being. Infant Ment Health J. 2014;35(1):10-20.

36. Wall TL, Garcia-Andrade C, Wong V, Lau P, Ehlers CL. Parental history of alcoholism and problem behaviors in native-American children and adolescents. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2000;24(1):30-34.

37. Gilder DA, Wall TL, Ehlers CL. Psychiatric diagnoses among mission Indian children with and without a parental history of alcohol dependence. J Stud Alcohol. 2002;63(1):18-23.

38. Swaim RC, Beauvais F, Walker RD, Silk-Walker P. The effects of parental diagnosis and changing family norms on alcohol use and related problems among urban American Indian adolescents. Am J Addict. 2011;20(3):212-219.

39. Whitbeck LB, Yu M, Johnson KD, Hoyt DR, Walls ML. Diagnostic prevalence rates from early to mid-adolescence among Indigenous adolescents: first results from a longitudinal study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2008;47(8): 890-900. 40. Paterson J, Taylor S, Schluter P, Iusitini L. Pacific Islands families (PIF) study: behavioural problems during childhood. J Child Fam Stud. 2013;22(2):231-243.

41. Gao W, Paterson J, Abbott M, Carter S, Iusitini L. Maternal mental health and child behaviour problems at 2 years: findings from the Pacific Islands families study. Aust N Z J Psychiatry. 2007;41(11):885-895.

42. Riser QH, Rouse HL, Dorius CJ, Choi JY. Native American children and school readiness: a nationally representative study of individual and cumulative risks. Child Youth Serv Rev. 2019;106:104496.

43. Liddle K, Askew DA, Betts K, Hayman N, Alati R. Predictors of specialist referral for developmental and behavioural problems in a Queensland urban Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander community: a cross-sectional study. Aust Fam Physician. 2014;43(9):640-643.

44. Williamson A, Skinner A, Falster K, Clapham K, Eades SJ, Banks E. Mental health-related emergency department presentations and hospital admissions in a cohort of urban Aboriginal children and adolescents in New South Wales, Australia: findings from SEARCH. BMJ Open. 2018;8(11):1-12.

45. Yeh MY. Exploring the effects of psychosocial and acculturation factors on drinking behavior among Aboriginal adolescents in Taiwan. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2004;58(5):453-459.

46. Fryberg SA, Markus HR, Oyserman D, Stone JM. Of warrior chiefs and Indian princesses: the psychological consequences of American Indian mascots. Basic Appl Soc Psychol. 2008; 30(3):208-218. 47. Muir N, Bohr Y. Contemporary practice of traditional Aboriginal child rearing: a review. First Peoples Child Fam Rev. 2019;14(1):153-165.

48. Goodman S, Gotlib I. Risk for psychopathology in the children of depressed mothers: adevelopmental model for understanding mechanisms of transmission. Psychol Rev. 1999;106(3):458-490.

49. Brant CC. Native ethics and rules of behaviour. Can J Psychiatry. 1990;35(6):534-539.

50. Anderson T. Census in Brief: the housing conditions of Aboriginal people in Canada. 2017. [accessed 2019 Jan 29]. https:// www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/as-sa/98-200x/2016021/98-200-x2016021-eng.cfm.

51. Swan K. Researcher proposes study on how residential school trauma may have affected genes. 2018. [accessed 2020 Jun 17]. https://www.cbc.ca/news/indigenous/residential-school-trauma-epigenetics-1.4681966.

52. Bombay A, Matheson K, Anisman H. The intergenerational effects of Indian residential schools: implications for the concept of historical trauma. Transcult Psychiatry. 2014;51(3):320-338.

53. Hyett S, Marjerrison S, Gabel C. Improving health research among Indigenous peoples in Canada. CMAJ. 2018;190(20): E616-E621. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.171538.

54. Martikainen P, Korhonen K, Moustgaard H, Aaltonen M, Remes H. Substance abuse in parents and subsequent risk of offspring psychiatric morbidity in late adolescence and early adulthood: a longitudinal analysis of siblings and their parents. Soc Sci Med. 2018;217:106-111.

55. Merikangas KR, Stolar M, Stevens DE, et al. Familial transmission of substance use disorders. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1998; 55(11):973-979.

56. Borenstein M, Hedges LV, Higgins JPT, et al. Converting among effect sizes. In: Sharples K, editor. Introduction to meta-analysis. West Sussex: John Wiley & Sons; 2009. p. 45-49.

57. Goodman SH, Rouse MH, Connell AM, Broth MR, Hall CM, Heyward D. Maternal depression and child psychopathology: a meta-analytic review. Clin Child Fam Psychol Rev. 2011; 14(1):1-27.

58. Salmon M, Skelton F, Thurber KA, et al. Intergenerational and early life influences on the well-being of Australian Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children: overview and selected findings from footprints in time, the longitudinal study of Indigenous children. J Dev Orig Health Dis. 2019;10(1):17-23.

59. Hopkins KD, Taylor CL, Zubrick SR. Psychosocial resilience and vulnerability in Western Australian Aboriginal youth. Child Abuse Negl. 2018;78:85-95.

60. Chandler MJ, Lalonde C. Cultural continuity as a hedge against suicide in Canada's First Nations. Transcult Psychiatry. 1998; 35(2):191-219.

61. Findlay L, Kohen D, Miller A. Developmental milestones among Aboriginal children in Canada. Paediatr Child Health. 2014;19(5):241-246.

62. Kirmayer LJ, Dandeneau S, Marshall E, Phillips MK, Williamson KJ. Rethinking resilience from Indigenous perspectives. Can J Psychiatry. 2011;56(2):84-91.

63. Owais S, Faltyn M, Johnson AVD, et al. The perinatal mental health of Indigenous women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Can J Psychiatry. 2020;65(3):149-163.

64. Ames ME, Rawana JS, Gentile P, Morgan AS. The protective role of optimism and selfesteem on depressive symptom pathways among Canadian Aboriginal youth. J Youth Adolesc. 2015;44(1):142-154.

65. Vukic AR, Gregory DF, Martin-Misener R, Etowa JB. Aboriginal and Western conceptions of mental health and illness. Pimatisiwin. 2011;9(1):65-86.

66. Gurr E, Namdari R, Lai J, Parker D, Wendt DC, Burack JA. Perspective on shyness as adaptive from Indigenous peoples of North America. In: Schmidt LA, Poole KL, editors.
Adaptive shyness: developmental, comparative, and cultural perspectives. Switzerland: Springer International Publishing; 2020. p. 239-249.

67. Barlow A, Walkup JT. The first Americans have much to teach us. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2008;47(8):843-844.

68. United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples. United Nations for Indigenous peoples; 2020 [accessed 2020 Sept 5].

https://www.un.org/development/desa/indigenouspeo ples/declaration-on-the-rights-ofindigenous-peoples.html.

69. Gartstein MA, Bridgett DJ, Dishion TJ, Kaufman NK. Depressed mood and maternal report of child behavior problems: another look at the depression–distortion hypothesis. J Appl Dev Psychol. 2009;30(2):149-160.

70. Blacksmith G. Forgotten footprints: colonialism form a Cree perspective. Ottawa: Gordon Group; 2016.

Chapter 5: Determinants Of Socioemotional And Behavioral Well-Being Among First Nations Children Living Off-Reserve In Canada: A Cross-Sectional Study (Study 4) Study 4 Overview

Title: Determinants Of Socioemotional And Behavioral Well-Being Among First Nations Children Living Off-Reserve In Canada: A Cross-Sectional Study

Authors: Sawayra Owais, MSc, Maria B. Ospina, PhD, Camron D. Ford, Troy Hill, MEd, Jessica Lai, MEd, John Krzeczkowski, PhD, Jacob A. Burack, PhD, Ryan J. Van Lieshout, MD, PhD

Context and Overall Implications: In the previous studies I described that Indigenous perinatal individuals, parents, and their children may be at a greater risk for mental health challenges. For the final study in this thesis, I took a strengths-based approach to examining Indigenous children's health and also identified factors that were associated with better well-being. The study identified a range of generic and Indigenous-specific factors associated with First Nations children's well-being. These findings can empower communities to use their own cultural knowledge to optimize the well-being of children and contribute to their healthy development.

Acknowledgements: We would like to thank McMaster's Research Data Centre where the statistical analyses for this study were conducted

Conflicts of Interest: The author(s) declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Funding: This study was funded by the Canadian Research Data Centre Network Emerging Scholars Award

Under review at: Child Development

Abstract

This nationally representative, cross-sectional study examined Indigenous- and non-Indigenousspecific determinants associated with positive socioemotional and behavioral well-being among First Nations children living off-reserve in Canada. The parents or other caregivers of 2,990 two to five year-old children (50.6% male) reported on their socioemotional and behavioral wellbeing and a range of child, parent, and housing characteristics. Being taught an Indigenous culture, high levels of community cohesion, parental/other caregiver nurturing, very good/excellent parental/other caregiver health, and fewer household members were associated with better socioemotional and behavioral well-being. These results highlight the importance of leveraging Indigenous-specific determinants and acknowledging non-Indigenous-specific factors, to promote the socioemotional and behavioral well-being of First Nations children living off-reserve.

Keywords: First Nations, Indigenous-specific determinants, positive well-being

Introduction

Indigenous peoples are the original inhabitants of traditional lands prior to the establishment of country borders, and in the face of enduring colonialism, these nearly 500 million individuals around the world have displayed tremendous strength, resilience, and resistance (Dhir et al., 2020). Survivance, a term coined by Anishinaabe theorist Gerald Vizenor highlights that not only have Indigenous peoples survived concerted and systematic efforts to destroy their cultures, but continue to restore and revitalize their cultural practices, traditions, and languages (Vizenor, 1999). As one example, more Indigenous peoples in Canada can speak an Indigenous language today than over a decade ago, and young people in particular are learning them as their primary second language (Statistics Canada, 2017). Indigenous children and youth are often at the forefront of efforts aimed at cultural restoration and language revitalization, as well as serving as agents of political, social, and environmental change. Their commitment to activism emanates largely from their Indigenous cultures and teachings. Among First Nations the most populous Indigenous group in Canada (Government of Canada, 2017) – their cultures teach the importance of children having autonomy and independence, emphasize their involvement in traditional cultural activities from a young age, and honor children as gifts from the Creator (Muir & Bohr, 2019). Since children are viewed as sacred individuals, great importance is placed on their development to ensure they grow into healthy, contributing citizens (Greenwood, 2005).

Despite the profound resilience and strength of Indigenous children and youth, the majority of research on Indigenous children's health is focused on negative outcomes, disparities, and deficits. For instance, in a systematic review of 47 studies of factors associated with mental health among Indigenous children, adolescents, and young adults, 87% of studies

included descriptions of negative health outcomes (Young et al., 2017). This focus is disadvantageous for several reasons. One, the focus on deficits stands in direct contrast to First Nations views of mental well-being in which mental health is conceptualized as strength-based and encompasses spiritual, emotional, physical, and community health (Vukic et al., 2011). Relationships with family, community members, land, culture, the environment, and the Creator are fundamental to First Nations' definition of well-being (Halseth & Greenwood, 2019), and differ from Eurocentric views in which the focus is on the assessment of psychopathology and problem behaviors. Two, the focus on health disparities among marginalized groups without the appropriate (historical) context can lead to stereotyping and stigmatization. These, in turn, negatively impact Indigenous people's development of cultural identity (Priest et al., 2012) and their desire to seek healthcare (Findling et al., 2019), thereby further worsening health disparities. Three, identifying positive promotive factors of mental well-being can guide the development of interventions that are more in keeping with First Nations views of mental health, potentially increasing uptake, and properly inform the allocation of resources aimed at improving their health and lives. Policymakers, researchers, and community members can then effectively leverage these factors to promote healthy child development in their communities.

In this study, we examine factors associated with positive socioemotional and behavioral well-being among First Nations children living off-reserve. Comprising 60% of the Indigenous population in Canada (Government of Canada, 2017), the more than one million First Nations individuals are from 634 culturally-diverse bands (Government of Canada, 2017). About 30% of First Nations individuals live on a reserve, tracts of land that are designated for use by First Nations according to treaty rights (Government of Canada, 2017), whereas the other 70% live off-reserve in rural or urban areas throughout Canada. Even though the majority of First Nations individuals live off-reserve, a number that is expected to increase in the future (Environics

Institute, 2010), the off-reserve population is significantly underrepresented in the Indigenous health literature (Nelson & Wilson, 2017).

The study of children living off-reserve also provides a unique opportunity to understand a population that is immersed in the dominant Eurocentric culture while still trying to uphold their own traditional cultural values. In a survey of 2,614 off-reserve First Nations, Métis, and Inuit adults (≥18 years old) living in 11 urban Canadian cities, 60% of the participants felt a strong connection with their traditional land and communities although 71% of them considered their current urban city "home" (Environics Institute, 2010). Feelings of belongingness and connection to traditional lands among adults can influence children given that their socialization is impacted by their family, neighborhoods, and communities (Causadias & Cicchetti, 2018; Shonkoff et al., 2012). Among First Nations communities, where extended family members and community members often partake in childrearing, the impacts may be even greater (Halseth & Greenwood, 2019). Examining culturally-relevant factors associated with positive well-being among Indigenous children may be particularly important to understanding how to strengthen community and cultural ties in an urban, off-reserve environment. Indeed, a key factor in taking pride in their Indigenous identity among those living off-reserve was community connectedness and belonging, and research has shown that Indigenous peoples living off-reserve who have a sense of cultural connectedness have better mental health than those who do not (Environics Institute, 2010). Additionally, one of the top priorities of off-reserve Indigenous parents and grandparents is for subsequent generations to be aware of and connected with their Indigenous culture (Environics Institute, 2010). Thus, the focus on an off-reserve population provides an important opportunity to study a large, growing population that has a strong desire to maintain cultural traditions and ties with their Indigeneity.

Socioemotional And Behavioral Well-Being In Early Childhood

Early childhood is a critical period for the optimal development of socioemotional and behavioral well-being, abilities that encompass effective communication and social interactions with peers and adults, the ability to express, understand, and regulate emotions, and effectively manage and control behaviors in line with sociocultural norms (Campbell et al., 2016). Developmental psychology models support the notion that early life experiences shape the trajectory of adult life. The ecobiodevelopmental framework examines how the intersection of neuroscience, epigenetics, and ecology (relationships between people and their environment) influence early childhood development and long-term health (Shonkoff et al., 2012). Importantly, this framework highlights the impact that both proximal (i.e., parent mental health) and distal (i.e., community structure and supports) factors experienced in early childhood can have on not only shaping behavioral well-being in young children but in later adult life as well (Shonkoff et. al. 2012). Accordingly, positive socioemotional and behavioral well-being is associated with academic achievement, school attendance, and fewer mental health challenges in adulthood (Carneiro et al., 2007). Included in the definition of socioemotional and behavioral well-being is prosocial behavior. Prosocial behavior is any behavior that is meant to benefit others (Eisenberg, 1986) and can include helping, sharing, and comforting behaviors (Dunfield, 2014). A wide range of individual, family, and societal factors influence the socioemotional and behavioral well-being of children. Risk factors for reduced well-being include maternal depression, inconsistent and/or harsh parenting, low parental education, single parenthood, and socioeconomic disadvantage (Eamon, 2001; Maggi et al., 2010; Sameroff, 2006). While such risk factors can negatively shape life trajectories and mental health, promotive factors can reduce or mitigate the adverse effects of these risk exposures (Sameroff, 2006). Promotive factors of positive socioemotional and behavioral well-being include nurturing parenting styles, positive

peer interactions, family cohesion, and access to social supports (Masten et al., 1999; Sameroff, 2006).

Socioemotional And Behavioral Well-Being In Indigenous (Including First Nations) Children

Much of our knowledge about healthy child well-being is based on studies of white children as considerably less attention has been paid to other cultural groups including Indigenous children. Indigenous children are born into legacies of colonialism, oppression, and racism that have enduring effects on their socioemotional and behavioral well-being. For example, in Canada The Indian Act gave the federal government powers over Indigenous peoples and allowed them to govern Indigenous political hierarchies, forbid cultural ceremonies, and restrict residential mobility through the pass system (Kirmayer et al., 2016). One of the most harmful aspects of the Indian Act was the creation of Indian Residential Schools (IRS) that were intended to assimilate Indigenous children into the dominant EuroChristian culture (Kirmayer et al., 2016). In these settings, children were forcibly separated from their parents, forbidden to speak their Indigenous languages, forced to participate in manual labor and/or domestic duties, and subjected to emotional, physical, and sexual abuse in some cases (Kirmayer et al., 2014, 2016). Today, the institution of IRS have been recognized as a cultural genocide by the Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada (Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada, 2015). After the staggered closure of IRS, there was a widespread effort in the 1960s and 1970s to remove Indigenous children from their homes and place them in the care of non-Indigenous families (known as the Sixties Scoop) (Kirmayer et al., 2016). Ultimately, these colonial policies broke apart traditional family units, exposed children to abuse from authority figures in their most formative years, and stripped children of their opportunity to learn their culture, language, and traditional parenting practices (Kirmayer et al., 2003). These experiences have resulted in

not only long-term effects, where survivors of residential/boarding schools have reported feelings of anger, hopelessness, sadness, and other disruptions in their emotion regulation and capacity (Brave Heart, 1999), but intergenerational effects as well. Intergenerational trauma has been noted by several scholars where children and grandchildren of survivors of IRS, Sixties Scoop, and other relocation policies have shown poorer psychological well-being (Hackett et al., 2016; Walls & Whitbeck, 2012), more substance use (Walls & Whitbeck, 2012), a lack of warm parenting (Walls & Whitbeck, 2012), and suicidality (Hackett et al., 2016). Intergenerational trauma also contributes to the overrepresentation of Indigenous children in the Canadian foster care system where Indigenous youth (\leq 14 years old) comprise 53.8% of the population despite only making up 7.7% of youth in Canada (Government of Canada, 2022). Beyond overrepresentation in the foster care system, the enduring effects of colonialism have resulted in housing and food insecurity, lack of clean water access, overrepresentation in the criminal system, disadvantaged socioeconomic status, and lack of access to healthcare.

Given exposures to these structural disadvantages, early intervention may be especially powerful to improving the lives of children (Halseth & Greenwood, 2019). Indeed, some evidence suggests that investments in early childhood can produce long-term benefits in children coming from disadvantaged backgrounds. In some groups, data have shown that for every dollar invested in early childhood programs, there is up to a three dollar return in terms of health, social, and economic benefits – with benefits being even higher for those in disadvantaged environments (Alexander & Ignjatovic, 2012). For instance, participating in early childhood programs has been associated with higher rates of high school completion and college attendance (Smokowski et al., 2004), lower rates of adolescent and adulthood delinquency (Reynolds et al., 2007; Smokowski et al., 2004). The Aboriginal Head Start Urban and Northern Program, which

serves up to 5,000 preschool-aged Indigenous children across 134 centers in Canada, has found that participation in the program is associated with increased participation in traditional activities, speaking an Indigenous language, greater awareness of Indigenous cultures, greater school readiness, improved math, reading, and writing skills, higher school attendance, and a more positive attitude toward school (Health Canada & Public Health Agency of Canada, 2017). Other early childhood programs in Canada and the USA aimed at supporting Indigenous children (e.g., Martin Family Initiative, Family Spirit Program) have been associated with stronger literacy skills (O'Sullivan, 2021, 2021), and fewer internalizing (Barlow A. et al., 2015), externalizing (Barlow A. et al., 2015), and dysregulation problems (Barlow A. et al., 2015) in preschool- and school-aged children.

Given the similar histories of colonialism among the CANZUS nations (Canada, Australia, New Zealand, and the US), data from Indigenous communities in the other countries can inform our general understanding of Indigenous child development within the context of risk and resilience. For example, among 348 5-6-year-old Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children in Australia, O'Brien et al. (2020) found that they were almost three times more likely to have conduct problems, hyperactivity/inattention, emotional difficulties, and total difficulties on the SDQ than their non-Indigenous peers. In a study of American Indian Northern Plains toddlers (i.e., Indigenous peoples in the USA) (n=110), Sarche et al. (2009) found that a significant number scored above the 'Of Potential Concern' cut-off for externalizing (18.6%), internalizing (10.8%), and competence (22.1%) problems using the Infant-Toddler Social and Emotional Assessment. Finally, in a nationally representative survey of 1,983 Māori children, researchers used the Child Health Questionnaire-Parent Form-28 Item and found that Māori children (\leq 14 years old) had poorer parent-reported emotional, behavioral, and overall health compared to children in the general population (n=3,039) (Ministry of Health, 2008).

These data have informed our general understanding of Indigenous child development and helped identify which mental health challenges may be more common in some Indigenous communities than others. However, a greater focus is needed on positive aspects of well-being and identifying factors that can positively influence health. Collection of such data would align with First Nations views of well-being, reduce stereotyping by highlighting strengths, and guide the development of interventions to promote and sustain positive well-being among First Nations preschool-aged children. For instance, research suggests that there may be cultural differences in prosocial behavior (Chen & French, 2008). Other data indicate that Indigenous-specific (including First Nations) parenting practices include teaching children about sharing roles in the community and helping others from a very young age (Byers et al., 2012). These parenting practices are in line with Indigenous worldviews of health where personal and community health are interconnected (Chandler, 2011). Yet, there are no data describing prosocial behavior in First Nations preschool-aged children, nor data on factors that may influence this behavior. Some studies have been conducted within First Nations children in Canada; however, they have typically been focused on older children and youth. For instance, in a study of family and peer factors associated with parent reports of psychological disorders in a group of 6-14 year-old Indigenous children living off-reserve in Canada (n=12,366), Kaspar (2013) found that higher quality parent-child and peer relationships were associated with a decreased likelihood of having psychological difficulties. In a separate study of 6-18 year-old First Nations children living onreserve in Western Canada, Mykota and Schwean (2006) found that academic performance was a strong predictor of better psychosocial health (assessed through teacher reports of the Behavior Rating Profile-2nd Edition). Additional work identified that self-esteem and optimism were associated with lower levels of depression in 12 year-old Indigenous youth living off-reserve in Canada (Ames et al., 2015). Studies that involve Indigenous preschool-aged children (but not

First Nations) have found that being female, having fewer health problems, private health insurance at birth, having moved residences less than three times, parents without home duties, not being exposed to prenatal smoking, having a mother who received antenatal care within the first 20 weeks gestation, and having a mother with higher education were associated with better socioemotional and behavioral well-being (Williamson et al., 2016; Williamson et al., 2019).

Although these common determinants contribute to Indigenous children's well-being, they represent only part of the developmental process. Cultural processes can influence developmental trajectories and their examination can enrich the study of developmental psychology (Causadias & Cicchetti, 2018). In particular, Indigenous-specific determinants are factors relevant to the sociopolitical context of being Indigenous in Canada including connection with land, understanding or speaking an Indigenous language, engaging in Indigenous cultural activities, having a relative who attended IRS, and the experience of systemic racism. Identifying and understanding the influence of Indigenous-specific determinants is important because many First Nations individuals draw strength from their cultural knowledge and teachings (Kirmayer et al., 2003). Indeed, cultivating strong cultural restoration could have significant benefits for children, families, and communities, especially among First Nations communities for whom a greater engagement of cultural continuity (e.g., having titles over traditional lands, Indigenous self-governance, access to cultural facilities, and control over education, police/fire, and health care services) have been associated with lower rates of youth suicide (Chandler & Lalonde, 1998). Examining Indigenous-specific determinants of health can empower First Nations individuals to utilize existing Indigenous ways of knowing in prevention and treatment strategies while providing a more holistic understanding of the full experience of First Nations children, their developmental pathways, and set the stage for the development of more effective early interventions.

The Current Study

The aim of the current study is to identify Indigenous and non-Indigenous-specific determinants of socioemotional and behavioral well-being among two to five year-old First Nations children living off-reserve in Canada. This work can advance scholarship in Indigenous child health literature by: a) focusing on preschool-aged children given the importance of early intervention and prevention, b) examining positive aspects of socioemotional and behavioral well-being, c) examining factors associated with socioemotional and behavioral well-being (including Indigenous-specific determinants) to potentially identify targets for intervention, and d) utilizing representative, Canadian data for a population (First Nations children living offreserve) that is grossly underrepresented in the child health literature.

Methods

Participants

The Aboriginal Children's Survey (ACS) is a cross-sectional, nationally representative survey assessing the development and well-being of Indigenous children (i.e., First Nations, Métis, and Inuit) under six years of age (by October 31, 2006) living off-reserve throughout Canada (Statistics Canada, 2008). The ACS was conducted between October 2006 and March 2007. Children living on-reserve or in institutions were excluded. The ACS was created in collaboration with Indigenous stakeholders and contained a wide range of measures designed to understand Indigenous (including First Nations) experiences. To date, the ACS is the most recent nationally representative survey on First Nations preschool-aged children's health, development, and well-being. The description of socioemotional and behavioral well-being, along with its determinants, in this population can lay the foundation for researchers that aim to compare trends in well-being over time, or how contemporary situations (e.g., the cultural revitalization of
Indigenous peoples) can influence well-being in young Indigenous children. The sampling frame of the ACS included children under the age of six years that were identified as Indigenous (First Nations, Métis, or Inuit and/or had Indigenous ancestors and/or was a Status First Nations and/or had First Nations band membership) by parents or other caregivers on the 2006 Canadian Census (Statistics Canada, 2008). Of the 17,472 children identified, 14,170 had the survey (81.1% response rate) completed by their parent or other caregiver (Statistics Canada, 2008). The parent or other caregiver of the children aged two to five years old completed the 2-4 year-old version of the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) (https://www.sdqinfo.org/). Telephone interviews were conducted unless participants lived in the Northwest Territories (except Yellowknife), Labrador, or Inuit communities, where in-person interviews were conducted. In accordance with the suggestions of many Indigenous researchers and the United Nations (United Nations, 2019), we did not aggregate all Indigenous children who participated in the ACS into a single homogenous group since doing so neglects the rich diversity among Indigenous groups and prevents the identification of community-specific data (Chandler, 2011). Rather, we only included First Nations children as they are the most populous Indigenous group in Canada (Government of Canada, 2017), but remain underrepresented in the Indigenous health literature (Nelson & Wilson, 2017).

Determinants Of Socioemotional And Behavioral Well-Being

Indigenous-Specific Determinants. Indigenous-specific factors that could influence First Nations well-being were selected for analysis. Specifically, speaking an Indigenous language (Hallett et al., 2007; Kirmayer et al., 2014), being taught an Indigenous culture (Andersson & Ledogar, 2008), and strong community cohesion (Salmon et al., 2019; Young et al., 2017). We also

included whether the parent/other caregiver was ever removed from their family by child welfare agencies, church, or government officials, as a measure of intergenerational trauma.

Child speaking an Indigenous language was assessed by asking the parent or other caregiver: 'What language does the child speak or understand even if he/she only knows a few words'? Responses were categorized into any Indigenous language (Algonquin, Atikamekw, Blackfoot, Carrier, Cree, Dakota/Sioux, Dene, Haida, Innu/Montagnais, Inuktitut/Inuvialuktun, Micmac/Mi'kmaq, Michif, Ojibway, Oji-Cree, or another Indigenous language) vs. None (i.e., English or French).

The teaching of Indigenous culture was measured in a binary response format (Yes/No) by asking the parent or other caregiver: "Does anyone help the child to understand First Nations, Métis, or Inuit culture and history?".

Community cohesion was measured on a 5-point Likert scale (Poor to Excellent) by asking the parent or other caregiver to rate six aspects of their community, including their satisfaction with the community as a place with First Nations, Métis, and Inuit cultural activities. The responses were grouped into two categories: Excellent/Very good (1 point) and Good/Fair/Poor (0 points). We created a community cohesion scale by summing scores across the six items (range 0-6). Internal consistency was satisfactory (α =.80).

Family separation experienced by the parent or other caregiver (or their spouse) was measured in a binary response format (Yes/No) by asking the parent or other caregiver: "Were you or your spouse ever removed from their family by child welfare agencies, church, or government officials?".

Non-Indigenous-Specific Determinants. In addition to Indigenous-specific determinants, we also sought to identify well-established factors linked to socioemotional and behavioral well-being among both children in the general population and Indigenous children. Based on the literature, we identified parent or other caregiver self-reported health (Maggi et al., 2010; Sameroff, 2006), household size (Sameroff, 2006), and parent or other caregiver nurturing behavior (Eamon, 2001; Sameroff, 2006; Williams & Berthelsen, 2017) to be associated with socioemotional and behavioral well-being among children. These variables were also included in our analysis.

Parent or other caregiver self-reported health was measured on a 5-point Likert scale. The responses were categorized as Excellent/Very good (1 point) vs. Good/Fair/Poor (0 points).

Household size was measured on a continuous scale by asking the parent or other caregiver about the number of adults and children who lived in the household.

Parenting or other caregiver nurturing behavior was measured using three items from a 13 item-nurturing scale in the ACS. The three items selected were consistent with other parenting behavior scales from national surveys (e.g., National Longitudinal Survey of Children and Youth) and resulted in the greatest decrease of Cronbach's alpha if removed from the 13-item scale. Items included were: "How often do you give him/her the opportunity to watch you or other people do things?", "How often is he/she shown approval using gestures or body language?", and "How often is he/she given a 'time out' or sent to his/her room?". The responses were categorized as At least once a day vs. Once a week or less.

Covariates

A priori, child age, child sex, and household income were selected as covariates given their associations with our predictor variables and links to socioemotional and behavioral well-

being in the general population. Child age was measured in years at the time of the survey and examined as a continuous variable. Child sex was measured by asking the parent or other caregiver the sex of their child. Responses were 'Male' or 'Female'. Household income was assessed by asking the parent or other caregiver whether their household income was above the low-income threshold. A household was considered low-income if their household income (after tax) was less than the median adjusted household income across Canada. Responses were categorized as 'Yes' or 'No'. While we defined low-income as a dichotomous outcome, for context, the average low-income cut-off in 2006 for a household of four persons living in an urban area (population > 15,000) was \$28,483 (Statistics Canada, 2007).

Outcomes

Socioemotional and behavioral well-being. Parents or other caregivers of children aged two to five years completed the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) (Goodman, 1997). The SDQ is used to measure socioemotional and behavioral issues in children over the past six months and consists of five subscales which are each scored from 0-10: emotional difficulties, conduct problems, hyperactivity/inattention, peer relationship problems, and prosocial behavior. Higher scores are indicative of greater problems, with the exception of the prosocial scale for which higher scores are indicative of more positive prosocial behavior. All of the subscales (except the prosocial subscale) are summed to create a total difficulties score (0-40) with higher scores representing more problems. The SDQ was selected for use in the ACS after consultations with Indigenous and non-Indigenous stakeholders who wanted to use an accessible screening tool to examine well-being among Indigenous children (Oliver et al., 2009). In this study, we use the version of the SDQ for 2-4 year-old children, which has satisfactory reliability for the emotional, conduct, hyperactivity/inattention, and prosocial behavior subscales (Croft et al.,

2015). The peer relationship problems scale performs less well but is still satisfactory (Croft et al., 2015). Among this group of First Nations children, internal reliability is satisfactory for all subscales ($\rho \ge 0.70$), with the peer problems subscale approaching the reliability cut-off ($\rho = 0.61$) (Oliver et al., 2009). The SDQ has also been successfully used and validated within other Indigenous children and youth from around the world (Williamson et al., 2014). Since valid clinical cut-points have not been established for First Nations children living in Canada, continuous scores are used in this study.

Statistical Analyses

Characteristics of the study population are described using proportions and percentages for categorical data and mean (M) and standard deviations (SD) for continuous variables. Two separate multiple linear regression models were conducted. One model examines associations between determinants and total difficulties, and the other examines associations between determinants and prosocial behavior. Each regression model includes all of the variables and covariates entered simultaneously. Participants with missing data on determinants or SDQ scores are not included in the analyses. Standardized weights are applied to the number of participants to represent the size of the First Nations population, as well as to adjust for non-response (Statistics Canada, 2008). All of the data were vetted by a Statistics Canada personnel and cell counts <10 were not released. Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05 (two-tailed). All statistical analyses were conducted in SPSS (Version 26).

Results

The sociodemographic characteristics of the study population are presented in Table 1. Of the 2,990 two to five year-old First Nations children living off-reserve (M=3.65 years, SD=1.16), 50.6% are male. About one-third of participants can speak or understand at least one Indigenous language and just over half (50.9%) are taught their Indigenous culture. In terms of their parents or other caregivers, two-thirds report very good/excellent health (65.7%) and 45.6% have at least a college education. Finally, 55% of households are above the low-income threshold.

Determinants of SDQ Total Difficulties Scores

Three Indigenous-specific determinants are associated with fewer total difficulties after adjusting for all other variables: Being taught an Indigenous culture, living in a community with high levels of perceived community cohesion, and the parent or other caregiver (or their spouse) not experiencing family separation (Table 2). Non-Indigenous-specific factors associated with fewer total difficulties adjusting for all other variables include: Very good/excellent parental/other caregiver health, being shown approval at least once a day, watching the parent or other caregiver at least once a day, being given a time out once a week or less, fewer household members, living in a household above the low-income threshold, older child age, and being female (Table 2).

Determinants of SDQ Prosocial Behavior Scores

Two Indigenous-specific determinants are significantly associated with greater prosocial behavior after adjusting for all other variables: Being taught an Indigenous culture and living in a community with high levels of perceived community cohesion (Table 3). Non-Indigenous-specific determinants of greater prosocial behavior that were statistically significant after adjusting for all other variables are: Very good/excellent parental/other caregiver health, being shown approval at least once a day, being given a time out once a week or less, fewer household members, older child age, and being female (Table 3).

Table 1. Sociodemographic Information On 2,990 First Nations Children And Their Parents Or

Other Caregivers In The Aboriginal Children's Survey

Sociodemographic Characteristics	First Nations (N=2,990)
Child characteristics	-
Child age in years (M (SD))	3.65 (1.16)
Sex (%)	
Male Female Missing Can speak at least one Indigenous language (%)	50.6% 49.4% 0.03%
Yes No Missing Is taught about Indigenous culture (%)	31.5% 68.4% 0.1%
Yes No Missing Parent/Other caregiver characteristics	50.9% 48.3% 0.8%
Self-reported health status (%)	
Very good or excellent health Good, fair, or poor health Missing Education level (%)	65.8% 33.2% 1.0%
College education and above High school education and below Missing Parent/Other caregiver (or spouse) taken away from home by child welfare agencies, church, or government officials (%)	45.6% 53.6% 0.8%
No parent/other caregiver (or spouse) taken	45.3%
away 1 parent/other caregiver (or spouse) taken away	9.2%
Both parents/other caregivers and spouse taken away	1.1%
Missing	44.4%

Household/Community characteristics	
Number of individuals living in the household	4.

Number of individuals living in the household (n, (SD))	4.39 (1.55)
Household income (%)	
Above low-income threshold Below low-income threshold Missing Community cohesion scale (0-6) (M (SD)) Parent or other caregiver nurturing characteristics	55.0% 41.5% 3.5% 2.73 (2.11)
Child is shown approval (%)	
At least once a day Once a week or less Missing Child watches the parent/other caregiver or other	89.5% 9.3% 1.2%
people doing things (%)	
At least once a day Once a week or less Missing Child is given 'time out' or sent to their room (%)	95.2% 3.7% 1.1%
At least once a day Once a week or less Missing Socioemotional and behavioral well-being	23.0% 75.6% 1.4%
Total difficulties score (0-40) (M (SD)) Prosocial score (0-10) (M (SD))	9.11 (5.55) 8.58 (1.66)

Note. M=Mean, SD=Standard Deviation

Indigenous- and non-Indigenous- Specific Determinants	Total Difficulties (lower scores indicate better socioemotional and behavioral well-being)	
-	β (95% CI)	<i>p</i> -value
Child understands Indigenous language	0.03 (-0.01-0.07)	0.137
Someone teaches child Indigenous culture	-0.04 (-0.080.01)	0.028*
High levels of community cohesion	-0.04 (-0.080.01)	0.027*
1 Parent/Other caregiver experienced family separation	0.05 (0.01-0.09)	0.006*
Both parents/other caregivers experienced family separation	0.05 (0.01-0.08)	0.013*
Very good or excellent parent/ other caregiver health	-0.14 (-0.180.11)	<0.001*
Household size (continuous variable)	0.06 (0.02-0.10)	0.001*
Child shown approval at least once a day	-0.04 (-0.080.01)	0.027*
Child watches parent/other caregiver do things at least once a day	-0.04 (-0.080.01)	0.037*
Child given time out once a week or less	-0.20 (-0.240.16)	<0.001*
Child age (continuous variable)	-0.09 (-0.130.06)	<0.001*
Child is female	-0.05 (-0.090.02)	0.005*
Household above low-income	-0.09 (-0.130.05)	<0.001*

Table 2. Total Difficulties Determinants Among Two To Five Year-Old First Nations Children

Note. β=standardized beta; CI=Confidence Interval

Indigenous- and non-Indigenous- Specific Determinants	Prosocial behavior (higher scores indicate greater prosocial behavior)		
Spoond 2 community	β (95% CI)	<i>p</i> -value	
Child understands Indigenous language	-0.01 (-0.05-0.04)	0.823	
Someone teaches child Indigenous culture	0.10 (0.06-0.14)	<0.001*	
High levels of community cohesion	0.12 (0.08-0.16)	<0.001*	
1 Parent/Other caregiver experienced family separation	0.02 (-0.02-0.06)	0.333	
Both parents/other caregivers experienced family separation	-0.03 (-0.07-0.01)	0.110	
Very good or excellent parent/other caregiver health	0.05 (0.02-0.09)	0.006*	
Household size (continuous variable)	-0.09 (-0.130.05)	<0.001*	
Child shown approval at least once a day	0.05 (0.01-0.08)	0.016*	
Child watches parent/ other caregiver do things at least once a day	0.03 (-0.01-0.07)	0.121	
Child given time out once a week or less	0.08 (0.04-0.12)	<0.001*	
Child age (continuous variable)	0.16 (0.13-0.20)	<0.001*	
Child is female	0.07 (0.03-0.11)	<0.001*	
Household above low-income	0.02 (-0.02-0.06)	0.381	

Table 3. Prosocial Behavior Determinants Among Two To Five Year-Old First Nations Children

Discussion

Using a nationally representative sample, we identified Indigenous-specific and non-Indigenous-specific determinants associated with the socioemotional and behavioral well-being of two to five year-old First Nations children living off-reserve in Canada. The determinants that were associated with fewer total difficulties on the SDQ included being taught an Indigenous culture, living in a community rated to have high cohesion, having a parent or other caregiver who did not experience family separation, better parent or other caregiver health, parental/other caregiver nurturance, smaller household size, higher household income, older child age, and being female. We also found that being taught an Indigenous culture, living in a community rated to have high cohesion, better parent or other caregiver health, being shown approval at least once a day, being given a time out once a week or less, fewer household members, older child age, and being female were all associated with greater prosocial behavior.

Consistent with the evidence of culture being integral to well-being among Indigenous youth, we identified a number of Indigenous-specific determinants of well-being that are unique to First Nations children. While these are initial findings of promotive factors among preschool-aged First Nations children, the positive influence of these Indigenous-specific determinants has been reported with regards to older children's well-being. In a study with 9 to 16 year-old Indigenous youth living on-reservation in the USA, Yoder et al. (2006) found that greater involvement in traditional cultural activities, a stronger cultural identity, and spirituality were all associated with lower levels of suicidal ideation. Similarly, in a study of 11 to 19 year-old First Nations youth living in their own community, Flanagan et al. (2011) found that a stronger First Nations identity was associated with lower levels of physical and relational aggression as reported by the youths.

There could be a few reasons why being taught an Indigenous culture was associated with fewer parent/other caregiver reports of total difficulties in First Nations preschool-aged children. One, the cultural teachings and knowledge may have directly contributed to the children's well-being. For example, many First Nations cultures espouse the importance of connectedness with family, community, and land (Halseth & Greenwood, 2019). Cultivating a strong sense of belonging in early life could promote a sense of identity which can contribute to well-being in First Nations children. A sense of belonging may be especially important in the Indigenous context in which colonial assimilation efforts attempted to eradicate Indigenous cultural and personal identities (Burack & Schmidt, 2014). Indeed, 82% of off-reserve Indigenous peoples totally or somewhat agree that initiatives must be taken to protect their Indigenous cultures from external influences (Environics Institute, 2010). Two, children who are taught an Indigenous cultural information, which could in turn positively impact their socioemotional and behavioral well-being.

We also found that children whose parents or other caregivers rated their communities as having high community cohesion had fewer total difficulties. Families that live in communities with greater cohesion could have greater access to kinship which could positively influence children's development and well-being since they have multiple caregivers to look after them in case of a less nurturing primary caregiver (Muir & Bohr, 2019). Although our study participants lived off-reserve –and therefore were potentially distant from kinship–the majority of off-reserve First Nations individuals consider their urban city 'home' and maintain a close connection with other First Nations individuals in their urban city (Environics Institute, 2010). Moreover, Indigenous peoples living off-reserve may have a more encompassing definition of who belongs to their community (i.e., family, friends, other Indigenous peoples in the city, co-workers, 176

Indigenous friendship or healing centers, or Indigenous peoples from their band) in comparison to those living on-reserve (Environics Institute, 2010). Therefore, living in communities where members are well-connected and support children's learning about their Indigenous culture may have positive impacts on their socioemotional and behavioral well-being.

The finding that the absence of parent or other caregiver family separation (due to removal from home by child welfare agencies, church, or government officials) was also associated with fewer total difficulties is not surprising. Consistent with other studies, offspring with parents and/or grandparents who attended IRS have poorer psychological well-being (Hackett et al., 2016), a history of childhood abuse (Elias et al., 2012), and higher suicidal ideation (Elias et al., 2012; Hackett et al., 2016). Additionally, since children were not exposed to positive role modelling in IRS and formed dysfunctional relationships with adults during formative years, survivors of IRS struggled with parenting in their adult life (Burack & Schmidt, 2014). Indeed, offspring of survivors of residential schools noted that they had negative relationships with maternal figures that negatively impacted their well-being (Roy & Thurston, 2015) and their own ability to parent (Ussher et al., 2016).

We also identified a number of non-Indigenous-specific determinants of well-being in Indigenous children that are consistent with the literature. For example, among five year-old Aboriginal children in Australia, being female, having private health insurance and high maternal education (proxies for household income) were all associated with better social and emotional development (Williamson et al., 2019). Other researchers have found that positive parent-child relationships (Kaspar, 2013; Silburn et al., 2007) and better parental health (Silburn et al., 2007; Whitbeck et al., 2006) are associated with less psychopathology among Indigenous children and youth. Fewer data are available examining the association between household size and

Indigenous children's mental health. However, one study among Inuit 2-5-year-old children found that parent reports of crowded housing was associated with greater parent reports of offspring emotional and conduct problems, and poorer child health overall (Kohen et al., 2015). This evidence highlights that First Nations and non-First Nations children may share some similar determinants of positive socioemotional and behavioral well-being.

High levels of prosocial behavior were associated with being taught an Indigenous culture and living in a community with high cohesion. Data on the prosocial behavior on Indigenous children in Canada and around the world are very scarce. One study of 119 Aboriginal youth aged 12-17 years-old living in Australia found that physical activity and having a family member that the youth could talk to were associated with greater levels of prosocial behavior (Young et al., 2019). Being taught an Indigenous culture could be associated with greater prosocial behavior as the child may have access to caring, trusting adults. Indeed, positive relationships with caring adults has been shown to be a potent predictor of resilience among Indigenous youth (Andersson & Ledogar, 2008). Similarly, living in a community rated to have high community cohesion may allow children more opportunities to share, interact with peers, and engage in prosocial relationships.

Speaking an Indigenous language was not associated with fewer total difficulties nor with prosocial behavior in the children. This was somewhat unexpected since speaking an Indigenous language can represent cultural resistance and revitalization and is foundational to positive well-being among many First Nations cultures. For example, positive associations have been cited between knowledge of an Indigenous language and well-being, including more positive mental health (Hodge & Nandy, 2011), lower rates of past-month drug use (Greenfield et al., 2018), and lower rates of suicide (Hallett et al., 2007). However, these were studies of adult participants,

who may be more likely to benefit from learning an Indigenous language to build and maintain relationships, increase social capital, and pass on traditional knowledge, as compared to children and youth who may be too young to properly grasp the language or reap the benefits of it. Indeed, in a study of 6-14 year-old Indigenous children living off-reserve in Canada, Kaspar (2013) found that speaking an Indigenous language at home or school was not protective against the development of psychological or nervous difficulties. Another reason for our null finding could be that our measure of speaking an Indigenous language did not accurately distinguish among levels of language learning, knowledge, and application. Since better language proficiency is associated with lower prevalence and severity of mental health problems (Montemitro et al., 2021), aggregating children of varying levels into a single group may mask any potential associations between knowledge of an Indigenous language and well-being.

The strengths of this study include the use of nationally representative data from the largest dataset available in Canada on First Nations children living off-reserve, and a focus on positive aspects of First Nations well-being, an approach that is rarer in the Indigenous health literature. We also acknowledge both Indigenous- and Western-based ways of knowing by identifying Indigenous-specific determinants in addition to non-Indigenous-specific factors associated with socioemotional and behavioral well-being to provide a more complete description of First Nations preschool-aged children's well-being. Moreover, by providing disaggregated data for First Nations children living off-reserve, we support the development of targeted, context-specific solutions and interventions. Finally, by focusing on young children and examining factors promoting their well-being, we align with and honor First Nations worldviews that prioritize the health and security of young people (Greenwood, 2005).

This study also has limitations. One, its cross-sectional nature precludes us from drawing conclusions about developmental pathways in preschool-aged children. Two, the ACS was conducted in 2006 and so it may not be as informative about the contemporary lives of Indigenous peoples and their connections with culture and socioemotional and behavioral wellbeing. However, since the ACS is the only nationally representative survey of off-reserve First Nations children in Canada with the most recent data on socioemotional and behavioral wellbeing on young children, our study can provide a foundation for future researchers. For example, future studies can examine how the continued Indigenous cultural revitalization and implementation of the 94 Calls to Action have impacted the well-being of Indigenous preschoolaged children. Three, since the ACS did not include a measure of gender identity, we were unable to assess the influence of being two-spirit on children's well-being. Gender identity and sexuality and its impact on the socioemotional and behavioral well-being of Indigenous children should be an area of further inquiry for researchers. Four, we used parent or other caregiver reports of children's socioemotional and behavioral well-being rather than structured diagnostic interviews. However, the SDQ has been shown to be correlated with psychiatric ICD-10 diagnoses, especially conduct, oppositional defiant, attention-deficit/hyperactivity, and some anxiety disorders (Goodman et al., 2000). Five, despite the SDQ demonstrating satisfactory reliability among study participants, it is not a First Nations-specific measurement of socioemotional and behavioral well-being. However, in the absence of other reliable measures to examine a widely understudied topic, utilizing the SDQ can further our understanding of positive socioemotional and behavioral well-being. Other studies should continue to partner with Indigenous communities and invest in tailoring measures relevant to the community. Six, our effect sizes were small suggesting that these associations are likely to be impactful at a

population level only. Still, detecting these associations in childhood, even if small, can be impactful given the importance of early intervention.

Using cross-sectional data from the largest, nationally representative survey of young Indigenous children in Canada, we found that both Indigenous-specific (e.g., being taught an Indigenous culture, living in a community with high cohesion, parent or other caregiver not experiencing family separation) and non-Indigenous-specific (e.g., very good/excellent parental/other caregiver health, parental/other caregiver nurturance, smaller household size, greater household income, older child age, and female sex) factors were associated with positive socioemotional and behavioral well-being of two to five year-old First Nations children living off-reserve. These findings are further evidence of the extent to which the intergenerational transmission of Indigenous culture is essential to the well-being of Indigenous children even, or especially, for those who live off-reserve. These data can guide First Nations community members, policymakers, and researchers in leveraging these cultural factors, along with non-Indigenous-specific determinants, and identifying targets for intervention to promote healthy child socioemotional and behavioral well-being. These interventions can help maximize and sustain positive well-being in First Nations preschool-aged children, their families, and communities.

References

- Alexander, C., & Ignjatovic, D. (2012). TD Economics Special Report: Early Childhood Education Has Widespread and Long Lasting Benefits. https://www.td.com/document/PDF/economics/special/di1112_EarlyChildhoodEducation .pdf
- Ames, M. E., Rawana, J. S., Gentile, P., & Morgan, A. S. (2015). The protective role of optimism and self-esteem on depressive symptom pathways among Canadian Aboriginal youth. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 44, 142–154. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-013-0016-4
- Andersson, N., & Ledogar, R. J. (2008). The CIET Aboriginal Youth Resilience Studies: 14Years of Capacity Building and Methods Development in Canada. *Pimatisiwin*, 6, 65–88.
- Barlow A., Mullany B., Neault N., Goklish N., Billy T., Hastings R., Lorenzo S., Kee C., Lake K., Redmond C., Carter A., & Walkup J.T. (2015). Paraprofessional-delivered home-visiting intervention for American Indian teen mothers and children: 3-year outcomes from a randomized controlled trial. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *172*, 154–162. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2014.14030332
- Brave Heart, M. Y. (1999). Gender differences in the historical trauma response among the Lakota. *Journal of Health & Social Policy*, *10*, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1300/J045v10n04_01
- Burack, J. A. [Ed], & Schmidt, L. A. [Ed]. (2014). Cultural and contextual perspectives on developmental risk and well-being. *Cultural and Contextual Perspectives on Developmental Risk and Well-Being*. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511920165

- Byers, L., Kulitja, S., Lowell, A., & Kruske, S. (2012). 'Hear our stories': Child-rearing practices of a remote Australian Aboriginal community. *Australian Journal of Rural Health*, 20, 293–297. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1584.2012.01317.x
- Campbell, S. B., Denham, S. A., Howarth, G. Z., Jones, S. M., Whittaker, J. V., Williford, A. P., Willoughby, M. T., Yudron, M., & Darling-Churchill, K. (2016). Commentary on the review of measures of early childhood social and emotional development:
 Conceptualization, critique, and recommendations. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 45, 19–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2016.01.008
- Carneiro, P., Crawford, C., & Goodman, A. (2007). The Impact of Early Cognitive and Non-Cognitive Skills on Later Outcomes. In *Centre for the Economics of Education (NJ1)* (p. 89). Centre for the Economics of Education. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED530081
- Causadias, J. M., & Cicchetti, D. (2018). Cultural development and psychopathology. *Development and Psychopathology*, *30*, 1549–1555. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579418001220
- Chandler, M. (2011). The "Mental" Health of Canada's Indigenous Children and Youth: Finding New Ways Forward. *Healthcare Quarterly*, *14*. https:// 10.12927/hcq.2011.22363
- Chandler, M. J., & Lalonde, C. (1998). Cultural Continuity as a Hedge against Suicide in Canada's First Nations: *Transcultural Psychiatry*, 35, 191-219. https://doi.org/10.1177/136346159803500202
- Chen, X., & French, D. C. (2008). Children's social competence in cultural context. Annual Review of Psychology, 59, 591–616. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.59.103006.093606

- Croft, S., Stride, C., Maughan, B., & Rowe, R. (2015). Validity of the strengths and difficulties questionnaire in preschool-aged children. *Pediatrics*, 135, e1210-1219. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2014-2920
- Dhir, R. K., Cattaneo, U., Victoria Cabrera Ormaza, M., Coronado, H., & Oelz, M. (2020). Implementing the ILO Indigenous and Tribal Peoples Convention No. 169: Towards an inclusive, sustainable and just future. http://www.ilo.org/global/publications/books/WCMS_735607/lang--en/index.htm
- Dunfield, K. A. (2014). A construct divided: Prosocial behavior as helping, sharing, and comforting subtypes. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *5*, 958. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00958
- Eamon, M. K. (2001). The Effects of Poverty on Children's Socioemotional Development: An Ecological Systems Analysis. Social Work, 46, 256–266. https://doi.org/10.1093/sw/46.3.256
- Eisenberg, N. (1986). *Altruistic emotion, cognition, and behavior*. Erlbaum. https://www.taylorfrancis.com/books/edit/10.4324/9781315746135/altruistic-emotion-cognition-behavior-ple-emotion-nancy-eisenberg
- Elias, B., Mignone, J., Hall, M., Hong, S. P., Hart, L., & Sareen, J. (2012). Trauma and suicide behaviour histories among a Canadian indigenous population: An empirical exploration of the potential role of Canada's residential school system. *Social Science & Medicine*, 74, 1560–1569. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.01.026
- Environics Institute. (2010). Urban Aboriginal Peoples Study (p. 190). Environics Institute. https://www.uaps.ca/

- Findling, M. G., Casey, L. S., Fryberg, S. A., Hafner, S., Blendon, R. J., Benson, J. M., Sayde, J. M., & Miller, C. (2019). Discrimination in the United States: Experiences of Native Americans. *Health Services Research*, *54*, 1431–1441. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.13224
- Flanagan, T., Iarocci, G., D'Arrisso, A., Mandour, T., Tootoosis, C., Robinson, S., & Burack, J.
 A. (2011). Reduced ratings of physical and relational aggression for youths with a strong cultural identity: Evidence from the Naskapi people. *The Journal of Adolescent Health*, 49, 155–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2010.11.245
- Goodman, R. (1997). The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire: A research note. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines, 38, 581–586. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.1997.tb01545.x
- Goodman, R., Ford, T., Simmons, H., Gatward, R., & Meltzer, H. (2000). Using the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) to screen for child psychiatric disorders in a community sample. *The British Journal of Psychiatry: The Journal of Mental Science*, 177, 534–539. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.177.6.534
- Government of Canada. (2022, December 16). *Reducing the number of Indigenous children in care* [Fact sheet]. https://www.sac-isc.gc.ca/eng/1541187352297/1541187392851
- Government of Canada, S. C. (2017, October 25). *The Daily Aboriginal peoples in Canada: Key results from the 2016 Census*. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/dailyquotidien/171025/dq171025a-eng.htm
- Greenfield, B. L., Venner, K. L., Tonigan, J. S., Honeyestewa, M., Hubbell, H., & Bluehorse, D. (2018). Low rates of alcohol and tobacco use, strong cultural ties for Native American

college students in the southwest. Addictive Behaviors, 82, 122–128.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2018.02.032

- Greenwood, M. (2005). Children as citizens of First Nations: Linking Indigenous health to early childhood development. *Paediatrics & Child Health*, *10*, 553–555.
- Hackett, C., Feeny, D., & Tompa, E. (2016). Canada's residential school system: Measuring the intergenerational impact of familial attendance on health and mental health outcomes. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 70, 1096–1105.
- Hallett, D., Chandler, M. J., & Lalonde, C. E. (2007). Aboriginal language knowledge and youth suicide. *Cognitive Development*, 22, 392–399. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cogdev.2007.02.001
- Halseth, R., & Greenwood, M. (2019). Indigenous early childhood development in Canada:
 Current state of knowledge and future directions (p. 68). National Collaborating Centre
 for Aboriginal Health. https://www.nccih.ca/docs/health/RPT-ECD-PHAC-GreenwoodHalseth-EN.pdf
- Health Canada, & Public Health Agency of Canada. (2017). Evaluation of the Aboriginal Head Start in Urban and Northern Communities Program 2011-2012 to 2015-2016.
 https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/corporate/transparency/corporate-managementreporting/evaluation/2011-2012-2015-2016-aboriginal-head-start-urban-and-northerncommunities-program.html
- Hodge, F. S., & Nandy, K. (2011). Predictors of Wellness and American Indians. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved*, 22, 791–803. https://doi.org/10.1353/hpu.2011.0093

Kaspar, V. (2013). Mental health of Aboriginal children and adolescents in violent school environments: Protective mediators of violence and psychological/nervous disorders. *Social Science & Medicine*, *81*, 70–78. cin20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.12.011

- Kirmayer, L. J., Gone, J. P., & Moses, J. (2014). Rethinking Historical Trauma. *Transcultural Psychiatry*, *51*, 299–319. https://doi.org/10.1177/1363461514536358
- Kirmayer, L. J., Sheiner, E., & Geoffroy, D. (2016). Chapter 6—Mental Health Promotion for Indigenous Youth. In M. Hodes & S. Gau (Eds.), *Positive Mental Health, Fighting Stigma and Promoting Resiliency for Children and Adolescents* (pp. 111–140). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-804394-3.00006-1
- Kirmayer, L. J., Simpson, C., & Cargo, M. (2003). Healing traditions: Culture, community and mental health promotion with Canadian Aboriginal peoples. *Australasian Psychiatry*, 11, S15–S23. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1038-5282.2003.02010.x
- Kohen, D. E., Bougie, E., & Guevremont, A. (2015). Housing and health among Inuit children. *Health Reports*, 26, 21–27.
- Maggi, S., Irwin, L. J., Siddiqi, A., & Hertzman, C. (2010). The social determinants of early child development: An overview. *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health*, 46, 627–635. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1754.2010.01817.x
- Masten, A. S., Hubbard, J. J., Gest, S. D., Tellegen, A., Garmezy, N., & Ramirez, M. (1999).
 Competence in the context of adversity: Pathways to resilience and maladaptation from childhood to late adolescence. *Development and Psychopathology*, *11*, 143–169. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0954579499001996

Ministry of Health. (2008). A Portrait of Health: Key results of the 2006/07 New Zealand Health Survey (p. 361). Ministry of Health.

Montemitro, C., D'Andrea, G., Cesa, F., Martinotti, G., Pettorruso, M., Di Giannantonio, M.,
Muratori, R., & Tarricone, I. (2021). Language proficiency and mental disorders among
migrants: A systematic review. *European Psychiatry*, 64, e49.
https://doi.org/10.1192/j.eurpsy.2021.2224

- Muir, N., & Bohr, Y. (2019). Contemporary Practice of Traditional Aboriginal Child Rearing: A Review. *First Peoples Child & Family Review*, 14, 153–165.
- Mykota, D. B., & Schwean, V. L. (2006). Moderator Factors in First Nation Students at Risk for Psychosocial Problems. *Canadian Journal of School Psychology*, 21, 4–17. https://doi.org/10.1177/0829573506297796
- Nelson, S. E., & Wilson, K. (2017). The mental health of Indigenous peoples in Canada: A critical review of research. *Social Science & Medicine*, *176*, 93–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.01.021
- O'Brien, K., Agostino, J., Ciszek, K., & Douglas, K. A. (2020). Physical activity and risk of behavioural and mental health disorders in kindergarten children: Analysis of a series of cross-sectional complete enumeration (census) surveys. *BMJ Open*, *10*, e034847. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2019-034847
- Oliver, L., Findlay, L., McIntosh, C., & Kohen, D. (2009). Evaluation of the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (p. 21). Statistics Canada. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/catalogue/89-634-X2009008

- O'Sullivan, J. (2021). *Model Schools Literacy Project: Investing In Children* (p. 34). Martin Family Initiative.
- Priest, N., Mackean, T., Davis, E., Waters, E., & Briggs, L. (2012). Strengths and challenges for Koori kids: Harder for Koori kids, Koori kids doing well-Exploring Aboriginal perspectives on social determinants of Aboriginal child health and wellbeing. *Health Sociology Review*, 21, 165–179. https://doi.org/10.5172/hesr.2012.21.2.165
- Reynolds, A. J., Temple, J. A., Ou, S.-R., Robertson, D. L., Mersky, J. P., Topitzes, J. W., & Niles, M. D. (2007). Effects of a School-Based, Early Childhood Intervention on Adult Health and Well-being: A 19-Year Follow-up of Low-Income Families. *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine*, *161*, 730–739. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpedi.161.8.730
- Roy, A., & Thurston, W. E. (2015). Depression and mental health in pregnant Aboriginal women: Key results and recommendations from the Voices and PHACES study (Final report). 39.
- Salmon, M., Skelton, F., Thurber, K. A., Kneebone, L. B., Gosling, J., Lovett, R., & Walter, M. (2019). Intergenerational and early life influences on the well-being of Australian Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children: Overview and selected findings from Footprints in Time, the Longitudinal Study of Indigenous Children. *Journal of Developmental Origins of Health and Disease*, *10*, 17–23. https://doi.org/10.1017/S204017441800017X

Sameroff, A. (2006). Identifying Risk and Protective Factors for Healthy Child Development. In Families count: Effects on child and adolescent development (pp. 53–76). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511616259.004

- Sarche, M. C., Croy, C. D., Crow, C. B., Mitchell, C. M., & Spicer, P. (2009). Maternal correlates of 2-year-old American Indian children's social-emotional development in a Northern Plains tribe. Infant Mental Health Journal, 30, 321–340. https://doi.org/10.1002/imhj.20217
- Shonkoff, J. P., Garner, A. S., Committee on Psychosocial Aspects of Child and Family Health,
 Committee on Early Childhood, Adoption, and Dependent Care, & Section on
 Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics. (2012). The lifelong effects of early childhood
 adversity and toxic stress. *Pediatrics*, *129*, e232-246. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.20112663
- Silburn, S. R., Blair, E., Griffin, J. A., Zubrick, S. R., Lawrence, D. M., Mitrou, F. G., & De Maio, J. A. (2007). Developmental and environmental factors supporting the health and well-being of Aboriginal adolescents. *International Journal of Adolescent Medicine and Health*, 19, 345–354. https://doi.org/10.1515/ijamh.2007.19.3.345
- Smokowski, P. R., Mann, E. A., Reynolds, A. J., & Fraser, M. W. (2004). Childhood risk and protective factors and late adolescent adjustment in inner city minority youth. *Children* and Youth Services Review, 26, 63–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2003.11.003
- Statistics Canada. (2007). Low Income Cut-offs for 2006 and Low Income Measures for 2005 (p. 37). Statistics Canada

Statistics Canada. (2008). *Aboriginal Children's Survey, 2006: Concepts and Methods Guide*. Statistics Canada.

https://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p2SV.pl?Function=getSurvey&SDDS=5108

- Statistics Canada. (2017, October 25). *Census in Brief: The Aboriginal languages of First Nations people, Métis and Inuit*. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/censusrecensement/2016/as-sa/98-200-x/2016022/98-200-x2016022-eng.cfm
- Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. (2015). Honouring the truth, reconciling for the future: Summary of the final report of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada (p. 382). https://publications.gc.ca/site/eng/9.800288/publication.html
- United Nations. (2019). Data and Indicators / United Nations For Indigenous Peoples [United Nations Indigenous Peoples]. https://www.un.org/development/desa/indigenouspeoples/mandated-areas1/data-and-indicators.html
- Ussher, J. M., Charter, R., Parton, C., & Perz, J. (2016). Constructions and experiences of motherhood in the context of an early intervention for Aboriginal mothers and their children: Mother and healthcare worker perspectives. *BMC Public Health*, *16*, 1–12. cin20. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-016-3312-6
- Vizenor, G. R. (1999). *Manifest Manners: Narratives on Postindian Survivance*. U of Nebraska Press.
- Vukic, A. R., Gregory, D. F., Martin-Misener, R., & Etowa, J. B. (2011). Aboriginal and Western Conceptions of Mental Health and Illness.

Walls, M. L., & Whitbeck, L. B. (2012). The intergenerational effects of relocation policies on indigenous families. *Journal of Family Issues*, 33, 1272–1293. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513X12447178

Whitbeck, L. B., Johnson, K. D., Hoyt, D. R., & Walls, M. L. (2006). Prevalence and comorbidity of mental disorders among American Indian children in the Northern Midwest. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *39*, 427–434. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2006.01.004

- Williams, K. E., & Berthelsen, D. (2017). The Development of Prosocial Behaviour in Early Childhood: Contributions of Early Parenting and Self-Regulation. *International Journal* of Early Childhood, 49, 73–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13158-017-0185-5
- Williamson A., D'Este C., Clapham K., Redman S., Manton T., Eades S., Schuster L., & Raphael B. (2016). What are the factors associated with good mental health among Aboriginal children in urban New South Wales, Australia? Phase i findings from the Study of Environment on Aboriginal Resilience and Child Health (SEARCH). *BMJ Open*, *6*, e011182. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011182
- Williamson, A., Gibberd, A., Hanly, M. J., Banks, E., Eades, S., Clapham, K., & Falster, K.
 (2019). Social and emotional developmental vulnerability at age five in Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal children in New South Wales: A population data linkage study. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 18, 120. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-019-1019-x
- Williamson, A., McElduff, P., Dadds, M., D' Este, C., Redman, S., Raphael, B., Daniels, J., &Eades, S. (2014). The Construct Validity of the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire

for Aboriginal Children Living in Urban New South Wales, Australia. *Australian Psychologist*, *49*, 163–170. cin20. https://doi.org/10.1111/ap.12045

- Yoder, K. A., Whitbeck, L. B., Hoyt, D. R., & LaFromboise, T. (2006). Suicidal ideation among American Indian youths. Archives of Suicide Research: Official Journal of the International Academy for Suicide Research, 10, 177–190. https://doi.org/10.1080/13811110600558240
- Young, C., Craig, J. C., Clapham, K., Banks, S., & Williamson, A. (2019). The prevalence and protective factors for resilience in adolescent Aboriginal Australians living in urban areas: A cross-sectional study. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 43, 8–14. https://doi.org/10.1111/1753-6405.12853
- Young C., Hanson C., Craig J.C., Clapham K., & Williamson A. (2017). Psychosocial factors associated with the mental health of indigenous children living in high income countries: A systematic review. International Journal for Equity in Health, 16, 53. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-017-0652-5

Chapter 6: Discussion

Summary

The enduring effects of colonialism have disproportionately exposed Indigenous peoples to risk factors for mental health challenges. Examining the prevalence of such challenges, their associated factors, and intervening early in life can contribute to the reduction of these difficulties and help optimize the health and well-being of Indigenous families. The studies contained in this thesis aimed to examine mental health among Indigenous pregnant persons and birthing parents, mechanisms of transmission, and offspring risk. Study 1 found that Indigenous perinatal individuals from around the world were 62% more likely to experience mental health challenges. Study 2 found that Métis individuals were at a 47% and 36% increased risk for having depression and anxiety during pregnancy, respectively, compared to their non-Métis counterparts and that pre-pregnancy medical conditions, smoking/alcohol use/recreational substance use during pregnancy, and living in an urban location were associated with these difficulties. In Study 3, Indigenous children born to parents with psychopathology were observed to be at a greater risk of mental health challenges than Indigenous children of healthy parents, an association that may be stronger in Indigenous than non-Indigenous families. Finally, in Study 4, we found that learning an Indigenous culture and living in a community with high cohesion was associated with better well-being among preschool-aged First Nations children.

Contributions to the field of Indigenous mental health

Our body of work suggests that Indigenous perinatal individuals, including Métis pregnant persons are at a greater risk for mental health challenges compared to their non-Indigenous peers. Only one other meta-analysis, to my knowledge, found that Indigenous postpartum individuals were at an 87% increased risk of experiencing postpartum depression (k=5 studies) (Black et al., 2019). Our data are consistent with and extend extant literature by synthesizing prevalence estimates for both pregnancy and postpartum, and including mental health challenges than just postpartum depression (e.g., anxiety, post-traumatic stress disorder, substance use, panic disorder). These comprehensive data can inform the development of culturally-safe screening and treatment protocols for Indigenous perinatal individuals.

Moreover, our research contributes to much needed data on an underrepresented group in the Indigenous health literature: Métis. The National Collaborating Centre for Aboriginal Health has highlighted the lack of data on the health of Métis individuals (National Collaborating Centre for Aboriginal Health, 2011) and in part due to their underrepresentation in the literature, they are referred to as the "forgotten people" (Sealey & Lussier, 1975). Indeed, in a scoping review of 223 articles on the mental health of Indigenous peoples in Canada, just seven included data on Métis individuals (Nelson & Wilson, 2017). Data on perinatal Métis individuals are even more limited. Studies have described that Métis pregnant persons and birthing parents experience high exposure to stressors including low self-esteem (Rieger & Heaman, 2016), low social support (Chantal et al., 2018; Rieger & Heaman, 2016), abuse before or during pregnancy (Chantal et al., 2018; Rieger & Heaman, 2016), high residential mobility (Rieger & Heaman, 2016), and discrimination (Monchalin et al., 2020; Rieger & Heaman, 2016), that can increase the risk for prenatal stress (Rieger & Heaman, 2016) and postpartum depressive symptoms (Daoud et al., 2019). Our research adds to these findings by demonstrating that Métis pregnant persons are more likely to have mental disorders during pregnancy, and this risk could be contributed to by the disproportionate exposure to the aforementioned risk factors that existing literature has outlined. Future researchers can use our findings as a foundation to examine other research questions that our study was unable to address (e.g., influence of Métis-specific determinants on

perinatal mental health). Partnering with the Métis Nation of Alberta can also facilitate the utilization of our study findings in meaningful and relevant ways.

Our body of work has also contributed to the field of Indigenous children's health. The Scientific Director of the CIHR Institute of Indigenous Peoples' Health Dr. Margo Greenwood lists "a lack of data for [off-reserve] Indigenous children under 6 years of age" as a knowledge gap on Indigenous early childhood development in Canada (Halseth & Greenwood, 2019). Indeed, in a systematic review of 28 studies on the mental health of Indigenous children and youth (0-18 years old), just four included data on young children (<6 years old) (Owais et al., 2022). These four studies identified the prevalence of mood/anxiety disorders (Findlay & Janz, 2015; First Nations Information Governance Centre, 2018), ADHD (Findlay & Janz, 2015), psychological nervous difficulty (MacMillan et al., 2010), emotional/behavioural problems (MacMillan et al., 2010), and mental health diagnoses (Latimer et al., 2018) among Indigenous children (<6 years old). While these studies have been helpful in establishing benchmarks of mental health challenges from which progress can be measured over time, our study advanced the field by not only describing the association of parent and offspring psychopathology in an Indigenous context, but also identifying factors that may be associated with positive well-being in young First Nations children. Such findings could contribute to efforts to design interventions to promote a healthy start to life. Indeed, this thesis took a strengths-based approach to examine young First Nations children's well-being (Study 4). This approach is important given that the discourse around Indigenous health remains deficits based where only negative health outcomes are described despite gains in some health and educational outcomes over the years (Anderson, 2021; Carrière & Bougie, 2023; Statistics Canada, 2020). In a systematic review of factors associated with Indigenous children's mental health, 41 out of the 47 studies focused on negative health outcomes (Young et al., 2017). This deficits-based discourse is also represented in the

global media where 74% of media stories on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders in Australia reported only on negative health outcomes (Stoneham et al., 2014). Highlighting strengths can motivate individuals to pursue healthy behaviours and result in positive feedback loop where positive beliefs about oneself and their community contribute to long-term positive health outcomes which can then reinforce one's belief system (Cohen & Sherman, 2014).

Another research gap described in the Indigenous children's literature is "a lack of data using culturally relevant health and health determinant indicators" (Halseth & Greenwood, 2019). Indeed, prior to our work, there were no studies, to my knowledge, that examined culturally-relevant factors associated with positive well-being among young (<6 years old) Indigenous children. Among youth and young adults, however, studies have described associations of involvement in cultural activities (Yoder et al., 2006), strong cultural identity & spirituality (Flanagan et al., 2011; Yoder et al., 2006), and knowledge of an Indigenous language (Greenfield et al., 2018; Hallett et al., 2007) with positive well-being. Our study findings extend the literature by not only identifying culturally-relevant factors, but examining their influence in early development. These findings could have the potential to help community members and researchers leverage their cultural knowledge and design targets for intervention to provide the opportunity to intervene earlier in life.

Implications of current thesis

Consider screening Indigenous perinatal individuals for mental health challenges

This body of work has implications for clinical practice. Given the thesis findings that Indigenous perinatal individuals are more likely to have mental health challenges, healthcare providers may consider universal screening for depression and anxiety among Indigenous individuals during pregnancy and in the postpartum. This recommendation is consistent with United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) guidelines (Siu et al., 2016) and the Australian Clinical Practice Guidelines by Centre of Perinatal Excellence (Austin et al., 2017), that suggest that universal screening for perinatal depression is recommended. It is important to note that while the Canadian Task Force on Preventive Healthcare has not recommended universal instrument-based screening for perinatal depression, this conditional recommendation was based on low-quality evidence (Lang et al., 2022). Despite the publishing of these clinical practice guidelines, uptake of them remains low, with 20-35% of pregnant persons not being offered screening (Moss et al., 2020; Reilly et al., 2013), numbers that are higher among ethnic, low-income, and single parent perinatal individuals (Harrison et al., 2023). Indeed, Indigenous perinatal individuals are less than half as likely to be screened for depression than non-Indigenous individuals in Australia (San Martin Porter et al., 2019). Reasons for underscreening can include time constraints, lack of staff, and being poorly equipped to handle a positive screen (Henry et al., 2020). These reasons are exacerbated for Indigenous communities where they may fear consequences of a positive screen, perceive a lack of culturally-congruent interventions, and experience feelings of stigma and personal intrusion. While these drawbacks can hinder the implementation of universal screening among Indigenous perinatal individuals, approaches can be taken to address these drawbacks.

First, the purpose of screening and who will have access to their responses must be clearly explained to the Indigenous perinatal individual. Screening could be undertaken using the EPDS, the free, gold standard scale for screening for perinatal depression, as it has been validated for use among Indigenous perinatal individuals living in Canada (Clarke, 2008) and has been translated in over 60 languages, including Cree and Inuktitut. Interpreters can also be available through hospital services (e.g., LanguageLine). Second, in order for screening to be meaningful, healthcare providers must be equipped to respond to a positive screen meaning that

follow-up is conducted and culturally-relevant treatments are offered. Culturally-relevant psychosocial and home-visiting programs for Indigenous perinatal individuals exist (Barlow A. et al., 2015; Ginsburg et al., 2012; Ingalls et al., 2022; Walkup et al., 2009), as well as Aboriginal Patient Navigator programs, Indigenous-specific mental health phone/text lines (e.g., Hope for Wellness Help Line, Talk4Healing), and Indigenous-specific mental health centres where patients can receive counselling (e.g., Wabano, Qualia Counselling Services, Indigenous Perinatal Mental Health Program). Additionally, there is no evidence to suggest that Indigenous perinatal individuals respond differently to pharmacotherapy than non-Indigenous perinatal individuals, so those suffering from moderate-to-severe depression or anxiety can be offered medication if that is their preferred treatment (MacQueen et al., 2016). Employing some of these approaches to increase uptake of screening protocols, especially among Indigenous perinatal individuals, can be of significant benefit given that perinatal depression screening is associated with increased treatment referrals and treatment engagement (Miller et al., 2021). Identifying and treating more individuals with perinatal mental health challenges could then lead to positive outcomes for the birthing parent, offspring, and family.

Intergenerational, culture-based programs may be impactful in improving child socioemotional and behavioural well-being

Our findings from Study 3 describing the association of psychopathology among parents and offspring are consistent with a framework proposed by Dr. Amy Bombay which outlines the role of adverse childhood experiences on the development of poor coping mechanisms, cognitions, and appraisals, making individuals more vulnerable to mental health challenges (Bombay et al., 2009). These challenges can then negatively influence parenting quality resulting in their offspring experiencing adverse childhood experiences and perpetuating the cycle of

intergenerational trauma (Bombay et al., 2009). However, not included in this framework are potential factors that can break the cycle of intergenerational trauma. Our body of work adds to this framework by identifying factors associated with fewer socioemotional and behavioural difficulties among First Nations children living off-reserve. Indeed, we found that nurturing caregiving style was associated with greater prosocial behaviour and fewer socioemotional and behavioural problems compared to children who did not receive nurturing caregiving. Other research has also shown a similar relationship in Indigenous children and youth (Kaspar, 2013; Tolliver-Lynn et al., 2021; Wurster et al., 2020). Taken together, these findings suggest that intergenerational interventions which include both the caregiver(s) and child may be impactful. Based on our finding that knowledge of an Indigenous culture and strong community cohesion were associated with lower scores on the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire, culture-based programming should be explored. For example, Family and Child Education (FACE) is a familybased literacy program designed for American Indian families with children aged 0-5 years old (Yarnell et al., 2020). The program involves weekly or bi-weekly home and/or centre visits where trained American Indian educators deliver an evidence-based curriculum (Parents as Teachers) to promote parent-child interactions, develop children's school readiness, and promote American Indian cultures and languages (Yarnell et al., 2020). With nearly 23,000 American Indian families served, research has shown that program enrolment has been associated with child literacy and vocabulary skills higher than the national average, greater parental involvement in their children's education than parents from general populations, and 66% of parents reporting that the program has helped them use their American Indian language more (Yarnell et al., 2020). Future studies should assess child socioemotional and behavioural wellbeing and determine how parental involvement and/or knowledge of Indigenous culture influences offspring development.
Future Directions

To continue contributing to the Indigenous health research landscape, we recommend three areas for researchers to focus on: 1) conducting longitudinal studies, 2) prioritizing cultural adaptation of mental health measurements, 3) developing and implementing interventions for Indigenous pregnant persons, birthing parents, and young children (0-5 years old)

Conducting longitudinal studies

To take a life course approach to Indigenous children's health and understand their developmental trajectories, longitudinal studies are needed. Longitudinal studies follow a cohort of participants over a certain time frame and are designed to detect changes in outcomes over time, draw temporal associations between a predictor and outcome, and identify the differential influence of predictors on outcomes over different stages of the life course. The majority of longitudinal research on Indigenous children's health comes from Australia including cohorts such as Footprints in Time: Longitudinal Study of Indigenous Children (Thurber et al., 2015), Study of Environment of Aboriginal Resilience and Child Health (The SEARCH Investigators, 2010), and the South Australian Aboriginal Birth Cohort (Jamieson et al., 2021) to name a few. Longitudinal data on Indigenous children's health in a Canadian context are scarce which is severely hindering the ability to measure patterns in health over time and establish benchmarks (Halseth & Greenwood, 2019). To address these lack of data, CIHR developed the Healthy Life Trajectories Initiative where up to \$14 million has been earmarked to understand a life course perspective in Indigenous peoples (Government of Canada, 2017a).

With the aim of identifying early life influences associated with Indigenous child socioemotional and behavioural well-being, researchers can consider recruiting pregnant Indigenous individuals and following them, their offspring, and their partners until five years.

Indeed, the first five years of life have been identified as periods of rapid brain development (Tottenham, 2020), an age range that is culturally sacred (Neckoway et al., 2007), and also one where data are limited (Halseth & Greenwood, 2019). Recruitment can occur through primary care clinics, local Indigenous midwifery centres, ultrasound clinics, and Aboriginal Head Start centres. Researchers can consider collecting data in the third trimester, 12 weeks postpartum, 6 months postpartum, 12 months postpartum, and annually after that, which are timepoints consistent with other pregnancy/birth cohorts (Jamieson et al., 2021; Kaplan et al., 2012). In line with Indigenous worldviews that interrelationships between family, community members, and land influence health (Vukic et al., 2011), and Shonkoff's ecobiodevelopmental model (Shonkoff et al., 2012), studies should identify individual-, family-, and community- level factors of health. Some examples of variables to measure include: offspring Indigenous identity, socioemotional and behavioural well-being, temperament, and knowledge of Indigenous culture (including speaking/understanding an Indigenous language). Caregiver variables can include: Indigenous identity, mental health during pregnancy, current health, education, marital status, parenting style, social capital, cultural participation and connectedness, adverse childhood experiences, household income and composition, and exposure to IRS, boarding schools, Sixties Scoop, Millennium Scoop, or other relocation policies. Community-level variable can include: living on-reserve or off-reserve, access to cultural resources, and neighborhood satisfaction. There should be a particular focus on how macro-level factors (e.g., discrimination, colonialism, dispossession from lands) influence Indigenous children's health given their paucity in the literature (Lloyd-Johnsen et al., 2021). To facilitate recruitment and minimize attrition, researchers must partner with Indigenous communities and organizations to guide the generation of research questions, selection of variables, and data interpretation. Researchers must also follow local Indigenous research guidelines to build research capacity within the community

(Government of Canada, 2019). Designing and conducting longitudinal studies can allow researchers to better understand the early development pathways of Indigenous children in Canada, risk and resilience mechanisms, and help design targets for intervention.

Cultural adaptation of mental health measurements

The reviews contained in this thesis (Study 1 and 3) and the extant literature (Bombay et al., 2009; Bowen et al., 2014; Smylie & Anderson, 2006; Thomas et al., 2010; Walls et al., 2019; Williamson, Andersen, et al., 2014) have identified that the majority of studies do not use culturally adapted and/or validated measurements for the Indigenous group under study. Therefore, based on this thesis' findings, along with repeated calls from Indigenous organizations and leaders, future studies should culturally adapt and validate measures for the specific community under study. The adaptation and validation of measures must be balanced against a community's immediate need to collect data and address urgent issues (e.g., suicide crises) (Walls et al., 2019). Researchers that aim to adapt existing measures for Indigenous communities should follow measurement development frameworks specific for Indigenous populations (Walls et al., 2019).

To save time, costs, and resources, researchers can first consider identifying existing measures and determining their utility for the Indigenous community under examination. To translate and adapt existing measures, International Test Commission Guidelines for Translating and Adapting Tests should be followed (International Test Commission, 2017). Specifically, researchers should first get permission from the original scale authors to adapt their test (International Test Commission, 2017). Next, focus groups with Indigenous cultural experts and members from the community under study should determine whether the construct being measured is understood the same way among the Indigenous community (Kotz et al., 2016;

Williamson, McElduff, et al., 2014). Once construct equivalence has been established, translators that are experts in both the language and culture can be recruited to ensure accurate translation of the instrument (International Test Commission, 2017). Bilingual respondents can then complete both versions of the test and comment on their equivalence. Finally, representative samples can be recruited to assess its reliability and establish convergent and discriminant validity (International Test Commission, 2017). The utilization of culturally adapted measurements can contribute to more accurate estimates of mental health challenges, identification and assessment of culture-bound syndromes, and prioritization of Indigenous knowledge and research methodologies.

Development and implementation of evidence-based programs for Indigenous pregnant persons, birthing parents, and children (0-5 years old)

This thesis, along with other studies, described an association between Indigenous parent and offspring psychopathology (Bombay et al., 2009; Costello E.J. et al., 1997; Young et al., 2017) and identified individual-, family-, and community-level factors which can positively influence the well-being of young Indigenous (First Nations) children (Ames et al., 2015; Hopkins et al., 2018; Williamson A. et al., 2016; Young et al., 2017). Future research should subsequently focus on program development and implementation to reduce mental health disparities. Studies 1 and 2, along with the literature (Black et al., 2019; Daoud et al., 2019; Rieger & Heaman, 2016), suggest that pregnancy and the early postpartum may present as opportune times to intervene given the prevalence of mental disorders during this period among Indigenous individuals. In line with the recommendations of the United States Preventive Services Task Force to prevent perinatal depression, counselling programs (e.g., cognitive behavioural therapy, interpersonal therapy) should be explored as first-line treatments for

Indigenous perinatal individuals (Curry et al., 2019). Studies have shown that evidence-based psychotherapies are effective for reducing distress (Beckstead et al., 2015; Mathieson et al., 2012; Tighe et al., 2017), depression (Goodkind et al., 2010; Listug-Lunde et al., 2013; Morsette et al., 2009; Tighe et al., 2017), anxiety (Goodkind et al., 2010; Listug-Lunde et al., 2013), trauma (Goodkind et al., 2010; Morsette et al., 2009), and recreational substance use (Donovan et al., 2015; D'Silva et al., 2011; Mushquash et al., 2007; Patten et al., 2013) among Indigenous youth and adults. More research is needed on the development and implementation of psychotherapies for Indigenous perinatal individuals.

Psychoeducational and home visiting programs designed to improve Indigenous pregnant persons' mental health have been found to be effective in increasing parental knowledge (Walkup et al., 2009) and maternal involvement (Walkup et al., 2009), and reducing maternal depression (Ginsburg et al., 2012), other internalizing symptoms (Barlow A. et al., 2015), maternal substance use (Barlow A. et al., 2015), and parenting challenges (Ingalls et al., 2022). Only one Indigenous-focused psychoeducational perinatal program (delivered during pregnancy and postpartum) has assessed child outcomes. This program involved approximately 34 home visits from the third trimester of pregnancy until 36 months postpartum from an American Indian paraprofessional who delivered culturally-congruent information on parenting, positive maternal health behaviours, offspring issues, and substance use (Barlow A. et al., 2015). This study found that offspring internalizing, externalizing, and dysregulation problems decreased at 12 months postpartum (Walkup et al., 2009) and that these gains were maintained at three years postpartum (Barlow A. et al., 2015).

While the aforementioned psychoeducational and home-visiting studies have advanced our knowledge of perinatal interventions in Indigenous parents, more work is needed to design, and implement evidence-based psychotherapies among Indigenous perinatal individuals. First, psychotherapies must be culturally-adapted for the specific community under study. In addition to being more effective (Hall et al., 2016), culturally-adapted interventions can aid in participant recruitment, retention (Fisher et al., 1996), and engagement (Brave Heart et al., 2020; Pomerville et al., 2016). This is an important consideration for Indigenous participants since in general population samples from high-income countries, only 22.4% gain access to psychotherapy treatment (Thornicroft et al., 2017). These numbers are likely lower for Indigenous communities who face significant barriers to treatment including lack of access to healthcare resources, culturally-inconsistent care, and discrimination in mainstream healthcare. Once programs are in the implementation stage, researchers can refer to the Canadian Psychological Association's guidelines for providing culturally-appropriate psychotherapy to Indigenous peoples (Task Force on Responding to the Truth and & Reconciliation Commission of Canada's Report, 2018). Second, programs should consider long-term follow-up. There are a paucity of longitudinal data on young Indigenous children, as well as the influence that early childhood programming can have on their development. For instance, if the program is delivered during pregnancy and/or the early postpartum, follow-up can occur to 5 years postpartum to assess the intervention's impact on offspring socioemotional and behavioural well-being. Given the duration between program delivery and follow-up, it may be difficult to determine whether outcomes at 5 years postpartum are a result of the treatment or simply due to the postnatal environment. Researchers can better tease out intervention effects by measuring variables in the postnatal environment (e.g., caregiver skills, primary caregiver mental health, family socioeconomic status, major life stressors) that can influence offspring health (Maggi et al., 2010). Ultimately, evidence-based culturallyadapted programs with long-term follow-up can provide insight into the improvement of mental health among Indigenous perinatal individuals and their offspring's early development pathways.

Limitations

The limitation of studies contained in this thesis must be discussed. First, all studies had an observational research design so causal associations cannot be drawn. Second, all studies were either reviews (Studies 1 and 3), secondary analyses (Study 4), or had data taken from administrative health databases (Study 2), so we had limited control over which variables to analyze. Third, we were unable to examine Indigenous-specific determinants of perinatal mental health for Studies 1 and 2, and of psychopathology among Indigenous families in Study 3. Fourth, all participants from Studies 1 and 4 were of Indigenous peoples living off-reserve so the perinatal mental health and preschool-aged children's health of those living on-reserve remains unknown. However, more Indigenous peoples live off-reserve/reservation than on-reserve in Canada (Government of Canada, 2017b) and the USA (Norris et al., 2012), and individuals living off-reserve are underrepresented in the Indigenous health literature (Nelson & Wilson, 2017). Finally, while Studies 1 and 3 were up-to-date reviews of the literature, Study 2 and 4 used data from 2006-2016 and 2006, respectively. Therefore, these studies may contain data that may not reflect contemporary lives of Indigenous peoples.

Conclusion

Indigenous peoples experience many structural disadvantages that can increase their risk for mental health challenges. The work presented in this thesis highlights the higher prevalence of mental disorders among Indigenous perinatal individuals and dyads and lends insight into potential targets for early intervention. Continued efforts to conduct longitudinal studies, culturally adapt mental health measurements, and design and implement culturally-relevant interventions for perinatal individuals and young children, can support the optimization of mental health of Indigenous perinatal individuals, their offspring, and families. To sustain gains

in health outcomes the basic human rights of Indigenous peoples must be met including access to clean running water, housing and food security, access to recreational centres, and decolonizing healthcare, education, child welfare, and justice systems. Eliminating health inequities among Indigenous and non-Indigenous peoples, especially early in life, can help contribute to healthier societies worldwide.

References

- Ames, M. E., Rawana, J. S., Gentile, P., & Morgan, A. S. (2015). The protective role of optimism and self-esteem on depressive symptom pathways among Canadian Aboriginal youth. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 44(1), 142–154. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-013-0016-4
- Anderson, T. (2021, December 1). *Chapter 4: Indigenous Youth in Canada*. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/42-28-0001/2021001/article/00004-eng.htm
- Austin, M., Highet, N., & Expert Working Group. (2017). Mental Health Care in the Perinatal Period: Australian Clinical Practice Guideline. https://www.cope.org.au/healthprofessionals/health-professionals-3/review-of-new-perinatal-mental-health-guidelines/
- Barlow A., Mullany B., Neault N., Goklish N., Billy T., Hastings R., Lorenzo S., Kee C., Lake K., Redmond C., Carter A., & Walkup J.T. (2015). Paraprofessional-delivered home-visiting intervention for American Indian teen mothers and children: 3-year outcomes from a randomized controlled trial. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *172*(2), 154–162. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2014.14030332
- Beckstead, D. J., Lambert, M. J., DuBose, A. P., & Linehan, M. (2015). Dialectical behavior therapy with American Indian/Alaska Native adolescents diagnosed with substance use disorders: Combining an evidence based treatment with cultural, traditional, and spiritual beliefs. *Addictive Behaviors*, *51*, 84–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2015.07.018
- Black, K. A., MacDonald, I., Chambers, T., & Ospina, M. B. (2019). Postpartum Mental Health
 Disorders in Indigenous Women: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada: JOGC = Journal d'obstetrique et Gynecologie Du Canada: JOGC*, 41(10), 1470–1478. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jogc.2019.02.009

- Bombay, A., Matheson, K., & Anisman, H. (2009). Intergenerational Trauma: Convergence of Multiple Processes among First Nations peoples in Canada. *International Journal of Indigenous Health*, 5(3), Article 3.
- Bowen, A., Duncan, V., Peacock, S., Bowen, R., Schwartz, L., Campbell, D., & Muhajarine, N. (2014). Mood and anxiety problems in perinatal Indigenous women in Australia, New Zealand, Canada, and the United States: A critical review of the literature. *Transcultural Psychiatry*, *51*(1), 93–111. https://doi.org/10.1177/1363461513501712
- Brave Heart, M. Y. H., Myers, O., Skipper, B., Schmitt, C., Chase, J., Elkins, J., Mootz, J., & Ann Waldorf, V. (2020). Iwankapiya American Indian Pilot Clinical Trial: Historical Trauma and Group Interpersonal Psychotherapy. *Psychotherapy (Chicago, Ill.)*, *57*(2), 184–196. https://doi.org/10.1037/pst0000267
- Carrière, G., & Bougie, E. (2023). Changes to acute-care hospitalizations among Indigenous children and youth: Results from the 2006 and 2011 Canadian Census Health and Environment Cohorts. *Health Reports*, 34(82).
- Chantal, N., Karen M., L., Victoria, O., & Elizabeth K., D. (2018). Original quantitative research
 Mental health indicators among pregnant Aboriginal women in Canada: Results from
 the Maternity Experiences Survey. *Health Promotion and Chronic Disease Prevention in Canada : Research, Policy and Practice, 38*(7–8), 269–276.
- Clarke, P. J. (2008). Validation of two postpartum depression screening scales with a sample of First Nations and Metis women. *The Canadian Journal of Nursing Research = Revue Canadienne de Recherche En Sciences Infirmieres*, 40(1), 113–125.
- Cohen, G. L., & Sherman, D. K. (2014). The Psychology of Change: Self-Affirmation and Social Psychological Intervention. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 65(1), 333–371. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010213-115137

- Costello E.J., Farmer E.M.Z., Angold A., Burns B.J., & Erkanli A. (1997). Psychiatric disorders among American Indian and white youth in Appalachia: The great smoky mountains study. *American Journal of Public Health*, 87(5), 827–832.
- Curry, S. J., Krist, A. H., Owens, D. K., Barry, M. J., Caughey, A. B., Davidson, KarinaW.,
 Doubeni, C. A., Epling, J. W., Jr., Grossman, D. C., Kemper, A. R., Kubik, M.,
 Landefeld, C. S., Mangione, C. M., Silverstein, M., Simon, M. A., Tseng, C.-W., Wong,
 J. B., & Force, U. P. S. T. (2019). Interventions to Prevent Perinatal Depression US
 Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation Statement. *Journal Of The American Medical Association*, *321*(6), 580–587. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2019.0007
- Daoud, N., O'Brien, K., O'Campo, P., Harney, S., Harney, E., Bebee, K., Bourgeois, C., & Smylie, J. (2019). Postpartum depression prevalence and risk factors among Indigenous, non-Indigenous and immigrant women in Canada. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*. https://doi.org/10.17269/s41997-019-00182-8
- Donovan, D. M., Thomas, L. R., Sigo, R. L. W., Price, L., Lonczak, H., Lawrence, N.,
 Ahvakana, K., Austin, L., Lawrence, A., Price, J., Purser, A., & Bagley, L. (2015).
 Healing of the canoe: Preliminary results of a culturally tailored intervention to prevent substance abuse and promote tribal identity for Native youth in two Pacific Northwest tribes. *American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health Research (Online)*, 22(1), 42–76. https://doi.org/10.5820/aian.2201.2015.42
- D'Silva, J., Schillo, B. A., Sandman, N. R., Leonard, T. L., & Boyle, R. G. (2011). Evaluation of a tailored approach for tobacco dependence treatment for American Indians. *American Journal of Health Promotion: AJHP*, 25(5 Suppl), S66-69. https://doi.org/10.4278/ajhp.100611-QUAN-180

Findlay, L., & Janz, T. (2015, July 17). Health of First Nations children living off reserve and Métis children younger than age 6. Statistics Canada.

https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/82-003-x/2012001/article/11624-eng.htm

First Nations Information Governance Centre. (2018). National Report of The First Nations Regional Health Survey. Phase 3: Volume 2 (No. 2; p. 168). https://fnigc.ca/sites/default/files/docs/fnigc_rhs_phase_3_volume_two_en_final_website _0.pdf

- Fisher, D. G., Lankford, B. A., & Galea, R. P. (1996). Therapeutic community retention among Alaska Natives: Akeela House. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 13, 265–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0740-5472(96)00060-8
- Flanagan, T., Iarocci, G., D'Arrisso, A., Mandour, T., Tootoosis, C., Robinson, S., & Burack, J.
 A. (2011). Reduced ratings of physical and relational aggression for youths with a strong cultural identity: Evidence from the Naskapi people. *The Journal of Adolescent Health: Official Publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine*, 49(2), 155–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2010.11.245
- Ginsburg, G. S., Barlow, A., Goklish, N., Hastings, R., Baker, E. V., Mullany, B., Tein, J.-Y., & Walkup, J. (2012). Postpartum depression prevention for reservation-based American Indians: Results from a pilot randomized controlled trial. *Child & Youth Care Forum*, *41*(Health&Mental Health Treatment&Prevention [3300]), 229–245. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10566-011-9161-7
- Goodkind, J. R., Lanoue, M. D., & Milford, J. (2010). Adaptation and implementation of cognitive behavioral intervention for trauma in schools with American Indian youth.
 Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology: The Official Journal for the

Society of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology, American Psychological Association, Division 53, 39(6), 858–872. https://doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2010.517166

- Government of Canada. (2017a, October 30). *Indigenous Healthy Life Trajectories Initiative (I-HeLTI)—CIHR*. https://cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/50635.html
- Government of Canada, S. C. (2017b, October 25). *The Daily Aboriginal peoples in Canada: Key results from the 2016 Census*. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/dailyquotidien/171025/dq171025a-eng.htm
- Government of Canada. (2019, April 1). Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans – TCPS 2 (2018) – Chapter 9: Research Involving the First Nations, Inuit and Métis Peoples of Canada. https://ethics.gc.ca/eng/tcps2eptc2 2018 chapter9-chapitre9.html
- Greenfield, B. L., Venner, K. L., Tonigan, J. S., Honeyestewa, M., Hubbell, H., & Bluehorse, D. (2018). Low rates of alcohol and tobacco use, strong cultural ties for Native American college students in the southwest. *Addictive Behaviors*, 82, 122–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2018.02.032
- Hall, G. C. N., Ibaraki, A. Y., Huang, E. R., Marti, C. N., & Stice, E. (2016). A Meta-Analysis of Cultural Adaptations of Psychological Interventions. *Behavior Therapy*, 47(6), 993–1014. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2016.09.005
- Hallett, D., Chandler, M. J., & Lalonde, C. E. (2007). Aboriginal language knowledge and youth suicide. *Cognitive Development*, 22(3), 392–399. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cogdev.2007.02.001
- Halseth, R., & Greenwood, M. (2019). *Indigenous early childhood development in Canada:Current state of knowledge and future directions* (p. 68). National Collaborating Centre

for Aboriginal Health. https://www.nccih.ca/docs/health/RPT-ECD-PHAC-Greenwood-Halseth-EN.pdf

- Harrison, S., Pilkington, V., Li, Y., Quigley, M. A., & Alderdice, F. (2023). Disparities in who is asked about their perinatal mental health: An analysis of cross-sectional data from consecutive national maternity surveys. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 23, 263. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-023-05518-4
- Henry, T. L., Schmidt, S., Lund, M. B., Haynes, T., Ford, D., Egwuogu, H., Schmitz, S.,
 McGregor, B., Toomer, L., & Bussey-Jones, J. (2020). Improving Depression Screening in Underserved Populations in a Large Urban Academic Primary Care Center: A Provider-Centered Analysis and Approach. *American Journal of Medical Quality: The Official Journal of the American College of Medical Quality*, 35(4), 315–322. https://doi.org/10.1177/1062860619884639
- Hopkins, K. D., Taylor, C. L., & Zubrick, S. R. (2018). Psychosocial resilience and vulnerability in Western Australian Aboriginal youth. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 78(Complete), 85–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2017.11.014
- Ingalls, A., Rebman, P., Martin, L., Kushman, E., Leonard, A., Cisler, A., Gschwind, I., Brayak, A., Amsler, A. M., & Haroz, E. E. (2022). Towards precision home visiting: Results at six months postpartum from a randomized pilot implementation trial to assess the feasibility of a precision approach to Family Spirit. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 22(1), 725. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-022-05057-4
- International Test Commission. (2017). *The ITC Guidelines for Translating and Adapting Tests* (Second edition). https://www.intestcom.org/page/14
- Jamieson, L. M., Hedges, J., Ju, X., Kapellas, K., Leane, C., Haag, D. G., Santiago, P. R., Macedo, D. M., Roberts, R. M., & Smithers, L. G. (2021). Cohort profile: South

Australian Aboriginal Birth Cohort (SAABC)—a prospective longitudinal birth cohort. *BMJ Open*, 11(2), e043559. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-043559

- Kaplan, B. J., Giesbrecht, G. F., Leung, B. M. Y., Field, C. J., Dewey, D., Bell, R. C., Manca, D. P., O'Beirne, M., Johnston, D. W., Pop, V. J., Singhal, N., Gagnon, L., Bernier, F. P., Eliasziw, M., McCargar, L. J., Kooistra, L., Farmer, A., Cantell, M., Goonewardene, L., ... Martin, J. W. (2012). The Alberta Pregnancy Outcomes and Nutrition (APrON) cohort study: Rationale and methods. *Maternal & Child Nutrition*, *10*(1), 44–60. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1740-8709.2012.00433.x
- Kaspar, V. (2013). Mental health of Aboriginal children and adolescents in violent school environments: Protective mediators of violence and psychological/nervous disorders. *Social Science & Medicine*, *81*, 70–78. cin20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.12.011
- Kotz, J., Munns, A., Marriott, R., & Marley, J. V. (2016). Perinatal depression and screening among Aboriginal Australians in the Kimberley. *Contemporary Nurse*, 52(1), 42–58. https://doi.org/10.1080/10376178.2016.1198710
- Lang, E., Colquhoun, H., LeBlanc, J. C., Riva, J. J., Moore, A., Traversy, G., Wilson, B., & Grad, R. (2022). Recommendation on instrument-based screening for depression during pregnancy and the postpartum period. *CMAJ*, 194(28), E981–E989. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.220290
- Latimer, M., Rudderham, S., Lethbridge, L., MacLeod, E., Harman, K., Sylliboy, J. R., Filiaggi, C., & Finley, G. A. (2018). Occurrence of and referral to specialists for pain-related diagnoses in First Nations and non–First Nations children and youth. *CMAJ*, *190*(49), E1434–E1440. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.180198

Listug-Lunde, L., Vogeltanz-Holm, N., & Collins, J. (2013). A cognitive-behavioral treatment for depression in rural American Indian middle school students. *American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health Research (Online)*, 20(1), 16–34. https://doi.org/10.5820/aian.2001.2013.16

Lloyd-Johnsen, C., Eades, S., McNamara, B., D'Aprano, A., & Goldfeld, S. (2021). A global perspective of Indigenous child health research: A systematic review of longitudinal studies. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 50(5), 1554–1568. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyab074

MacMillan, H. L., Jamieson, E., Walsh, C., Boyle, M., Crawford, A., & MacMillan, A. (2010).
The health of Canada's Aboriginal children: Results from the First Nations and Inuit
Regional Health Survey. *International Journal of Circumpolar Health*, 69(2), 158–167.
https://doi.org/10.3402/ijch.v69i2.17439

MacQueen, G. M., Frey, B. N., Ismail, Z., Jaworska, N., Steiner, M., Lieshout, R. J. V., Kennedy, S. H., Lam, R. W., Milev, R. V., Parikh, S. V., & Ravindran, A. V. (2016). Canadian Network for Mood and Anxiety Treatments (CANMAT) 2016 Clinical Guidelines for the Management of Adults with Major Depressive Disorder Section 6. Special Populations: Youth, Women, and the Elderly. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *61*(9), 588–603. https://doi.org/10.1177/0706743716659276

- Maggi, S., Irwin, L. J., Siddiqi, A., & Hertzman, C. (2010). The social determinants of early child development: An overview. *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health*, 46(11), 627–635. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1754.2010.01817.x
- Mathieson, F., Mihaere, K., Collings, S., Dowell, A., & Stanley, J. (2012). Maori cultural adaptation of a brief mental health intervention in primary care. *Journal of Primary Health Care*, *4*(3), 231–238.

- Miller, E. S., Grobman, W. A., Ciolino, J. D., Zumpf, K., Sakowicz, A., Gollan, J., & Wisner, K.
 L. (2021). Increased Depression Screening and Treatment Recommendations After
 Implementation of a Perinatal Collaborative Care Program. *Psychiatric Services*, 72(11), 1268–1275. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.202000563
- Monchalin, R., Smylie, J., & Nowgesic, E. (2020). "I Guess I Shouldn't Come Back Here": Racism and Discrimination as a Barrier to Accessing Health and Social Services for Urban Métis Women in Toronto, Canada. *Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities*, 7(2), 251–261. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-019-00653-1
- Morsette, A., Swaney, G., Stolle, D., Schuldberg, D., van den Pol, R., & Young, M. (2009).
 Cognitive Behavioral Intervention for Trauma in Schools (CBITS): School-based
 treatment on a rural American Indian reservation. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 40(1), 169–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbtep.2008.07.006
- Moss, K. M., Reilly, N., Dobson, A. J., Loxton, D., Tooth, L., & Mishra, G. D. (2020). How rates of perinatal mental health screening in Australia have changed over time and which women are missing out. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, 44(4), 301–306. https://doi.org/10.1111/1753-6405.12999
- Mushquash, C. J., Comeau, N., & Stewart, S. H. (2007). An Alcohol Abuse Early Intervention Approach with Mi'kmaq Adolescents. *First Peoples Child & Family Review*, *3*(2), Article 2.
- National Collaborating Centre for Aboriginal Health. (2011). *Paucity of Métis-specific health and well-being data and information: Underlying factors*. National Collaborating Centre for Aboriginal Health.
- Neckoway, R., Brownlee, K., & Castellan, B. (2007). Is Attachment Theory Consistent with Aboriginal Parenting Realities? *First Peoples Child & Family Review*, *3*(2), 65–74.

- Nelson, S. E., & Wilson, K. (2017). The mental health of Indigenous peoples in Canada: A critical review of research. *Social Science & Medicine*, *176*(Complete), 93–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.01.021
- Norris, T., Vines, P. L., & Hoeffel, E. M. (2012). *The American Indian and Alaska Native Population: 2010* (p. 21). United States Census Bureau.

Owais, S., Tsai, Z., Hill, T., Ospina, M. B., Wright, A. L., & Van Lieshout, R. J. (2022).
Systematic Review and Meta-analysis: First Nations, Inuit, and Métis Youth Mental Health. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, S0890-8567(22)00189-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2022.03.029

- Patten, C. A., Fadahunsi, O., Hanza, M., Smith, C. M., Hughes, C. A., Brockman, T. A., Boyer, R., Decker, P. A., Luger, E., Sinicrope, P. S., & Offord, K. P. (2013). Development of a tobacco cessation intervention for Alaska Native youth. *Addiction Research & Theory*, 21(4), 273–284. https://doi.org/10.3109/16066359.2012.714428
- Pomerville, A., Burrage, R. L., & Gone, J. P. (2016). Empirical findings from psychotherapy research with indigenous populations: A systematic review. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 84, 1023–1038. https://doi.org/10.1037/ccp0000150
- Reilly, N., Harris, S., Loxton, D., Chojenta, C., Forder, P., Milgrom, J., & Austin, M.-P. (2013).
 Disparities in reported psychosocial assessment across public and private maternity settings: A national survey of women in Australia. *BMC Public Health*, *13*(1), 632. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-13-632
- Rieger, K. L., & Heaman, M. I. (2016). Factors Associated With High Levels of Perceived Prenatal Stress Among Inner-City Women. *Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, and Neonatal Nursing : JOGNN*, 45(2), 180–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jogn.2015.12.005

- San Martin Porter, M. A., Kisely, S., & Alati, R. (2019). Screening for perinatal depression and predictors of underscreening: Findings of the Born in Queensland study. *Medical Journal* of Australia, 211(4), 190-190.e1. https://doi.org/10.5694/mja2.50253
- Sealey, D. B., & Lussier, A. S. (1975). *The Metis: Canada's Forgotten People*. Manitoba Metis Federation Press, Winnipeg, Manitoba.
- Shonkoff, J. P., Garner, A. S., Committee on Psychosocial Aspects of Child and Family Health, Committee on Early Childhood, Adoption, and Dependent Care, & Section on Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics. (2012). The lifelong effects of early childhood adversity and toxic stress. *Pediatrics*, *129*(1), e232-246. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2011-2663
- Siu, A. L., Bibbins-Domingo, K., Grossman, D. C., Baumann, L. C., Davidson, K. W., Ebell, M., García, F. A. R., Gillman, M., Herzstein, J., Kemper, A. R., Krist, A. H., Kurth, A. E., Owens, D. K., Phillips, W. R., Phipps, M. G., & Pignone, M. P. (2016). Screening for Depression in Adults: US Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation Statement. *JAMA*, *315*(4), 380–387. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2015.18392
- Smylie, J., & Anderson, M. (2006). Understanding the health of Indigenous peoples in Canada: Key methodological and conceptual challenges. *CMAJ*: Canadian Medical Association Journal, 175(6), 602. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.060940
- Statistics Canada. (2020, December 9). Table 41-10-0042-01 Smoking status by Aboriginal identity, age group and sex.

https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=4110004201

Stoneham, M. J., Goodman, J., & Daube, M. (2014). The Portrayal of Indigenous Health in Selected Australian Media. *The International Indigenous Policy Journal*, 5(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.18584/iipj.2014.5.1.5

- Task Force on Responding to the Truth and & Reconciliation Commission of Canada's Report.
 (2018). Psychology's Response to the Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada's Report: A report of the Canadian Psychological Association and the Psychology Foundation of Canada (p. 36). Canadian Psychological Association.
 https://cpa.ca/docs/File/Task_Forces/TRC%20Task%20Force%20Report_FINAL.pdf
- The SEARCH Investigators. (2010). The Study of Environment on Aboriginal Resilience and Child Health (SEARCH): Study protocol. *BMC Public Health*, *10*(1), 287. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-10-287
- Thomas, A., Cairney, S., Gunthorpe, W., Paradies, Y., & Sayers, S. (2010). Strong Souls: Development and Validation of a Culturally Appropriate Tool for Assessment of Social and Emotional Well-Being in Indigenous Youth. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 44(1), 40–48. https://doi.org/10.3109/00048670903393589
- Thornicroft, G., Chatterji, S., Evans-Lacko, S., Gruber, M., Sampson, N., Aguilar-Gaxiola, S.,
 Al-Hamzawi, A., Alonso, J., Andrade, L., Borges, G., Bruffaerts, R., Bunting, B., de
 Almeida, J. M. C., Florescu, S., de Girolamo, G., Gureje, O., Haro, J. M., He, Y., Hinkov,
 H., ... Kessler, R. C. (2017). Undertreatment of people with major depressive disorder in
 21 countries. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *210*(2), 119–124.
 https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.116.188078
- Thurber, K. A., Banks, E., Banwell, C., & LSIC Team. (2015). Cohort Profile: Footprints in Time, the Australian Longitudinal Study of Indigenous Children. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 44(3), 789–800. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyu122
- Tighe, J., Shand, F., Ridani, R., Mackinnon, A., Mata, N. D. L., & Christensen, H. (2017).Ibobbly mobile health intervention for suicide prevention in Australian Indigenous youth:

A pilot randomised controlled trial. *BMJ Open*, 7(1), e013518. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-013518

- Tolliver-Lynn, M. N., Marris, A. M., Sullivan, M. A., & Armans, M. (2021). The role of the parent–child relationship in fostering resilience in American Indian/Alaskan Native children. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 49(2), 419–431. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcop.22468
- Tottenham, N. (2020). Early Adversity and the Neotenous Human Brain. *Biological Psychiatry*, 87(4), 350–358. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2019.06.018
- Vukic, A. R., Gregory, D. F., Martin-Misener, R., & Etowa, J. B. (2011). Aboriginal and Western Conceptions of Mental Health and Illness.
- Walkup, J. T., Barlow, A., Mullany, B. C., Pan, W., Goklish, N., Hasting, R., Cowboy, B.,
 Fields, P., Baker, E. V., Speakman, K., Ginsburg, G., & Reid, R. (2009). Randomized controlled trial of a paraprofessional-delivered in-home intervention for young reservation-based American Indian mothers. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 48(6), 591–601.

https://doi.org/10.1097/CHI.0b013e3181a0ab86

- Walls, M. L., Whitesell, N. R., Barlow, A., & Sarche, M. (2019). Research with American Indian and Alaska Native populations: Measurement matters. *Journal of Ethnicity in Substance Abuse*, 18(1), 129–149. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332640.2017.1310640
- Williamson, A., Andersen, M., Redman, S., Dadds, M., D'Este, C., Daniels, J., Eades, S., & Raphael, B. (2014). Measuring mental health in Indigenous young people: A review of the literature from 1998–2008. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *19*(2), 260–272. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359104513488373

- Williamson A., D'Este C., Clapham K., Redman S., Manton T., Eades S., Schuster L., & Raphael B. (2016). What are the factors associated with good mental health among Aboriginal children in urban New South Wales, Australia? Phase i findings from the Study of Environment on Aboriginal Resilience and Child Health (SEARCH). *BMJ Open*, *6*(7), e011182. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011182
- Williamson, A., McElduff, P., Dadds, M., D' Este, C., Redman, S., Raphael, B., Daniels, J., & Eades, S. (2014). The Construct Validity of the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire for Aboriginal Children Living in Urban New South Wales, Australia. *Australian Psychologist*, 49(3), 163–170. cin20. https://doi.org/10.1111/ap.12045
- Wurster, H. E., Sarche, M., Trucksess, C., Morse, B., & Biringen, Z. (2020). Parents' adverse childhood experiences and parent–child emotional availability in an American Indian community: Relations with young children's social–emotional development. *Development and Psychopathology*, *32*(2), 425–436. https://doi.org/10.1017/S095457941900018X
- Yarnell, V., Lambson, T., & Pfannenstiel, J. (2020). BIE Family and Child Education (FACE) Program: 2019 Report. U. S. Department of the Interior Bureau of Indian Affairs. https://www.bie.edu/sites/default/files/inlinefiles/FACE%20Eval%20Exec%20Summary%202019%20%282%29_0.pdf
- Yoder, K. A., Whitbeck, L. B., Hoyt, D. R., & LaFromboise, T. (2006). Suicidal ideation among American Indian youths. Archives of Suicide Research: Official Journal of the International Academy for Suicide Research, 10(2), 177–190. https://doi.org/10.1080/13811110600558240
- Young, C., Hanson, C., Craig, J. C., Clapham, K., & Williamson, A. (2017). Psychosocial factors associated with the mental health of indigenous children living in high income countries:

A systematic review. International Journal for Equity in Health, 16(1), 153.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-017-0652-5

Appendix

Declaration of Academic Achievement

Two journal articles (Studies 1 and 3) have been published in peer-reviewed journals and were reused in this dissertation. The publisher of these journal articles is SAGE Publications and the journal articles contain the following citation information:

- **Owais S**, Faltyn M, Johnson AVD, Gabel C, Downey B, Kates N, et al. The Perinatal Mental Health of Indigenous Women: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Can J Psychiatry*. 2020 Mar 1;65(3):149–63. doi: 10.1177/0706743719877029.
- Owais S, Faltyn M, Zou H, Hill T, Kates N, Burack JA, et al. Psychopathology in the Offspring of Indigenous Parents with Mental Health Challenges: A Systematic Review: Psychopathologie Des Descendants De Parents Autochtones Ayant Des Problèmes De Santé Mentale: Une Revue Systématique. *Can J Psychiatry Rev Can Psychiatr*. 2021 Jun;66(6):517-536. doi: 10.1177/0706743720966447

As per SAGE Publications' Author Archiving and Re-Use Guidelines, formal permission was not required to re-use the above journal articles for use in our dissertation, including where the dissertation will be posted in any electronic Institutional Repository or database. This policy is available to view at: https://us.sagepub.com/en-us/nam/journal-author-archiving-policies-and-re-use

Screenshots of the Guidelines are also available below:

Figure 1. Screenshot of SAGE Publications' Author Archiving and Re-Use Guidelines

You may use the Final Published PDF (or Original Submission or Accepted Manuscript, if preferred) in the following ways:

- in relation to your own teaching, provided that any electronic distribution maintains restricted access
- to share on an individual basis with research colleagues, provided that such sharing is not for commercial purposes
- in your dissertation or thesis, including where the dissertation or thesis will be posted in any electronic Institutional Repository or database
- in a book authored or edited by you, at any time after the Contribution's publication in the journal.

Provided that:

- Access to the Original Submission and Accepted Manuscript is provided at no charge.
- Any re-use terms for users of websites and repositories (where your **Original Submission** or **Accepted Manuscript** are posted) are restricted to non-commercial and no derivative uses.
- You may not post the Final Published PDF on any unrestricted website or repository without permission from Sage.
- · You may not republish or translate any version of your Contribution in another journal without prior permission from Sage.
- The journal as the original publication of your Contribution is appropriately credited by including the full citation information each time your Contribution, or excerpts, are further distributed or re-used:
 - After your Contribution has been accepted for publication and until it is assigned a DOI, please include a statement that your Contribution has been accepted for publication in the journal.
 - Once full citation information for your Contribution is available, please include this with your posted Contribution, in a format similar to the following:

Author(s), Contribution Title, Journal Title (Journal Volume Number and Issue Number) pp. xx-xx. Copyright © [year] (Copyright Holder). DOI: [DOI number].

Please see the screenshots below which provide evidence that the re-use of the aforementioned journal articles is in line with SAGE Publications' Author Archiving and Re-Use Guidelines.

Figure 2. Screenshot of when attempting to request permission to re-use "The Perinatal Mental Health of Indigenous Women: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis" in the dissertation



Figure 3. Screenshot indicating that "The Perinatal Mental Health of Indigenous Women: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis" is provided at no charge (one of the criteria for re-using the Contribution without requesting permission from SAGE)



Figure 4. Screenshot of when attempting to request permission to re-use "Psychopathology in the Offspring of Indigenous Parents with Mental Health Challenges: A Systematic Review" in the dissertation

SAGE Publishing	Psychopathology in the Offspring of Indigenous Parents with Mental Health Challenges: A Systematic Review: Psychopathologie des descendants de parents autochtones ayant des problèmes de santé mentale: Une revue systématique Author: Sawayra Owais, Mateusz Faltyn, Hanyan Zou, Troy Hill, et al. Publication: The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry Publisher: SAGE Publications Date: 2021-06-01
Crotic Pouco	Copyright © 2021, © SAGE Publications
If you are a SAGE journal author requesting content without requiring permission from t us/nam/journal-author-archiving-policies-ar	permission to reuse material from your journal article, please note you may be able to reuse your SAGE. Please review SAGE's author re-use and archiving policies at https://us.sagepub.com/en- id-re-use for more information.

Figure 3. Screenshot indicating that "Psychopathology in the Offspring of Indigenous Parents with Mental Health Challenges: A Systematic Review" is provided at no charge (one of the criteria for re-using the Contribution without requesting permission from SAGE)

> Can J Psychiatry. 2021 Jun;66(6):517-536. doi: 10.1177/0706743720966447. Epub 2020 Oct 16.

Psychopathology in the Offspring of Indigenous Parents with Mental Health Challenges: A Systematic Review: Psychopathologie des descendants de parents autochtones ayant des problèmes de santé mentale: Une revue systématique

Sawayra Owais ¹, Mateusz Faltyn ², Hanyan Zou ³, Troy Hill ⁴, Nick Kates ⁵, Jacob A Burack ⁶, Ryan J Van Lieshout ¹ ⁵ Affiliations + expand PMID: 33064564 PMCID: PMC8138737 DOI: 10.1177/0706743720966447

Free PMC article



SHARE

Chapter 2: The Perinatal Mental Health of Indigenous Women: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis (Study 1)

Author, Year	Representativeness of exposed cohort (selecti bias)	Selection of non- exposed cohort (selection bias)	Ascertainment of exposure (selection bias)	Demonstration that outcome was not present at start of study (selection bias)	Comparability of cohorts (comparability bias)	Ascertainment of outcome (outcome bias)	Adequate follow-up (outcome bias)	Adequacy of follow-up of cohorts (outcome bias)	Total score
Signal et al., 2017 ²⁹	*	*	Standardized questionnaires	*	* *	Self-report	*	*	7/9
Buist et al., 2014 ³⁵	*	*	Standardized questionnaires	*	* *	Self-report	*	> 70% attrition	6/9
Gavin et al., 2011 ³²	*	*	Standardized questionnaires	No	* *	Self-report	*	*	6/9
Liu et al., 2018 ⁴⁷	*	*	Standardized questionnaires	No	* *	Self-report	*	*	6/9
Liu et al., 2016 ⁴⁴	*	*	Standardized questionnaires	No	* *	Self-report	*	*	6/9
Abbott & Williams, 2006 ³⁶	*	Non-Pacific Islanders were not represented	Standardized questionnaires	No	* *	Self-report	*	*	5/9
Becares & Atatoa, 2016 ³⁷	*	*	Standardized questionnaires	*	* *	Self-report	Measured beyond the highest risk for PPD	> 30% attrition	5/9
D. Hayes et al., 2010 ⁴⁵	Not representative	*	Standardized questionnaires	No	* *	Self-report	Unspecified	*	4/9
Roberson et al., 2015 ⁴⁶	Not representative	Not representative	Standardized questionnaires	*	* (controlled for other factors but not age)	Self-report	*	*	4/9

Table S1. Ri	sk of Bias for	Cohort Studies a	as assessed by	The Newcastle	Ottawa scale.

Stock et al., 2012 ³⁴	Not representative	Not representative	Standardized questionnaires	*	* (controlled for other factors but not age)	Self-report	*	*	4/9
Wei et al., 2008 ⁴⁸	Not representative	Not representative	Standardized questionnaires	No	* *	Self-report	*	*	4/9
Bowen et al., 2008 ^{39,52}	*	Not mentioned	Standardized questionnaires	No	No	Self-report	*	*	3/9
B. Hayes et al., 2010 ³³	Not representative	Not representative	Standardized questionnaires	No	* *	Self-report	Unspecified	*	3/9
Huang et al., 2007 ⁴²	*	*	Standardized questionnaires	No	No	Self-report	No	*	3/9
Morland et al., 2007 ⁵³	Not representative (clinic sample)	Not reprehensive (clinic sample)	Standardized questionnaires	*	* (controlled for other factors but not age)	Self-report	Beyond risk period for Antenatal PTSD	*	3/9
Shah et al., 2011 ⁴⁰	*	Not representative	Standardized questionnaires	No	No	Self-report	*	*	3/9
Wang et al., 2003 ⁴⁹	No	No	Standardized questionnaires	No	* (controlled for other factors but not age)	Self-report	*	*	3/9
Goebert et al., 2007 ³⁰	Not representative	Not representative	Standardized questionnaires	No	No	Self-report	*	*	2/9
Sugarman et al., 1994 ⁴³	Not representative of all urban American Indian women	*	Standardized questionnaires	No	No	Self-report	No	*	2/9
Webster et al., 1994 ³⁸	Not representative (deliberately excluded Pacific Islanders)	*	Standardized questionnaires	No	No	Self-report	No	*	2/9

Mah et al., 2017 ⁵⁴	*	No comparison group	Standardized questionnaires	No	No	Self-report	Beyond risk period for Antenatal PTSD	Significant attrition (>80%)	1/9
Onoye et al., 2009 ³¹	Not representative (clinic sample)	Not representative (clinic sample)	Standardized questionnaires	No	No	Self-report	*	Significant attrition (>50%)	1/9

There are 8 criteria of the NOS which are represented in each column. A maximum of one star can be allocated to each criterion, with the

exception of comparability bias, where two stars can be allocated. The greater the number of stars, the higher the quality of the study

Table S1 (Continued). Risk of bias for Case-Control studies as assessed by The Newcastle Ottawa scale.

Author,	Adequate	Representativeness	Selection of	Definition of	Comparability of	Ascertainment of	Non-	Total
Year	definition	(selection bias)	controls	controls	cases and controls	exposure (exposure	response rate	score
	(selection		(selection	(selection	(comparability	bias)	(exposure	
	bias)		bias)	bias)	bias)		bias)	
Burns et al.,	*	*	Hospital	*	**	*	*	7/8
2006 50			controls					
Burns et al.,	*	*	Hospital	*	**	*	*	7/8
2006 51			controls					
Dodgson et	Self-report	*	Hospital	*	* *	Self-report	*	5/8
al., 2014 41			controls					

There are 8 criteria of the NOS which are represented in each column. A maximum of one star can be allocated to all categories, with the exception of comparability

bias, where two stars can be allocated. The greater the number of stars, the higher the quality of the study

Chapter 3: Prevalence and Determinants of Depression, Anxiety, and Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder Among Métis Pregnant Persons in Alberta: A Population-Based Cohort Study (Study 2)

Figure S1. Adjusted risk ratios for demographic (A) and clinical (B) factors comparing depression and non-depression cases among the Métis cohort.



Multivariable model including maternal age, parity, multifetal pregnancy, weight \geq 91 kg, prepregnancy depression or anxiety, pre-pregnancy diabetes, pre-pregnancy hypertension, other prepregnancy medical conditions, gestational medical conditions, adequacy of prenatal care, smoking/alcohol use/recreational substance use during pregnancy, urban environment, and material and social deprivation. **Figure S2.** Adjusted risk ratios for demographic (A) and clinical (B) factors comparing anxiety and non-anxiety cases among the Métis group.



Multivariable model including maternal age, parity, multifetal pregnancy, weight \geq 91 kg, prepregnancy depression or anxiety, pre-pregnancy diabetes, pre-pregnancy hypertension, other prepregnancy medical conditions, gestational medical conditions, adequacy of prenatal care, smoking/alcohol use/recreational substance use during pregnancy, urban environment, and material and social deprivation.